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PLACE OF INCORPORATION

Cayman Islands

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr Chan Weng Lin (Co-chairman & chief executive officer)
(resigned on 31 January 2022)

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Co-chairman)

(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Chief executive officer)
(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Mr Tsang Ka Hung (Chief financial officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David (Co-chairman)
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
Mr Li Chun Tak (appointed on 1 March 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

Mr Xie Min (resigned on 1 June 2021)

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (resigned on 3 February 2022)
Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
(appointed on 1 June 2021)

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (appointed on 1 March 2022)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman)

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
(appointed on 1 June 2021)

Mr Xie Min (resigned on 1 June 2021)

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (resigned on 3 February 2022)
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (appointed on 1 March 2022)



ZNNETIN < g S ¢

)

= =3

H

HMEZRE

T AL R Se A (F )

(= — 4N H— HH#EZAT)
AR 5 A (2 )

(= EZ—4FNH—HEHT)

Ji 85 5 A

Bk 3% % &+

BB EA

WAL (RS FE T T AE T = HEHE)
BRI (S T E = H— HEFEAT)

REZRE

R L ()

(R =F = 24— H = HET)
BRI (T )

(B =F 2 ZHF=H—H#EZF)
FALRSE4E

(= F Z—FNH—HEZEAF)

JE] 1% 8 5t 2E

W R MESEE

BIB AL A

WU e 2k (g = F T AE AN H — H L)

R AR

W R ML
ZERE I

AR
W RSB E

G YA

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Wang Hungxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin) (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 June 2021)

Mr Xie Min (Chairman)

(resigned on 1 June 2021)

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (resigned on 3 February 2022)
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (appointed on 1 March 2022)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (Chairman)
(resigned on 3 February 2022)

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman)

(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
(appointed on 1 June 2021)

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David

Mr Tsang Ka Hung

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

Mr Xie Min (resigned on 1 June 2021)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Tsang Ka Hung
Mr Li Chu Kwan

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Tsang Ka Hung

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN MACAU

Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen
Macau

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Shop 102, 1/F, Shun Tak Centre
168—200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISERS

Kwok Yih & Chan, Solicitors

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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F AR AT PRINCIPAL BANKERS

o R SR AT R B BR 2 A Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
K VG PEERAT A A BR A A Banco Nacional Ultramarino, S.A.

P 2 P SR AT I 4 A R A ) Luso International Banking Limited

WESRITARAR — FH 1T The Bank of East Asia, Limited — Hong Kong Branch

22 SRAT I A IR R — R AT Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. — Hong Kong Branch
Evi & e LISTING INFORMATION

T b Place of Listing

T W & 38 5 B A R R FE AR Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
JBe 3 AR 5% Stock Code

1680 1680

R 5 YL Board Lot

1,000/ B iy 1,000 Shares

B& # B & INVESTOR RELATIONS

T HE ¢ (853) 2822 2211 Tel: (853) 2822 2211

fH F : (853) 2822 2266 Fax: (853) 2822 2266

7 4 : ir@macaulegend.com Email: ir@macaulegend.com

ME WEBSITE

www.macaulegend.com www.macaulegend.com
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Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 5 October
2006. The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
is one of the leading owners of entertainment and casino gaming
facilities in Macau. The Group currently has Macau Fisherman’s
Whart operated by MFW Investment (“MFW”), which is a waterfront
integrated gaming, hotel, convention and entertainment complex
located on the Macau Peninsula which follows the “Leisure, Tourism,
Economic and Multi-Cultural Diversification” policy of the government
of the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China.

The Group’s businesses include (i) the provision of gaming services
to SIM in the Legend Palace Casino, Babylon Casino and Landmark
Casino under the Service Agreement; (ii) the operation of casino inside
Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex in the Lao
People’s Democratic Republic (“Lao PDR”) and (iii) the operation of
hotels, entertainment and leisure facilities within its properties.
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Despite the fact that 2021 has continually been a difficult year for Macau
and the world, Macau and the Group continues to record a steady recovery
thanks to the effective and prompt handling of the COVID-19 situation
by the Macau and Chinese government, visitation to Macao was recorded
about 7.7 million visits, an approximately 31% increase compared to the
year 2020. According to figures released by the Macau Gaming Inspection
and Coordination Bureau, total gross gaming revenue in 2021 was about
HK$84 billion, an increase of approximately 44% compared to last
year. The Group’s total reported revenue for the year was approximately
HK$1,135.6 million, an increase of approximately 62.1% compared to the
year of 2020. Adjusted EBITDA for the year was a loss of approximately
HK$300.3 million, as compared to loss of approximately HK$429.3 million
last year.

To be a socially responsible business in Macau, the Group actively support
the Macau Government’s epidemic preventive work and ours staff overall
COVID-19 vaccination rate has reached 95%. We have implemented a wide
range of cost control measures and maintained a stable workforce.

As of the date of this report, with global vaccination numbers on the rise,
and travel restrictions gradually relaxed in various countries, the Group
expects the number of tourists visiting Macau to gradually resume in
coming years. Looking forward to the coming year, Macau Fisherman’s
Wharf will continue to optimize the facilities in the area under the
new concepts and promotions introduced by the management, including
reinvigorating the Legend Boulevard into a leisure avenue locating world-
wide dining and comprehensive entertainment facilities, and actively
cooperate with the Macau government to build a “world tourism and leisure
center”. The goal is to optimise leisure experiences of the public and
improve the quality of Macau’s tourism industry. In addition, the hotel and
casino in the Savan Legend Resort in Savannakhet will gradually resume
operations when the Laos—Thailand border reopens.

Finally, together with the Board of Directors, we would like to express our
sincere gratitude to all employees of the Group for their unremitting efforts
and commitment in the past year, and we are proud of the contributions
made by every employee. The Group would also like to thank all the
business partners and shareholders of the Group for their support in the
past year.

Li Chu Kwan
Co-chairman and executive Director

Chow Kam Fai, David
Co-chairman and non-executive Director

28 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OVERVIEW OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group achieved a total
reported revenue of approximately HK$1,135.6 million, representing an
increase of approximately HK$434.9 million or approximately 62.1%
over that of the last corresponding year of approximately HK$700.7
million.

A.

Gaming Services

The Group’s revenue from gaming services consisted of (i) service

income received from SJM for services and facilities provided
relating to mass market tables, VIP tables and slot machines and
(ii) casino operations in the Lao PDR.

M) AR 4 Legend Palace Casino
R REMHO R
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables" Slot Machine
BEFZAZST—HILEE BEFAE—HILEE BEF-AZF—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
“ROE CECRE %8 “%-F —Z°%F BH "R ZZIERE 28
2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change
T T % T T % T T %
HK$’000 HK$'000 % HK$000 HK$'000 % HK$000 HK$'000 %
TS/ TREEAE  Games drop/Slot handle 2,481,775 1,499,374 655 AWANA  AEANA - REANA 104,062 106,983 (X))
WREEE Turnover FHRANA  FEANA - FEANA - 3049124 2241390 360 AEANA O REANA - FEANA
HRE Net win 354,748 275,022 29.0 122,167 77,632 574 6,258 6,545 (44
WE Hold rate 14.29% 18.34% @1 4.01% 346% 0.6 6.01% 6.12% 0.1)
ek /i THTHUR Average number of tables/slot machines 61 55 109 16 2 (23.9) 3 76 (513)
GRMH/GHAFHREHE  Net win per table/slot machine per day
i FRE 16 14 143 n 10 1200 0.47 02 1350
SHls Reported revenue 202,060 157,043 287 68,616 40,840 68.0 2,503 2,568 (2.5)
BEFRBERNYEE/ No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
AFHREE operation as of year end 59 54 93 16 17 (59) 35 5 (327)
2 I fiy 95 42 55 Babylon Casino
PSR REW KO fiF i
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables” Slot Machines
BEFZAZT—HILEE BEFZAZT—HILEE BEFZAZT—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
“Eo-E CZOLE 28 —%--f “I°%F 28 —%°-% “I°%F 29
2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change
Tt T % Tl T % T T %
HK$’000 HK$°000 % HK$000 HK$'000 % HK$’000 HK$°000 %
THE/AFRETESE  Games drop/Slot handle 1,020,894 595459 T4 AEANA O REANA  AEANA 10,628 13,572 17)
WEEEE Turnover AEANA  REFANA - RHEANA 2089227 1896060 101 ABRANA  FEANA - REANA
i E Net win 123,015 90,730 356 91,45 69,078 0.l 857 1,065 (19.5)
WE Hold rate 12.05% 15.24% (32 4.37% 3.64% 0.7 8.06% 7.85% 02
i/ AT RTHHAE Average number of tables/slot machines 4 2% - 9 9 - 20 31 (35.5)
GRMH/GHATFHREE  Net win per table/slot machine per day
ke TE 4 10 400 21 2 286 0.18 0.1 80.0
2HE Reported revenue 67,658 49919 355 49,976 37802 302 343 43 (169)
HEFABEEPNMSR /M No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
THEH operation as of year end 25 24 42 9 10 (10) = 20 (100.0)

10 YRR A A FRAR]

202144
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

i Landmark Casino
e 35 B AR HEWHRO
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables®
BET-A=Z+T—HILEE BET-AZT —HIEEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
SESE CECRR BE —E-E FORE 81
2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change
Tt T % Ti#&x T T %
HK$’000 HK$°000 % HK$°000 HKS$’000 %
T AT TS Games drop/Slot handle 3,824,633 1,290,712 196.3 | DBANA  ANEFINA A FINA
R Turnover AERANA  AREANA  AEANA - 2,012,910 2,286,000 (11.9)
T3 i AR Net win 924,448 354,911 160.5 49,583 46,635 6.3
R Hold rate 24.28% 27.50% (3.2) 2.46% 2.04% 0.4
(RS ¢ Average number of tables 70 69 1.4 7 9 (22.2)
i B A6 B H Y I AR Net win per table per day 36 14 157.1 19 14 357
B4Rl ti Reported revenue 510,646 195,202 161.6 992 933 6.3
2 AF R DY B No. of gaming tables in operation
#HH as of year end 75 69 8.7 3 9 66.7)
Savan Legend #% 4 5} @ Savan Legend Casino®
5 R REMH 7 i
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables Slot Machines
BREFZAZ+ R BEFHE+—RIkAE BEFZAST—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
RO CECRE BE "F-F “ZCFE 2E "3 CFOZE %)
2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change
T it T % Tl T % T it T %
HK$’000 HKS$000 % HK$’000 HK$°000 % HK$’000 HK$'000 %
THE/AFEEELE  Games drop/Slot handle 39,760 63,798 (77) AWANA  AEANA  RERNA 184,475 474074 (6L1)
MEEER Turnover AWANA  FEANA - REANA - 45,275 (1000)  AWANA  AEANA - REANA
FRE Net win 8,361 16,443 49) - 25,781 (100.0) 6,259 17,891 (65.0)
RE Hold rate 21.03% 2571% @7 - 346% 35 3.39% 377% 04
Bt/ f T T Average number of tables/slot machines 7 8 (12.5) - 5 (100.0) 176 213 (174)
G Mk /G A FHEHE  Net win per tablefslot machine per day
i WA 6 6 - - 14 (100.0) 04 02 1000
2 Reported revenue 8,799 15,148 19 - 9,485 (100.0) 547 17492 (67.1)
WEREREEPRHIEH /B No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
THEH operation as of year end 7 4 75 - 4 (100.0) 1m 185 (16)
SESE ECEHE
2021 2020
T T T
HK$°000 HK$’000
TR IR 5 2 R A A A Total reported revenue for gaming services
w35l AR Mass Market Tables 789,163 417,312
HE MO VIP Tables” 119,584 89,060
AT B Slot Machines 8,593 20,473
917,340 526,845

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 11



12

wfoam &t ()

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Notes:

(1) The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect
participation in the gaming promotion business in Macau through
New Legend under the VIE Structure.

(2) The amounts include the operating statistics of the Thakhek slot
club which was opened 6 months (2020: 6 months) in 2021. Casino
in Savan Legend temporarily closed for 6.2 months in 2021 in
correspondence to COVID-19 pandemic, hence, 5.8 months (2020:
3.5 months) performance is only presented for the year ended 31
December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, gaming revenue of the Group
increased by approximately HK$390.5 million or approximately
74.1% when compared to the last corresponding year. The increase
in gaming revenue was primarily due to more visitors from
mainland China under the better control of COVID-19 pandemic
and more local consumption in Macau which caused (i) increment
in the reported revenue contributed from Legend Palace Casino of
approximately HK$72.7 million, (ii) increment in reported revenue
contributed by Babylon Casino of approximately HK$29.8 million,
(iii) increment in reported revenue contributed by Landmark Casino
of approximately HK$315.5 million but (iv) decrement in reported
revenue contributed by Savan Legend Casino of approximately
HK$27.6 million.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 194 gaming
tables in Macau (31 December 2020: 194), of which 187 (31
December 2020: 185) (including electronic table games) were
put into operation. The Group had 7 (31 December 2020: 8)
gaming tables which were put into operation in the Lao PDR.

Non-gaming Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a
total non-gaming revenue of approximately HKS$218.2 million,
increased by approximately HK$44.3 million or approximately
25.5% above that of the last corresponding year of
approximately HK$173.9 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

T R AR A A T I R i A G Y The following table provides details on the composition of the
W AE R Group’s non-gaming revenue:
ZERIH S 08
2021 2020
A% CR AEH R
1,46 Savan Savan £ 4 Savan Savan
Legend) Legend Ha Legend) Legend HA
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend Consolidated

T Tl T T Ti#T Tk
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$000

T 5 % s A Income from hotel rooms 44,884 292 45,176 31,116 824 31,940
BEWMERTREMIA  Licensing income from investment

properties 46,814 - 46,814 51,829 175 52,004
B EE R A Income from building management

services 18,663 = 18,663 21,265 - 21,265
B Food and beverage 96,250 111 96,361 56,529 744 57273
3 B Sales of merchandise 1,295 - 1,295 1,303 17 1,320
Hots Others 9,930 6 9,936 10,001 78 10,079
RS 0 A Total revenue from non-gaming

operations 217,836 409 218,245 172,043 1,838 173,881
FEAHE R i 2 80 U R R B A The increase in non-gaming revenue was primarily due to increase
e B N RGBS A in revenue from hotel operation and food and beverage as a result
A7 AT I R R IR i 25 B e of increase in number of visitors from the mainland China and

enhanced consumption by local Macau people.

TRBINAEFABE _F _—F K The following table sets out certain key operational data on
R ZEFT AT —HIEFEA R our major hotel operations of the Group for the year ended 31
T N A T R December 2021 and 2020:
S e —
2021 2020
i B s R i R JEh ) EE i S s
Legend Palace Harbourview  Legend Palace Harbourview
Hotel Hotel Hotel Hotel
AAE 2 (%) Occupancy rate (%) 67.5 65.2 40.2 30.1
H ¥ 55 4 (G oT) ADR (HKS$) 769 300 1,266 659
A [H AT FL S U AR REVPAR (HK$)
(#7C) 519 196 509 198

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 13
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

#8 il # EBITDA

HE - F -4+ H=+—H1
4 BF Bk 75 45 9 % EBITDA 5 16 8 &
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#1429,300,000% 7T 3k 2> 129,000,000 #5
JCE#130.0% ° 3% 2 R B EBITDA B
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Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2021 recorded
a loss of approximately HK$300.3 million, representing an
improvement of approximately HK$129.0 million or approximately
30.0% over that of the last corresponding year with a loss of
approximately HK$429.3 million. The following table reconciles the
Adjusted EBITDA to the loss attributable to owners of the Company:
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2021 2020
A5 ALkH
(A4 %% Savan Savan (2.4 Savan Savan
Legend)  Legend B Legend)  Legend A
The Group The Group
excluding Savan excluding Savan
Savan Legend  Legend Consolidated Savan Legend ~ Legend Consolidated
T#x Ti#x T TiEx T#x Tk
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$°000
AL A AN A s R Loss attributable to owners of the Company (1,043,142)  (147,302)  (1,190,444) (1,635,193)  (319.954)  (1,955,147)
ST Adjustments for:
T A Finance costs 63,880 1,522 65,402 126,578 2,004 128,582
i C/ESIN Depreciation of investment properties 11,262 = 11,262 11,262 - 11,262
VEYE 4 N Depreciation of property and equipment 359,590 17,014 376,604 354,153 27,557 381,710
ARG Depreciation of right-of-use assets 50,623 5,975 56,598 50,857 6,423 57,280
pRE AN ] Amortisation of other intangible assets 27,7110 1,083 28,793 26,333 1,819 28,152
) 3 A Loss/(gain) on disposal of property and

B8/ () equipment 9,473 101 9,372 125 (69) 56
G RE B S R Impairment losses on financial assets, net 7,467 8,970 16,437 20,131 2,142 22,273
oAl Y A L s 1R Impairment losses on other intangible assets = = = - 33,907 33,907
W3 T Ak W s 4 Impairment losses on property and equipment 241,000 - 241,000 69,662 129,544 199,206
ff FRE 4 7 UM i 1R Impairment losses on right-of-use assets - - - 1,794 7,738 9,532
T % 4 B8 1H i 48 Impairment losses on deposits paid = = = 554,490 - 554,490
REBIME L (i), /B58  Unrealized exchange (gain)/loss (50) 16,565 16,515 4 4,316) 4,273)
Ul VNS Share of results of an associate 28,460 = 28,460 25,640 - 25,640
i 2 1l PR 3¢ Pre-opening expenses - - - 10,202 - 10,202
FEWA Interest income (16,030) (504) (16,534) (23,031) (147) (23,178)
TR = v S B (1 Reversal of write down of inventories to

ba {C| net realisable value (1,436) - (1,436) - - -
BN R ER B R A LR Fair value gain/(loss) on change in fair value

Bz aMmEEL of financial assets at FVTPL
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(i 18) 3,667 = 3,667 (629) - (629)
A Compensation income 97) - 97) (16) - (16)
BB (%) /B Income tax (credit)/expenses (5,450) 78,320 72,870 (6,118) 97,763 91,645
48 B EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA (282,019)  (18,256) (300,275) @13,717)  (15,589) (429,3006)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

An analysis of the Adjusted EBITDA by segments (after
elimination of inter-segment results) is as follows:
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Savan Legend Savan Legend Consolidated Savan Legend Savan Legend Consolidated

T T T TiT TiT Tk
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000 HKS$'000

% MR Gaming services (47,595) 7,444 (40,151) (144.924) 25,231 (119,693)
iR E Non-gaming operations (195,305) (25,700) (221,005) (203,528) (40,820) (244,348)
N Sub-total (242,900) (18,256) (261,156) (348,452) (15,589) (364,041)
R A ZER O Unallocated corporate expenses! (39,119) = (39,119) (65,265) - (65,265)
48 3 ¥ EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA (282,019) (18,256) (300,275) (413,717 (15,589) (429,306)
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o The amounts represented the unallocated corporate expenses,

offsetting with its inter-segment elimination.

Adjusted EBITDA from operations of the Group excluding Savan
Legend and unallocated corporate expenses, mainly arising from
the operations at MFW Group, for the year ended 31 December
2021 improved by approximately 31.8% to a loss of approximately
HK$282.0 million when compared to the last corresponding year.
Adjusted EBITDA of Savan Legend decreased by approximately
1.7% to a loss of approximately HK$18.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 when compared to the last corresponding year.

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
approximately HK$1,190.4 million, when compared to the loss of
approximately HK$1,955.1 million in the last corresponding year.
Results of both years are significantly affected was mainly due to
1) the social distancing measures and travel restrictions imposed
by government authorities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
which have severely declined the tally of visitor arrivals to Macau
and Laos in 2021; and 2) the impairment losses recognised for the
overseas projects located in Cape Verde due to the adverse changes
in economic situation under COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has
been closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on its
operations. The Group has undertaken various mitigating measures
to manage the current environment, including active measures to
control its operating costs and expenses.
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Dividend

The Board does not declare any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

C. Special Committee and limited review

With reference to the Group’s announcement dated 30 January 2022
and 31 March 2022, the Special Committee appointed a reputable
international accounting firm as an independent consultant on 5
March 2022 to conduct a specific and limited review. The Group’s
auditor also performed extended audit procedures (including but
not limited to discussion with selected individuals, determination of
Mr Chan Weng Lin’s involvement in the Group’s decision-making
process and analysis of financial information and transaction testing
on areas deemed necessary) for the audit for the year ended 31
December 2021. With reference to the Group’s announcement dated
on 20 May 2022, the independent consultant did not note any
irregularity. The Group’s auditor accepted the limited review report
to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to allow it to form
its audit opinion.

OUTLOOK

With the recent winding down of the Macau gaming intermediary operators
and their related businesses, there has been a significant shift from the
VIP segment to the mass market segment, a strategic positioning that Hong
Hock has long been focused on.

The existing concession contract entered into between the Macau
Government and SJM (pursuant to which Landmark Casino, Babylon
Casino and Legend Palace Casino are permitted to operate) expired on 26
June 2022, has been extended to 31 December 2022 in accordance with the
applicable laws of Macau. In view of this, on 16 June 2022, Hong Hock
entered into (i) the Agreement for Provision of Services and Licensing
for Occupation of Use of Spaces with respect to Babylon Casino; and
Legend Palace Casino; and (ii) the Agreement for Provision of Services
and Licensing for Occupation of Use of Spaces with respect to Landmark
Casino, with SJM.
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If circumstances permit, the Company will explore various options to
continue the provision of management or any other forms of services related
to the gaming operation at Babylon Casino and Legend Palace Casino after
31 December 2022 to the extent permitted by relevant laws and regulation
of Macau and will maintain close contact with SIM in this regard.

The Macau Government has recently proposed a bill to amend the existing
gaming law in January 2022 (the “Draft Bill”), which, if adopted and
promulgated, will have a significant impact on the operation of satellite
casinos. As a casino service provider, the operations of Hong Hock will be
affected by the enactment of the Draft Bill. Further details of the Draft Bill
and the relevant provisions are to be confirmed in order to assess the impact
of the Draft Bill on Hong Hock’s operations. Nevertheless, over the past
few decades, Macau’s satellite casinos (including ours) have undoubtedly
made a significant contribution to the development of Macau’s economy
and the creation of employment opportunities. As a provider of casino
management services focused on mass market customers and satellite
casinos, Hong Hock has a strong reputation and is well established in the
gaming industry, proving that its casinos outperform some of the other
satellite casinos. Hong Hock is committed to continuing to provide effective
casino management services and will continue to focus on developing and
identifying partnership opportunities, as well as contributing to the gaming
industry in Macau within the constraints of the new law.

Given the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the epidemic has hit Macau
economy hard since 2020. Thankfully, continuing strong support has been
seen from local customer base and increasing growth of Mainland China
visitors. MFW’s gaming business performed better than the overall market.
The Group’s reported gaming revenue in Macau increased approximately
74.1% compared to last year, while the overall gross gaming revenue in
Macau increased approximately 43.7% according to figures published by
The Gaming Inspection and Coordination Bureau.

Despite the adverse influence under COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has

been improving the existing operations in 2021. In Macau, the Group has
focused on upgrading dining and entertainment offerings at MFW.
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Thakhek Club in Thakhek, Lao PDR (with 130 electronic gaming
machines) and hotel and casino at Savan Legend Resorts, Savannakhet will
resume gradually when the Thai/Laos border is reopened.

Looking ahead to second half of 2022, with increasing popularity
of vaccines and gradual relaxation of travel restrictions by different
governments in recent months, the Group expects that the number of
visitors coming to Macau will be increasing steadily in second half of
this year. The Group shall remain optimistic and well-equipped to seize
opportunities for recovery when the tourism industry rebounds.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity needs primarily comprise working capital, capital
expenditure, and servicing borrowings of the Group. The Group has
generally funded its operations and development projects from internal
resources, debt and/or equity financing.

As at 31 December 2021, the consolidated net assets attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$4,314.9 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HKS$1,206.3 million from
approximately HK$5,521.2 million as at 31 December 2020. The decrease
in consolidated net assets during the year ended 31 December 2021 was
mainly due to the Group’s loss for the year of approximately HK$1,190.4
million.

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances held by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$134.3 million (including pledged bank
deposits of approximately HK$1.7 million), which was denominated mainly
in HK$ and MOP. Given MOP are linked to HKS$, the Group considers the
exposure to exchange rate risk is nominal for its cash and bank balances
denominated in MOP.
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Borrowings

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had outstanding (i) secured and
guaranteed bank borrowings of approximately HK$2,358.7 million, and
(ii) unsecured, unguaranteed and interest bearing other borrowings of
approximately HK$50 million.

Charge on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2021, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure credit facilities and use of electricity granted to the Group, including
investment properties with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$295.1 million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$306.3 million),
buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$4,010.1
million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$4,148.7 million), right-
of-use assets with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$1,152.5
million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$1,194.8 million), trade
receivables of approximately HK$148.8 million (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$99.5 million), bank deposits of approximately HK$1.7
million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$1.7 million) and rental
deposits paid of approximately HK$2.1 million (31 December 2020:
HK$2.1 million).

Gearing

The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of total
borrowings (e.g. bank and other borrowings) minus cash (e.g. pledged bank
deposits and cash and bank balances) over total equity. As at 31 December
2021, the Group’s net gearing ratio was 52.7% (31 December 2020: 33.4%).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of approximately 3,603
(2020: 3,898) employees, including approximately 1,122 (2020: 1,193)
gaming operation employees who were employed and paid by SJIM but
over whom the Group exercised oversight in accordance with the Service
Agreement. The Group reimbursed SIM in full for the salaries and other
benefits of these gaming operation employees.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining a stable staff
force for its continued success. Staff remuneration is determined
by reference to personal qualifications, work performance, industry
experience, responsibilities and relevant market trends. Discretionary
bonuses are granted to employees based on merit and in accordance
with industry practice. Other benefits including share options, reward
shares, retirement benefits, subsidised medical care, pension funds
and sponsorship for external education and training programmes are
offered to eligible employees.






wHOHE Kk W HRE HE

Directors and Senior Management

#HH
PATESR

ZEfEWEE 40 B F _FHFTH
TIHREHITEEU L R = =
A—HREEE RGBT LM o 5k miR
KB SRS REMEE LR AR
W RGBS o N T EFLAREE F —F
BB AT R P RS AT B o R R b
B P A AL e RS > AR R —
EECFE-CEHHEESE T E PR AR
YA h v e M T & B e (R P ARR) 2 Bl
B HF - /UFEREEE T EPEAR
B e e ek ) B % B QR ERR) 2 6l
B RREANFE FE-FREPMAAET
WERE =AM g =T — A REESD
HEMEERGZRGgR B F - HER
WHEEMAITTFEPREREGZEA B
F-NFRIETEMBEZEGZEE U
FBAZFE—ARFRIEERMEFHEERER
mEzagR -

HRPE A5 I MO B R B SR X VR 2 S0 A
S 5t A A BB S AR B B v ZH T B B 2 M i
BORA R 2 E R RAIH TSR ETAT
BN B 28 7] 22 A B A Bl S A7 F) HEE 2 2%
WA — M-

Bt Lt 57 B-F _FFEZH -+
AHREAES R -F _FFE=H 1
ANAZEZEZZFETZ AT TILEM A S
FO A -HRBEARANFRATE AL
WA FHMEER G E - AL LRI
KEER, A BE =T ENYEEm L
MR SRR > B F — LT AR M
TS B A B AR bR 2 B ) i ATl TR
B BCSR T B o

B9 A L WG TP AR AT B S I~ S
JiEor ik g O R B PR R AT B N A
EZEGZE - BUE WM SR A7 B R iR 5 5%
EZBGZE DU R AT B 5 =
B R EATRREEREAELE - K
FRL LB ERABE W ZR > EHRE T
XA g (RBME RIgR - B W T
i LA Rz 4 1 M W AL 2%

22 PR A EATRAT 202144

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan, aged 46, has been an executive Director since 29
December 2020 and a co-chairman of the Board since 1 March 2022. He
has studied finance at University of South Australia and has extensive
experience in the commercial and gaming industry in Macau. He was
the chief executive officer of the Macau Jockey Club from 2007 to 2021.
He has also actively participated in public and community services in
Macau, including the roles of being a member of the 12th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative of Guangzhou Province — Macau district from 2012
to 2017; a member of the 12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative of
Sichuan Province — Macau district since 2018; a director of Tung Wah
Group of Hospital in Hong Kong from 2006 to 2010; the vice-president
of Associacao Geral de Ciclismo de Macau, China (H 2 1 ['] B B 41 @)
since 2012; a committee member of the central committee of the Macau
Red Cross since 2014; a committee member of Conselho do Desporto (1
M #8 & Z B ) since 2018; and the president of the Macau Association
of Young Employees in the Gaming Industry since 2016.

The discloseable interest of Mr Li Chu Kwan in the Shares and underlying
Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report
of this annual report.

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, aged 57, has been a Director since 26 March
2020, and chief executive officer of the Company between 26 March 2020
and 29 December 2020 and since 1 March 2022. She is also a member of
the Remuneration Committee. Ms Melinda Chan is a graduate of Peking
University and has over 30 years of extensive experience in the business
and management of casinos. Since her appointment as president of MFW
Investment in October 2017, she has been actively involved in shaping
MFW Investment’s policy and daily operations.

Ms Melinda Chan was a directly-elected member of the fourth and
fifth Legislative Assembly of Macau and a committee member on the
Establishing Talents Development Committee of Macau, and is currently
a committee member on the Tourism Development Committee of Macau.
She has served as a committee member on the third, fourth and fifth Chief
Executive Election Committee. Ms Melinda Chan is currently a committee
member of the Guangdong Political Consultative Committee, the vice
president of the Guangdong Federation of Industry and Commerce, the
vice chairman of the Guangdong Federation of Women and the executive
committee of the All-China Women’s Federation.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Ms Melinda Chan is the managing director of Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao
Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. (050 %E ¥ 4 21 55 & B 85 A FR
), and has been responsible for the overall planning, construction and
completion of the Legendale Hotel Beijing Project since 2004. She is also
currently the managing director of Zhuhai Hengqgin New Area Lai Ileng
Commercial Management Co. Ltd. (¥ 17 B 35 5 & J8h s 22 5 LA IR
AT, as well as a supervisor of the board of directors and a shareholder
of CITIC Geyi Biorefineries Co. Ltd.

Ms Melinda Chan is the wife of Mr David Chow, a non-executive Director
and a co-chairman of the Board. The discloseable interest of Ms Melinda
Chan in the Shares and underlying Shares under the provisions of Part
XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company” under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Mr Tsang Ka Hung, aged 37, has been a Director, chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Company since 24 November 2020,
and a member of the Nomination Committee since 29 December 2020.
Mr Tsang Ka Hung has extensive experience in setting group strategic
direction, formulation of business plan, evaluation, allocation of group
resources, financial reporting, internal control, compliance, corporate
governance, credit assessment, mergers and acquisitions, capital market,
equity investment and accounting. Mr Tsang Ka Hung graduated from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in engineering
with first honour and holds a master degree of philosophy in engineering
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is also a Certified Public
Accountant. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Tsang Ka Hung worked at the
audit department of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 2008 to 2012 with his
last held position as senior associate. Mr Tsang Ka Hung was the Director
of Investment from 2013 to 2016, and was promoted to be the Executive
Director in 2016, which primarily invested in property and resorts in China
and South-east Asia, capital market-equity investment, corporate financing
and investment in the entertainment industry.

The discloseable interest of Mr Tsang Ka Hung in the Shares and
underlying Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out
in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” under the
Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David, aged 71, has been a Director since October
2006 and the chief executive officer of the Company since December
2006 until March 2020. Mr David Chow became a co-chairman of the
Board and an executive Director on 31 May 2012, and re-designated from
executive Director to nonexecutive Director since 24 November 2020. He is
also a member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He was appointed as an alternate Director to Madam Lam
(former director) between December 2018 and March 2020. He has had
more than 30 years of experience in the gaming, gaming promotion,
entertainment and hospitality industries prior to founding the Company’s
business. He was engaged in the provision of gaming promotion services for
junket room operations for Sociedade de Turismo e Diversdoes de Macau,
S.A. (“STDM”) in the 1980s. In 1992, Mr David Chow, together with
Madam Lam and Mr Li Chi Keung, established Hong Hock to engage in
real estate operations in Macau. Under Mr David Chow’s management,
Hong Hock opened The Landmark Macau to provide rental, management
and dining services for the use of the premises, facilities and services of
the Group to SJM for their VIP room operations. In 2006, Mr David Chow
expanded Hong Hock’s operations and caused Hong Hock to enter into the
Service Agreement with SJM and has since managed and directed Hong
Hock’s gaming services provision operations. In 2000, Mr David Chow,
together with Dr Ho Hung Sun, Stanley and Madam Lam, incorporated
MFW Investment to develop and operate MFW. He has been instrumental
to the development and operations and the proposed redevelopment of the
hotels and entertainment facilities in MFW.

Mr David Chow has been actively involved in community service. He
founded Macau Association of Retailers and Tourism Services (1 ["]}if ##
FEMRF AN E) in 1998. Mr David Chow was elected as a legislator
of the Macau Government in 1996, 2001 and 2005, and has been a member
of the Macau Chief Executive Election Committee in 2004, 2009 and
2014. He established the Travel Industry Council of Macau in 2001. He
also established the Federal General Commercial Association of Macau
Small and Medium Enterprises and has been serving as its president since
2012. In 2007, Mr David Chow’s experience and contribution to Macau’s
tourism industry were recognised when he was awarded the title of Top
Ten Talent (Construction) in China for the year 2006 (20064F 9 B + &

X B2 4) and the Order of Merit for Tourism (i #% 7] 4% ) #5) by the
Macau government for his contribution to the tourism industry. In 2013 and
2018, Mr David Chow’s contribution to Macau and the PRC was further
recognised by his appointment as a member of the 12th & 13th National
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the
PRC.

In addition to the Group, Mr David Chow also manages other hospitality
businesses in the PRC. He has been the chairman of the board of directors
of Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. (b5 #Eiff
BB E A R AF) since 2008, which has, since 2007, owned

and managed the award winning five-star Legendale Hotel Beijing.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr David Chow is the husband of Ms Melinda Chan, an executive Director
of the Company and the president of MFW Investment. The discloseable
interest of Mr David Chow in the Shares and underlying Shares under
the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report of
this annual report.

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, aged 30, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 1 September 2016.
Ms Ho is a daughter of Ms Chan Un Chan, a substantial shareholder of
the Company. She was awarded a bachelor of science in economics from
the University of London in August 2012 and was conferred the degree
of master of science in professional accountancy in 2020. She is also a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
Ms Ho was an assistant tax advisor with Ernst & Young PLL in London in
2013 and a senior staff accountant with Ernst & Young PLL in Beijing from
March 2014 to October 2014. She has been a director of UNIR Australia
Pty Ltd, the group of which owns substantial real estate assets including
hospitality, retail and office investments in Perth, Australia. Ms Ho has
been a member of Foshan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the PRC since 25 January 2019.

Mr Li Chun Tak, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 1
March 2022. Mr Li is a registered solicitor of the High Court and a partner
of Y.S. Lau & Partners. He has over a decade’s experience in the legal
field. Mr Li graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
a bachelor degree majoring in Information Technology and later obtained
a bachelor degree in law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in
2008 and his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (P.C.LL) from the University
of Hong Kong in 2011. In addition to his experience in the legal field, he
also has substantial experience in the field of business management, having
managed and supervised projects in information technology, financing, and
business strategic planning.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 29
December 2020. Mr Lau obtained a professional diploma in accountancy
from Hong Kong Polytechnic in November 1989. Mr Lau is a Practicing
Certified Public Accountant and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He has over 30 years of experience in auditing and
accounting with extensive experience in areas of initial public offering,
merger and acquisition and corporate finance exercise. He had served
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for 25 years from 1993 to 2018 and had been a
partner thereof for 17 years. He is currently a director of Moore Stephens
CPA Limited.
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Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin), aged 54, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee on 1 June 2021. Mr Wang is the chairman of
Shenzhen Academia Capital Management* ({7 JIl 48 £ & A 5 FE A FR 2>
A]), an onshore hedge fund based in Shenzhen which runs various China
A-share quantitative investment strategies in China, since 2016.

Mr Wang received a bachelor’s degree in Mathematics from Peking
University, a master degree in Applied Mathematics from University of
Massachusetts Ambherst, and a doctoral degree in Finance from Yale
University.

Mr Wang had almost 30 years of global investment experience in the
United States and China. From 2000 to 2010, he held various senior
positions at Putnam Investments and Acadian Asset Management
(“Acadian”) in the United States, including the roles of senior portfolio
manager and senior partner at Acadian during which Acadian Global
Emerging Markets Fund, under his supervision, ranked top in the
investment yield from 2000 to 2009.

After coming back to China, he served as the chief executive officer at
E Fund Management (Hong Kong) between 2010 and 2012, and the chief
investment officer at Bosera Asset Management (Shenzhen) between 2012
and 2015. He founded his own hedge fund company in China in 2015.
Mr Wang also served as the independent director of Shenzhen Salubris
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. between 2016 and 2020.

In addition, Mr Wang has been undertaking multiple social responsibilities.
He was the president of The Chinese Finance Association in the United
States and a member of Shenzhen People’s Congress in China. Mr
Wang is currently the president of the Shenzhen Financial Professionals
Association.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick, aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee on 1
March 2022. Mr Mak is a registered solicitor of the High Court of Hong
Kong and Managing Partner of Patrick Mak & Tse, Solicitors. Mr Mak
has over 20 years’ legal experience in the legal field. He was awarded the
Common Professional Examination Certificate in Laws by the University
of Hong Kong in 1995 and was awarded his Postgraduate Certificate in
Laws (P.C.LL) by the University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Mr Mak is currently an independent non-executive director of Far East
Holdings International Limited (stock code: 0036), and he had been an
independent non-executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings
Group Co., Limited (stock code: 1175) from 8 July 2013 to 13 December
2021, the securities of both companies are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Mak was also an independent non-executive director of Golden Shield
Holdings (Industrial) Limited (in liquidation) (stock code: 2123) from 6
November 2014 to 11 May 2015. A winding up order against Golden Shield
Holdings (Industrial) Limited (in liquidation) was made by the High Court
of Hong Kong on 11 May 2015 and the Official Receiver was appointed
as its Provisional Liquidator. The subject winding-up petition was filed by
a former legal adviser of Golden Shield Holdings (Industrial) Limited (in
liquidation) in respect of a claim of approximately HK$833,000.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive vice president, head of casino and hotel

Mr Si Chen, aged 37, is the Group’s executive vice president, head of
casino and hotel. Mr Si holds an MBA from the Stanford Graduate School
of Business in the United States. He has worked in major integrated resorts
in the United States, Singapore and Macau, including Las Vegas Sands
Corporation, Marina Bay Sands Singapore and Sands China Limited. Mr
Si possesses over 10 years of substantial management experience in the
field of marketing, casino operations, hotel operations, MICE, as well as
food and beverage.
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Senior vice president, overseas business development

Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo, aged 58, is the senior vice president,
overseas business development of the Company. Mr Trainor was an
executive Director of the Company and a member of the Nomination
Committee between 18 May 2012 and 24 November 2020. Mr Trainor
has been licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission since 1994
as an investment representative before the SFO came into effect and as
a representative under the SFO to carry out Type 6 Regulated Activity
(Advising on Corporate Finance). He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
commerce at the University of British Columbia in 1988 and has more
than 20 years of experience in financial advisory services. He served a
number of leading investment banks and has extensive experience in raising
capital for casino, leisure and property companies in Asia. He worked at
Credit Suisse Management (Australia) PTY Limited between 1990 and
1994 and last served as an associate in the investment banking division.
He then served within Morgan Stanley group of companies between 1994
and 2005 and last served as a managing director in the investment banking
division of Morgan Stanley Asia Pacific Holding Ltd. Mr Trainor worked
at Merrill Lynch between 2005 and 2009 as a managing director and had
been involved in the Group’s financing projects in such capacity since
2005. He founded PacBridge Capital Partners (HK) Limited in 2009. As its
director and responsible officer, Mr Trainor is primarily responsible for the
execution of both corporate advisory and principal investment transactions.
He was a director of Athenex Inc. (Nasdag GS:ATNX) between June
2017 and March 2019. On 10 May 2019, Mr Trainor was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of FIT Hon Teng Limited (SEHK:
6088). Mr Trainor is also on the Board of Directors from E/M Group since
May 2021 and Linksys Holdings since June 2021.

Senior Vice President of Finance

Mr Lei Vai Ip, aged 55, is the Senior Vice President of Finance of the
Group. Mr Lei joined the Group since 2003. He has obtained a professional
diploma in Accounting from Jinan University and been awarded with
a bachelor degree in International Tourism Management from Macau
University of Science and Technology. Mr Lei has over 25 years of work
experience in accounting, hospitality financial management, financial
forecasting and budget planning.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Legal counsel

Madam Lidia da Gloria Filomena da Luz, aged 63, was appointed as the
legal counsel of the Company since 2012. Madam Lidia Luz was awarded
a bachelor’s degree in Law from the Macau University and a master degree
in Law from the Macau University of Science and Technology.

Madam Lidia Luz spent her career in the public service sector during
1976 and 2006 with the Macau Public Administration and Civil Service
Bureau and held different management positions including head of division
of Administration and Finance, subdirector and director, she was also
appointed as the head of Public Administration Human Resources Research
Center of Macau Polytechnic Institute.

Madam Lidia Luz has been appointed as the member of the Committees
of Macau Legislative Elections and Macau City Council. She has joined
the Macau Lawyer Association since 2007.

Vice president of human resources

Ms Ng Wai Cheng, Diarle, aged 48, vice president of human resources,
is responsible for the Group’s Macau, mainland China and overseas
human resources management and strategy. Ms Ng has substantial human
resources and administration experiences in gaming, hotel, food and
beverage, infrastructure and trading industries. Previously, she was the
director of human resources of Landmark Macau, she also handled human
resources related matters in Pharaoh’s Palace Casino. Ms Ng is graduated
from Jinan University with Bachelor of Arts Degree in International
Journalism and Communications, and engaged in media industry after
graduation. Currently, she is the vice president of Macau Greater Bay Area
Human Resources Association, and also the head of Personnel Committee
of the Macau Hotel Association.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company believes that good corporate governance practices are
very important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence and
for the sustainable growth of the Group. The Board sets appropriate
policies and implements corporate governance practices appropriate
to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business. The Board
is committed to strengthening the Group’s corporate governance
practices and ensuring transparency and accountability of the
Company’s operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has complied
with the CG Code, except for code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (which
has been renumbered as code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code with effect
from 1 January 2022) which requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company as well as the details of the foregoing deviation are summarised
below.

A.  The Board
Al. Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management and control of the Company’s
business are vested in the Board, whose main roles are
to provide leadership and to approve strategic policies
and plans with a view to enhancing shareholder value. All
Directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of
the Company, including the approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company
secretary and senior management, with a view to ensuring
compliance with Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations. Any Director may request independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense, upon reasonable request made to the
Board.
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ERGOA LA E K
B > 22 A AR P HE ) R
o ARFAEEMBHCZIRA
AT 0B 5 T TAE o bt v AR A
T RT SLAT AT RS Sy i b ZH
SR c EHRE RIS
R o AR B RAT R o

A2, HHEEFH M

AR B A S
PR B AL A

AT EF
Executive Directors:

A2 PR JE 2
Mr Chan Weng Lin

ZERE N A

Mr Li Chu Kwan

B 2 B 4r i

Ms Melinda Chan ®o©

W 5% e S A
Mr Tsang Ka Hung

FEPATES
Non-executive Directors:
Ji B St A

Mr David Chow @t

o] 8 7 4 &

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
2R A

Mr Li Chun Tak

W JE AT E S

The senior management are delegated the authority
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to
any significant transactions entered into by the above-
mentioned officers. The Board has the full support of the
senior management to discharge its responsibilities.

A2. Board Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and as at the
date of this annual report is as follows:

(5 H G L AT ) (== ZAaF—H =+ — HEE)
(Co-chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
(resigned on 31 January 2022)
(FHHEH L) —F = A= —HEZE)
(Co-chairman of the Board) (appointed on 1 March 2022)
(TTEAH W F = ZaF = — HEEFHFHZER G E)
(Chief executive officer: appointed on 1 March 2022 and a member of the
Remuneration Committee)
(BB A2 2 BBk &)

(Chief financial officer and a member of the Nomination Committee)

(& H g B L e % 5 e 125 2 8 ik &)

(Co-chairman of the Board and a member of both the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee)

(HHBZEAEHE)

(A member of the Audit Committee)

(RZFE = H—H#EZ()

(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors:

B HE e
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

af U 55 2

Mr Xie Min

wER Lt

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria

FAL RSB A4

Mr Wang Hongxin
(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)

KRR E

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

BFGE s BRSEHR Lo b A SR G A4 2
LT e

PR A EATRAT 202144

(HEEEEELIEHRHNES GRS ZRETHE)

(Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee)

(#%ﬁﬁﬁfﬁ%%&éﬁ@ﬁ%g§§§W§M%:$:4$ﬁﬁ

(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee) (resigned on 1 June 2021)

(HEEZRAETIHEREZREGRHNER G E) ( —F = Z4Ff
= HEET)

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee) (resigned on 3 February 2022)

(FiWZER G T IHHRECGELEORIELSZRAGTHME) (K ZFEZ—FANH
—H#EZEAE)

(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee) (appointed on 1 June 2021)

(%ég%?fﬁ%%&%ﬁ@ﬁ#%ﬁé@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ:?::¢EH~H

(Chairman of the Nomination Commaittee and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee) (appointed on 1 March 2022)

Note: Ms Melinda Chan is the wife of Mr David Chow.
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& BT B R R N E S The biographical details of the existing Directors and the
B Z TR BRAR A A A A [ # 5 relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
v A P | — R R e under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”

in this annual report.

e AR S i s N R R (1)) The Board has met the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
A0ARMHLE - AR D=2 of the Listing Rules of having a minimum of three independent
SEHRBATIE S (M E S b =) non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the
Z—) o MY — 28 IR Board) with one of them possessing appropriate professional
TR EMHABEEEER - g5t qualifications and accounting and related financial
TR B B 5 R S E R - management expertise.
WA B AR T The members of the Board have skills and experience
B B R BT B B B o 4% appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of
PATHEERBEHBERATALE the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for different
AN TR ZEHS R AR Ag 5B - FF AT business and functional division of the Group in accordance
By o8 by W NEINE ¥ 98] with his/her expertise. The non-executive Directors bring
W BT RSB I S B different business and financial expertise, experiences and
MG EBERAANAERER independent judgement to the Board and they are invited to
BEE - BHSHERGERK serve on the Board committees of the Company. Through
F HUE W BB AL F #4185 %€ 2 f participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing
o AT E R DB ALNE R AL issues involving potential conflicts of interests, the non-
AR5 EHE R I R A R A executive Directors had made contributions to the effective
T A R i A > DAPR B A AR R direction of the Company and provided adequate checks and
A 4 o balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders.

AN E E R A5 S AT HE The Company has received written annual confirmation
R4 i A5 R A AR A G S from each independent non-executive Director of his/her
FREE R - AN AR independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
VIR i st R A Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
851> 2B LR ATEFHL Directors to be independent in light of the independence
G AN guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

A3, FERATH A A3. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
A EE IR ST R 2P R SCAE AL Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (which has been
(g —F _AF—A—HREN renumbered as code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code with
A 5% 2 SF R SO C 2. 1460 BT 32 effect from 1 January 2022) stipulates that the roles of
Jis BLAT B AR AR B A A Ry chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
SN JE Hy — AR IR AT not be performed by the same individual.
BE-F -+ H=+—HIk During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr Chan Weng
AR o RS OR S AR R R B S AR Lin and Mr David Chow were co-chairmen of the Board and
FAEFGHN LR AxEN responsible for the management of the Board and ensuring that
#HEY WHEREFFRGFAA all major and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in
HRME M T A O a timely and constructive manner. Prior to the resignation of
H oo BB A R T = —AF— Mr Chan Weng Lin as an executive Director, the co-chairman
H=E=+—HEBHEAARI#ATES - of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
e R AT B K with effect from 31 January 2022, Mr Chan Weng Lin took
R CHT B AR R R H care of the day-to-day management of the Group’s business
PR AT H #E e i e A AR and implementation of the Group’s policies, strategic plans and
R ~ SRWE R T B K E S B AR o business goals formulated by the Board.
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Ad.

Although Mr Chan Weng Lin was both a co-chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company, the
powers had been shared between the co-chairmen and Mr
David Chow would also exercise his power and authorities as
a co-chairman in managing the affairs of the Board and the
Company. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and
is adequately ensured by the current Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals with sufficient
number of Directors being non-executive Directors.

On 31 January 2022, Mr Chan Weng Lin resigned as an
executive Director, the co-chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company. On 1 March 2022, Mr Li
Chu Kwan and Ms Melinda Chan have been appointed as
co-chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company respectively.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association contain provisions on the
procedures and process of appointment and removal of
Directors. According to the Articles of Association, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. In addition, any new Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting after appointment, and any
new Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
Board shall hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors are eligible
for re-election by the shareholders at the respective general
meetings.
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According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association,
Ms Melinda Chan and Mr David Chow shall retire by rotation
at the 2022 AGM whereas according to Article 83(3) of the
Articles of Association, Mr Wang Hongxin, Mr Li Chun Tak
and Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick shall hold office until the 2022
AGM. Ms Melinda Chan, Mr Wang Hongxin, Mr Li Chun
Tak and Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the 2022 AGM. Mr David Chow
informed the Company that he will not offer himself for re-
election as a Director at the 2022 AGM and will retire from
office with effect from the conclusion of the 2022 AGM. The
Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their re-
appointment. The Company’s circular in relation to the 2022
AGM sent together with this annual report, contains detailed
information of the above Directors as required by the Listing
Rules.

Training and Continuing Development of Directors

Each newly appointed Director will receive induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment so as to ensure he/she
has appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing Directors should participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics will be issued to Directors where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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A6.

A7.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code (which
has been renumbered as code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
with effect from 1 January 2022) and all Directors namely,
Mr Chan Weng Lin, Mr Tsang Ka Hung, Ms Melinda Chan,
Mr Li Chu Kwan, Mr David Chow, Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda,
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky, Mr Wang Hongxin, Mr Xie Min
and Madam Tam Wai Chu have received regular briefings
and updates from the professional firm/company secretary on
the Group’s business/operations/corporate governance matters
which are relevant to their duties and responsibilities.

Besides, Mr Wang Hongxin has attended other training session
arranged by professional firms.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of
conduct governing Directors’ dealings in the Company’s
securities. Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors
and they have confirmed their compliance with the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”), governing securities transactions
by relevant employees who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities. No incident
of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
the relevant employees was noted by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period
for dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will
notify its Directors and relevant employees in advance.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (which has been
renumbered as code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code with
effect from 1 January 2022).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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A8. HFHHE F AS8. Directors’ Attendance Records
BEFHEALNFREE —F The attendance records of each Director at the Board
—EF A = H IR AT meetings, Board committees meetings and general meetings of
MWEFTE® EFEETTR the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2021
B B SRR & 0 " Bk 0 an F are set out below:
LN & £ XTR/E 4

Attendance/Number of Meetings
#wHEY HHREHE HMRE® WNAZHG Jit B 3 4R

HHEEH ok iof o Wk o ik Xg
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

PR 256 Jok 5 2R 5/5 - - - 171

Mr Chan Weng Lin

BR 2% ik & 3/5 - 0/2 - 171

Ms Melinda Chan

K HESEE 5/5 - - 212 171

Mr Tsang Ka Hung

2= RESh S R 5/5 - - - 171

Mr Li Chu Kwan

Ji 0 0 5 A 5/5 - 2/2 2/2 171

Mr David Chow

o] 8 5 4 - 5/5 3/3 - - 171

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

A IR 55 Ak 212 /1 172 12 171

Mr Xie Min @t D

RS e 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 171

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria

B R e A 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 -

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

F AL R A A e 2/3 2/2 - - -

Mr Wang Hongxin ®°©?
(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)

B 5 : Notes:

(1) ARG AEMR ZE Z—F RN — (1) Mr Xie Min resigned as an independent non-executive
H B AT 8 57 FE AT 8 25~ Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
ZRGTEH  FRZEHGHA a member of the Audit Committee and a member of the
LIRATEGHE - R _F Nomination Committee on 1 June 2021. During the period
—HE-H-HHEEEEZH from 1 January 2021 and up to his resignation, two Board
N BREAT T IR E e ek meetings, one Audit Committee meeting, two Remuneration
—WREEZEE GG IR Committee meetings, two Nomination Committee meetings
MZEEGE®  MRAEER and one annual general meeting were held.

LA VNS R IE N
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(2) Mr Wang Hongxin was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee on 1 June 2021. Subsequent to
his appointment, three Board Meetings, two Audit Committee
meetings, one Remuneration Committee meeting and two
Nomination Committee meetings were held during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company have been established with defined
written terms of reference which are posted on the Company’s
website “www.macaulegend.com” and on the Stock Exchange’s
website “www.hkexnews.hk”. All the Board committees should
report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Bl. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of four members,
being three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin
and Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick; and one non-executive
Director, namely, Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda. Mr Lau Ngai
Kee, Ricky possesses appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditors. All of the members are
non-executive Directors and the majority of the members are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr Wang Hongxin has
been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee in place
of Mr Xie Min with effect from 1 June 2021. Ms Tam Wai
Chu, Maria has resigned as a member of the Audit Committee
with effect from 3 February 2022. Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
has been appointed a member of the Audit Committee with
effect from 1 March 2022.
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T BN EERRAR SR A The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
B2 B B 5 R R R4l o I R AR financial information and reports of the Group and considering
42 1Y = A B S Rk L B A A any significant or unusual items raised by the financial
il 1] o 5 @ $2 2T ] oK IS officers of the Group or external auditors before submission
I H ETAE R b ST B A to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and the terms of
A% BRI Y BRAR 2o L Z W e 3k > I appointment of the external auditors and making the relevant
o] 5 F g /E AR B B R & recommendation to the Board; and reviewing the Company’s

T T A 2 ) RG) BE  ER O E  JE financial reporting system, risk management system and

Wiz A ) 3 T oA S B A R internal control system.

ME-EX -4 T-ZA=1T—H During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit

IR % E B e O NS Committee has performed the following major tasks:

FEETAE:

— M EEmEE F F — Review and discuss the annual financial statements,
A= —HIEAEEW results announcement and report for the year ended
EEMBWE - ERAER 31 December 2020, the related accounting principles
e~ A T BR AA 0 R B e and practices adopted by the Group and the relevant
w0 B AR ] DL AH B 2 audit findings, the report from the management on
s R EIR AR AL the Company’s risk management and internal control
A JE B A TR B A B review and processes and recommendation of the re-
AR AR BT AE R S AT appointment of the external auditor;

W = AT A I A R Y A
BRI

— W Rl R R —  Review and report on continuing connected transactions
TZA =T —HIEFEERNE carried out during the year ended 31 December 2020;
A7 09 45 8 R B 52 5

— TR ARG E AR — Review and discuss the interim financial statements,
ANH =4 H SR A R results announcement and report for the six months
E7f Bk &~ ERA R ended 30 June 2021 and the related accounting
o DA RA B B BR 4 1)+ B principles and practices adopted by the Group;

& wt s R R A B

— FHRMERE —E — Review and approve of the engagement letters of Ernst
T A= —HIEFEE K & Young as the auditor of the Company, the nature and
o R S8 B AT AR A 7 scope of the audit for the year ended 31 December 2021,
WMz B - FRHEE X their reporting obligations and their work plan; and
HEE AR O T B
TAERHE &

— BRI R e —  Review the internal audit plan and report.

AN A% SR 08 L R LU The external auditors were invited to attend the meetings to

B9 A% 22 B 6w A BH R I discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from the

E7f 5 H R BT A AR R R o audit and financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no

b EHREGHEESE B %Hﬁ disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee

TG FR T AEE % regarding the appointment of Ernst & Young as the external

—AETZ A=t — HIREE A auditor for the year ended 31 December 2021.

A% B 1Y) AR A L0 O o
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B2.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of five
members, being three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
(Chairman), Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and Mr Mak Ka Wing,
Patrick; one non-executive Director, namely, Mr David Chow;
and one executive Director, namely, Ms Melinda Chan.
Accordingly, the majority of the members are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr Wang Hongxin has been
appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
in place of Mr Xie Min with effect from 1 June 2021. Ms
Tam Wai Chu, Maria has resigned as a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 3 February 2022.
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick has been appointed as a member
of the Remuneration Committee on 1 March 2022.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure and the
remuneration packages of Directors and members of senior
management (that is, the model described in the code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code (which has been renumbered as
code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code with effect from
1 January 2022) is adopted). The Remuneration Committee
is also responsible for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate
in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee has performed the following major tasks:

—  Assess the performance of executive Directors; and

—  Review the remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management and to make any appropriate
adjustments, approve the terms of service agreements/
appointment letters as appropriate.
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AR 45 Al 2E 8716 <7 HI A <7 B A S0 58 Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code (which has
B15SWR(H - FZ - "4 —H—HE been renumbered as code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code with
AR % 4 ST IR SCEBE. LS IR effect from 1 January 2022), the annual remuneration of the
BME-_EX -4 TZA=1T—H members of the senior management (other than Directors) by
IEAF B > 38 5 DAAIMY e A B bands for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:
B L A ST T 42 86 [ 43 S R 5
mr
A8
Number of
individuals
17 7T 21,000,000 7T HK$1 to HK$1,000,000 -
1,000,001 JG % 2,000,000 % 7C HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 4
2,000,001 7T %.3,000,000 % 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1
3,000,001 JG %£4,000,000 7 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 -
5
FERAGAERE N R EE - The above table excluded the employees that were resigned
during the year.
ABBE X _—H+HA=1+— Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
1k 4F B 45 38 <5 30 I 09 5 1 4051 year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 10 to the
A SR B 45 G WA S SR B R 10 o consolidated financial statements of the Group.
B3. #EZAH B3. Nomination Committee
MLz EHEANE B = The Nomination Committee comprises a total of five members,
BRI IEMATEH B R E (£ being three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
fiE) ~ FALFRSEE R BIH e A Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin and
—ZIE AT R Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky; one non-executive Director, namely,
PPATE F GRS - WL Mr David Chow; and one executive Director, namely, Mr
KT E BB AT HEE - Tsang Ka Hung. Accordingly, the majority of the members are
HZF_—FANA—H#E 4 independent non-executive Directors. Mr Wang Hongxin has
RS O T AT B 2 24 % B & been appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee in
BPHEERBIREAE - A X =2 place of Mr Xie Min with effect from 1 June 2021. Ms Tam
ETHZHGE R 2 BT Wai Chu, Maria has resigned as a member of the Nomination
REAEZBGWME - A _F__4 Committee with effect from 3 February 2022. Mr Mak Ka
ZH—HME > FRERABERMT Wing, Patrick has been appointed as the chairman of the
BiRATHEMA - Nomination Committee with effect from 1 March 2022.
MAZEGWEERTT LR The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
i e =l R AN & i) include reviewing the structure, size and composition
(f FE H B - R0k e RCBR) > ik (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
A A o A B R Board on a regular basis and recommending any changes
WG &R B AT E R g to the Board; identifying qualified and suitable individuals
BNt o P R 4R 44 A BN to become Board members and selecting and making
& M AT B S5 R R L 1) 2 AR recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
e & L S A% L I AT nominated for directorships; assessing the independence
Y M8 3L 5 M Wk EE T & AT Bk EE R of independent non-executive Directors; and making

recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
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the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular, the chairman and the chief
executive of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage. A Board Diversity Policy was adopted
by the Company during the year under review, pursuant
to which the Nomination Committee will review annually
the structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile.
In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all
levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the
Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered. The Board will
consider setting measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.

The Company has also adopted the Director Nomination
Policy which sets out the selection criteria and process and
the Board succession planning considerations in relation to
nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company
and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to
the following: character and integrity; qualifications including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy; diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service; requirements of independent
non-executive Directors on the Board and independence of the
proposed independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules; and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest to discharge duties as a member of
the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee has performed the following major tasks:

— Review the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience and diversity of perspective
appropriate to the requirements for the business of the
Group;

—  Recommend the re-election of the retiring Directors
standing for re-election at the Company’s 2021 annual
general meeting; and

—  Assess the independence of all the independent non-
executive Directors.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, quarterly
financial information, inside information announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The senior management has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable
the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the financial
information and position of the Company, which are put to the Board
for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledge its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee assists
the Board in leading the management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems.

The Group has developed and adopted different risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including gaming
operations, hotel operations, food and beverage, construction,
finance, human resources, information technology.

The internal audit team is responsible for performing independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. The internal audit team
identifies and examines key issues in relation to the hotel/casino
management, strategic management, key operational and financial
processes, human resources management, regulatory compliance and
information security and provides its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, has performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 by reviewing the management report and the internal
audit findings, the actions taken and the plans formulated to remedy
the deficiencies. The Board is not aware of any material defect or
weakness of the internal systems and controls in relation to anti-
money laundering and counter-terrorist financing which would have
an adverse impact on the operations of the Group; and considered
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are effective and adequate.

The Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.
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External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2021 are analyzed below:

ot AT B
Fees paid/payable
(#70)
(HK$)
2 SR FS
Audit services:
—HE_F A=t —HIEFEMREEA 4,650,000
— Audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2021
I A% R s -
Non-audit services:
— B F T ENA S E ISR A B P 550,000
— Interim review for the six months ended 30 June 2021
— B & BB 201,000
— Tax compliance services
Hast 5,401,000
Total
2 ) B Company Secretary

WA > R MR AR A DR
15 /1N R 2 K B S 5 3 o 8 R M ST
P 2 B R AR O AR A A [ R
A P | —

S o % % R

AN FAAE o B AR A T o
BEHBRIR L EBE S T A L
H5 RBL R 2 B o A 5 [ IR 9
Wt L 97% WY RO I B R A W E a2
TR > B ST B R e B A A
BERE -

During the year under review, Mr Tsang Ka Hung has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings. Biographical details
of Mr Tsang Ka Hung are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report.

Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of transparent
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which enables
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decision.
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The Company maintains a website at “www.macaulegend.com” as
a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s business developments
and operations and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests
to the Company as follows:

Address: Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf,
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da, Dr. Sun Yat
Sen, Macau

Fax No.: (853) 2822 2266

Email: ir@macaulegend.com

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its shareholders and investors. Designated senior
management maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors
and analysts to keep them posted of the Company’s developments.
Enquiries from shareholders and investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.

Besides, shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. Board
members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are available at
the meeting to answer any questions raised by shareholders.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for shareholders’
consideration and voting. The Company’s shareholders may convene
an extraordinary general meeting or put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings as follows:

(1) Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association
by sending a written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated in the
written requisition.
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(2) If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
retiring Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association,
the shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send
a written notice, duly signed by the shareholder, of his/her
intention to propose such person for election and also a notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to
be elected. These notices should be lodged at the Company’s
head office or the office of the Company’s branch share
registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of such
general meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such general meeting.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement (as the
case may be) to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong and provide their full name, contact details and identification
in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has not
made any changes to the Articles of Association. An up-to-date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may refer
to the Articles of Association for further details of the rights of
shareholders.

All resolutions proposed at shareholder meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange “www.hkexnews.hk™ and the
Company “www.macaulegend.com”, respectively, immediately after
the relevant general meetings.
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ABOUT THIS ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Macau Legend Development Limited (hereafter the “Company” or “Macau
Legend”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”, “We”, “Our”) are
pleased to publish this environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
report (the “Report”), summarising our management approach, initiatives
and performance of the ESG issues.

Scope of Report

The Report covers the ESG management approaches, environmental and
social performance of the Group during the period from 1 January 2021 to
31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period” or “20217”). With the assessment
of the material and core business operation, we have included our gaming
and non-gaming operations in Macau and Hong Kong, including offices,
hotels, casinos and Macau Fisherman Wharf property in this Report. Unless
otherwise specified, there is no change in reporting scope compared to the
previous year.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) under
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

e o R0 i ke

Reporting Principles Description

o HAT 2R B0 5 iy T AT R S e A S A AN o TS R K R O A [ R A
Materiality i o

Material topics were assessed through internal discussion and surveys of key stakeholders. A

materiality matrix was produced and presented in the session — Materiality Assessment.

i1k JT A - € 0 BR B B S AR A0 1 (TKPIs ) # 2 BRESG M A #8 5  EfT Rt B R 28 > WK ARB @M
Quantitative % )l 5 AT -

All social and environmental key performance indicators (“KPIs”) were calculated and presented with
reference to the ESG Reporting Guide and robust methodologies were adopted as illustrated in the
respective sections of the Report.

°F i A BRI B — A O R LU > SR T A A A R R O e [ o

Balance Data comparisons with the previous year have been presented in the Report with illustration on
the achievement and rooms for improvement of the Group.

— B A AR R B b — AR AR R 7 ik R

Consistency The Report has been prepared based on the methodology which is the same as the previous year.

The Report has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors
(the “Board”) of the Company.

AR O RE AR 0 A A e
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LRV E iR STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

LR TR Oy A T S oK - B To better understand the needs, concerns and expectations of our
TR B o A 42 ] — 300 20 5 i R 0 B4 1y stakeholders in relevance to our business operation, the Group has been
AR W E > EL AN N 3R TR maintaining regular communications with our stakeholders through various

T AN
Major stakeholder group

channels, which are illustrated in the table below:

i RE

Communication channels

B & & e

Investors and shareholders

B %

Customers

BT
Employees

3% JE v B R 5 B

Suppliers and business partners

[

Communities

i
Media
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. /> 7 44 ¥ Company website

. 3] A # Company’s announcements

° Ji% o 38 4F K 7 Annual general meeting

° AF B F1 1 iz 45 Annual and interim reports

. > 7 44 ¥ Company website

° B % 3 %8 Customer direct communication

° S i F % 7F Customer feedback and complaints
. % J5 i B % 91 75 Customer satisfaction surveys

. 15 #ll F1 #9038 Training and orientation
° T B 4 3 4 Emails and opinion boxes

. B T frEmployee tea gatherings

° B T %5 3 5F 1 Employee performance evaluation

. T 388 B Al A1 15 5t 7 A Selection assessment and background check

. % Ji§ Ui #£ Procurement process

d N F A Ol oAt 38 B8 OF- & Company  website and  social media
platforms

. A1 1% 3% B) Community activities

. > 7 44 ¥ Company website

. 3] A # Company’s announcements
. #1388 °F- & Social networking platforms
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To identify the ESG issues that are material to the Group in formulating
appropriate ESG strategies on ESG management and determining the
direction of the Report, the Group has commissioned an independent
consultant to conduct a materiality assessment in form of an online
questionnaire. Both our internal and external stakeholders (e.g. Board
members, senior management, employees, customers and suppliers) are
invited to fill in the questionnaire by scoring the 27 identified ESG issues
in accordance with their relevance and importance to the business operation
and the stakeholders themselves respectively.

Based on the materiality of each of the ESG issues expressed by the
stakeholders, the ESG issues are prioritised and shown in the materiality
matrix below. The issues which fall in the upper right corner of the matrix
are defined as the topics that matter most to the Group’s business operation
and are of most concern to our stakeholders.

DFAMF BB RIESGE B 5| BB AR

a5

Identification

To create and categorise a list of potential ESG topics and

identify key stakeholder groups

BB
B8
Engagement

ERAINERFT 0 B TR LB REE

To invite internal and external stakeholders to complete

an online survey

DR

Analysis & Evaluation

AHEMERE BREZMNESGEE

To evaluate and prioritise the most material ESG topics

AR REITRE - UHETESGEM
e FE 3R B R SRR KB SR B

Validation

The results are validated by the Company to determine the priority
of the ESG topics for report disclosure and future improvement
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A

EEMER

Materiality Matrix

B
Environment

Employment

e
Operation

E
Community

B

il
e

PEEER
Medium Priority

SEER
High Priority

FHiHENHEZEN

Significance of Stakeholders

P o

EELER w

Low Priority

0

hEBEER
Medium Priority

R
Environment

1. BERBEN

Air emission
RN
Greenhouse gas emission
RIRE L
Climate change
BEIR

Energy efficiency
IKFNFIK
Water & effluents
MR

Use of materials

REMEE

Waste management
RREMR

Environmental
compliance
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HAKRBEEB N EENERMT

Significance to the Group’s Business & Operation

{E{& Employment

202144

& E Operation

. BRPREE

Customer satisfaction

. BEPRGEE MR

Customer service quality &
complaints handling

. BPfgRERe

Customer health and safety

. B ERMRBERS AL

Marketing and product and
service labelling compliance

. HHERE

Intellectual property

. BPRAMBERE

Customer privacy and data
protection

. BEAENHEEEE

Responsible supply chain
management

. AFER

Business ethics

. HEREAR

tHE
Community

27. WEME

Community investment

Socio-economic compliance
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MR E S RV ITER RS Through the stakeholder engagement, materiality assessment, industrial
BT 0L B3 R A R > FRAM R T AR 4 [ 0 B benchmarking and risk assessment process, we identified six ESG topics
ER S HESGE E - that are of most concern to the Group.

BERENZE

Occupational
Health and Safety

RIZREL
Climate Change

Es 2[5l
ETEE FEESG

_iﬂ
Employee ZERE .%‘:E‘
. Environment
Relations

Our Key ESG
Considerations

& F R AxER

Customer Services Business Ethnics

s
Operation
AL IR EALESGH# A o TR 55 15 Our Group has placed a large emphasis on ESG topics. Our effort has
T SocietyNext % 4 i 4H 4520214 19 ESG [ 42 been recognised and awarded the ESG Care Prize 2021, organised by the
SRR AT A SE R o R B OR A o AR R 5% 4 A SocietyNext Foundation. Looking forward, the Group will continue to
A T R ) 2 A E A ESG BUSK A B R > I (L review and develop corresponding ESG policies and targets, as well as
ESG ¥t # %% > LLIE 3K KA ESG 3= B 14 15 4 enhancing the ESG reporting disclosure to pursue continual improvement
=Tt in our ESG performance in the future.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 53



toE kAR A ()

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

LIRSS §: 905 -$L 0 873

SHEFRF 03 & 9B U0 AN VB A5 R ESG LB - T AT
HESL T E ARG R B > AR S ] A B
ESG i M E 17 B 5% - 57 Al AT 3 o

ESG i BL 2R 1

202147 » AL R T HA WESGIAH 20 -
HBEWmE > AAFAEKZEEG (H%EZAT)
) TRk 0 K ) 60§55 40 N B B ES G AH B 2R
B ST~ JEL B A AR e AR R
M ENE  FREEGHFEEDEH
W R &5k > 5 ESG N o) 28 S & Wi o
T EE G T R EANESGH I T/EA > L)
ATHEEMWESGH S - T/EAH K H T2 =1/
DHEBHAME  TIFAKRETEMNELEZE
e TEEERSE -

& B & WESGIA B AL REIN T

OUR SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT APPROACH

In response to the stakeholders’ concerns and the potential ESG risks, we
have established a more systematic mechanism to monitor, evaluate and
manage key ESG issues of the Group.

ESG Governance Structure

In 2021, the Group has expanded the current ESG governance structure.
Specifically, the authority of the audit committee of the Company (“Audit
Committee”) is extended to include the leadership and supervision of
ESG related structure establishment, risk identification, standard settings,
reporting procedure and disclosure to stakeholders. The Audit Committee
meets at least twice a year to discuss ESG issues and report to the Board.
A ESG special working group is formed under the Audit Committee in
order to execute the Group’s ESG strategy. The working group and its 3
sub-groups meet every month. A quarterly report on the work progress by
the working group will be submitted to the Audit Committee.

The expanded ESG governance structure is as follows:

Exg

The Board

ERZEEE
Audit Committee

ESG4 5 T4
ESG Special Working Group

ANEREMYE THEE
Human Resources and Society
Working Group

BB T /e
Governance
Working Group

R - REMNERITEE
Environment, Facilities and
Resources Working Group
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ESG if: P 45 1 £ € Fin Bk 25

ESG Governance Structure Roles and Responsibilities

£ . 1l 72 4E 1 i ESG 5K i

The Board To devise the Group’s ESG strategy

. 25 B B Lo 42 [ W ESG )

To review and approve the Group’s ESG report

wEHEEE . %A ESGHE B ik - Wmg - B Se g IEM AR
Audit Committee To examine the ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and
objectives

. AT Al AR E A BAESG 19 3 B A0 B8 o Sl A AR A S R R A 2K
{9 ESG Jal Fin & BN 350 A 21 A
To evaluate and determine ESG risks and opportunities, and ensure
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control system are in place

. MR35 H ESG H B A 45 5 7 it 42 F 1) R 3
To evaluate the Group’s performance against its ESG goals and
targets

o WA ESG H B BAT I DL
To review the implementation of ESG mechanism

. o] ¥ & Wt ESG i A &5 R M I ek

To report ESG findings and recommendations to the Board

ESG ¥ il T4l . B ESGHUR 19 & B L AT
ESG Special Working Group To supervise the overall execution of ESG policies
. W1 & Bl

To report to the Audit Committee regularly

BEBE - 3 A PR AR A TE DL 48 8UH M ESG UK -
Environment, Facilities and To implement ESG policies in the following areas:
Resources Working Group . L7 Engineering

. Pt BB A PR R ZIT and data security

. J&% ¥ b ¥ Waste handling

. fig U5 1 ¥ R 45 4 Energy and resource management

. R B35 0 1% 1 B J 5 & 22 Procurement and supply chain risk management
. B i % A Food safety

A &R A6 TARA 15 LA 4 38 B it ESG BUR
Human Resources and To implement ESG policies in the following areas:
Society Working Group . A J1& i Human resources

. Wik 2 fi 3% Fl 42 42 Occupational health and safety

. H T.%% J& il 1% F| Employee development and welfare
. # 7 AT 1 % Responsible gambling

. % Y5 Anti-corruption

. 43 8 1 ) Community initiative

TR 7E LA R 98 380 H e ESG LK

Governance Working Group To implement ESG policies in the following areas:
. F5 )y % 2 Hi Stakeholders engagement
. 4 ¥l Legal compliance

. ] 47 #% 4E B 5% F1 73 7 Peer standard research and analysis
. ESGJELF #3537 B B ESG risk trend analysis and management
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J B A BE

T 3 A0 A Ry 4 3 0] 3k B RN 4 BLESG
L I 7 A 7 JE S o A 4 [H R 43 B R ESG Rk
JE S A A [ A A R R R > DL RO ESG
DR 25 40 A B A 0 42 o L B PR R R
B o

AW A > A S B N A A R R AT R A
HIESGJE B 5F Al o 3 25 & 1l S8 B8 B 58
AR B R AG A 5 &5 B T 36 S EIESG
JEBE AR PR F R b o 2 B R g TR
Z B G 0B AT R S E N R
B HKE - G URE BRI EE 4 R PSS 1 o
TIAN LR A R IR R T BRI 2R -
HRGRFEZETHER A RS AEE
ESGHE M -

ESG Risk Management ESG

Increasingly, investors and other stakeholders are more interested in how
ESG risks are identified and managed. The Group fully understands
that ESG issues bring substantial risks to its business operations and the
importance of integrating ESG factors into its existing internal controls
and risk management systems.

The Group has engaged an external consultant to conduct a detailed
ESG risk assessment in the Reporting Period. The Board and the senior
management have completed a risk assessment survey, and the results
are analysed and consolidated into a prioritised list of ESG risks. With
reference to the international standard by Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board, the assessment has taken into consideration in the
aspects of indoor environmental quality, water consumption, resource use
and waste management. The assessment and recommendations are further
supplemented by peer research. The Board and the Audit Committee
reviewed the recommendations on improving the ESG practices to the
Group.

ESG it & BArEEHEMEE? 5 it A0 AR 2R it )

ESG Issues Why it is important to us? Measures and Forthcoming Plan
R FeAM AR A5 PR BR 0% 2 A R AT o RS D K RAME m & M A Gl E S E
Environment I FE 7K ~ SEORERE AN H R AN SRR o DL % 5T 0 0 300 TR B9 6 R TH

We believe protecting the environment is the duty of every
business. In the hotel operation, we consume resources such as
water, plastic products and daily necessity items.

A 2 ) %S~ R A HG A R A A SE RO BRI
KB o N HE PR o BR A g R R A R B TR0 & R A
B o O AN AR R R AR S BRI R AR o
Increasingly, customers, government and other stakeholders
place a stronger emphasis on the environmental performance
of a business. Failing to protect the environment does not
only threaten the health and safety of the local community
and staff, but also bring about the risks of losing reputation
and breaching environmental regulations.
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FE o BLAb - FRAME LT MK
£ | N O U I N T '
Jifi o

We have promoted the green hotel
programme to our customers in
order to reduce the consumption
of resources during their stay in
our hotels. Furthermore, we have
installed efficient water fixtures
such as water-efficient urinals and
rainwater recycling facilities.
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ESG i o At B AN R ? 5 it A R 2R st
ESG Issues Why it is important to us? Measures and Forthcoming Plan
S A SR B Al 19 S %8R o SRR, L A e K SR AR B o SR M AETE - R B REHIE T —

Climate Change

BT H#E

Employee Relations

B S f B A 22 4
Occupational Health
and Safety (“OHS”)

Ao Py 745 A€ 4y B L B IR B BI R R B T % & o

The effect of climate change has already been felt in the form
of rising temperature and extreme weather events. Climate
physical risks directly threaten the safety of customers and
staff.

BEAh > SR B AL o Al A B A Ja By o B RERE -~ TG (R
Ty A0 R 5 90 BT YY) SRUAGE A KR A A A A o TR T R
Bk A H g R SRR Gl o (ERE AR o A R BRI
A0 B 7 2 BEL SR Aok A B B JaL B A T AT A S B A R R
F e

Furthermore, climate change will bring about transition risks
such as tightening regulations, shifting market preference
and technological advancement to adapt to the new climate
pattern. We understand the growing trend and commitment to
carbon neutrality. Failing to identify and manage these climate-
related risks will undermine our business health and overall
competitiveness in the long run.

AR T DA 5 A 1 1) SE RS VR > W B3 HRT M LY
B TBALK S FF o

The service-oriented business nature of the Group requires the
support of a professional and motivated workforce.

FAM TR BAM AT AR B AE T B E VTR A Sy o ORAEEL B TR
FFREFBR TR &K ZBAEMAA MARNE T -
Bt > BB TR0 B AR SR SE RS T R A AR R .

We understand that our frontline staff are facing heavy
pressure. Failing to maintain a good relationship with the
employees risk losing potential talents and skilled staff.
Therefore, the relationship with employees becomes highly
important for business sustainability.

PRASF filt e R 2 2 1) A BR 35T A A0 A 36 A 84T 19 e )
BORZ— o FRRIRAEBEE RMATWEIT > R+ 2EHRE
AN B T e o fil A A S T R v R TGS e R 22 4 N R
SR 1 Tl AN 55 7 > (BT SR LASE A BR TAR RS o UL
Tk S it e Bl <22 2 ) A7) RO I O T BEGRAR o
Maintaining a healthy and safe working environment is one of
the most critical requirements for any business to run smoothly.
Especially under the pandemic situation, we value the health of
our guests and employees. Despite the tireless effort of the Group
to implement OHS-related policies and measures, it is difficult
to eliminate work-related incidents completely. Therefore, OHS
issues should remain a key agenda for the Group’s management.

R - DA B e R A K B 51 Y
il L o

We have established a set of
policies for our front office, security,
housekeeping department to deal
with issues arising from flooding and
typhoon.

FoAM 7 B T 42 it 2 Bl B DA R
2 AT i B -

We have offered various communication
channels to our employees to express
their opinions.

A SR BB Sr i AT Y AR R
i 0 A [ B T AR A B 2 e AR v
([COVID-19]) 5 % B % » LI AT 1
¥ COVID-19 K Wi AT M 55 10 B3 A0 45
Jiti, o

The Group has established a coronavirus
(“COVID-19”) preparedness team which
consists of our senior management and
different departments to execute policies
and measures to counter the COVID-19
pandemic outbreak.
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% MR 55 TR I R 5 48 S35 T B o AR % S S e e 2 — > FRAM B MG T By i SR L& 1Y A R DL IR

Customer Service

[EE $Ek-

Business Ethics

TR T B AR i R A YR O IRBS o oK RE DR R R 0 LA I S
JEAME AR T RA A BB BT > R E T WM BB
i 22 3 T B B

The industry of hospitality and entertainment is competitive in
Macau. As one of the leading enterprises in this sector, we need
to maintain the highest standard of services. Failing to maintain a
high degree of customer satisfaction not only reduces our overall
competitiveness, but also harms the global image of Macau as a
tourist city.

RGBS W R R B E8 Y > A G AT R IRIE -
Casinos business involves transactions of a large amount of money
which could potentially be a channel for money laundering.

HEBMME AT RERED—KkE T  ERMIYMEE
A7 J DR A 5 10 B o R T AR R BB Y o

It is of utmost importance for every employee of the Group,
from the management to the general staff, to remain vigilant
and uphold the highest ethical standards in our business
conducts.
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e TN 1 AR R R

We collect the comments from our
customers to improve our service
quality pro-actively.

B2 H R EERBE T > &
M 2 W 5 i B IS B A o FRAM
#90% 1) 17 I8 B C 5¢ i/ ik 8 88 3
Fi)

For our staff who are involved in
high-risk activities, we offer anti-
corruption training on a regular basis.
Over 90% of our gaming employees
have completed the anti-money
laundering tests.
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1B H R AR

7 % R R % S A R 0 O SR B
EHE - R —RAEM A At
T AR MR A A > MR T ROE H R
9 B — 2 o FRAM AR A a4k T B BT 1 AL
G S R (A R S M A = W O 2
A Y BR B AR

HE Our Targets:

ADVOCATING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

The Group is aware of the increasing concern of the Group’s environmental
performance. To be a responsible enterprise and drive a positive change to
the society, we have taken the critical steps to set our targets. We believe
it can realise our organisational goals and have a more systematic way to
keep track of our environmental performance.

5 58 Pk

Greenhouse Gases (“GHG”) Emission

HE TR 1 #E

Energy Consumption

e A 5 FE20214F 1) 35 45 3 15%

with the baseline in 2021

o D0254ETT o B PERCEE B REE MR T BEEEIC | o 20254 W0 AE VR GR B (B E A U A A% EL20214E 1Y

By 2025, reduce the carbon emission intensity (Scope 1 and
Scope 2, per million HKS$ revenue) by 15% as compared

H BB A15%
By 2025, reduce energy intensity (per million HK$ revenue)
by 15% as compared with the baseline in 2021

Ji& W 4 B

Waste Management

A K £

Water Consumption

compared with the baseline in 2021

o 20254 > HESFUA B P EE20214F B9 B BB 10% o 20254F R - KRR (BB HE TUCA) R EE20214F 1Y
By 2025, reduce the waste to landfill by 10% as

BB A10%

By 2025, reduce water consumption intensity (per million
HK$ revenue) by 10% as compared with the baseline in
2021

SR % 0 A B 9 i
25 9 1% 2 G 10 A

ST T M SR A B A R B B RN BT A A
3 o 3l PR I B A il A i o 1K A SR M0 2 AL
fe b BRI RE T o G JEL S M o K SR B R
M 69 B T A R 4 A e B o A
6B Z Bl AL - 2 TR AT A
B 15 AN I B A — SR 35 T o S 52 PR A B
Pt g 18 % 5 BEBR U 5 T A A ek B AR
5577

PSR T W BT TR R R
LR RN T LE NS
0BT 1% B BT B T B - 3
0 R ACHE By S G I 69 A 35 R I
T 5 B S5 1 543 9122 2 O 6 B o
A -

Climate Resilience and Carbon Emission
Prepare for Climate Change

The Group understands climate change affects everyone and all businesses,
and has taken the necessary steps to build resilience to the impacts of
climate change. Extreme weather events such as typhoon pose a significant
safety risk to our employees and guests, and disrupt our business as
we would have to operate shorthanded, or temporarily shut down some
establishments. Unchecked carbon emission will also undermine the effort
in achieving the global target of limiting temperature increase.

To play our role in reducing carbon emission, we have encouraged the use
of electric vehicles as an alternative to petrol vehicles. All visitor vehicles
at the Macau Fisherman’s Wharf are now replaced with electric-powered
models. In support of the future trend of increasing electric vehicle use,
an increasing number of charging stations have also been installed at the
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf and Harbour View Hotel respectively.
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In light of the increasing frequency and intensity of typhoons in recent
years, and the danger it poses to our staff, a typhoon committee was set up
and an updated Typhoon Policy which stipulates the work, evacuation and
compensation arrangements under active typhoon signals, was published
in July 2021. In addition, all properties have been stocked with sufficient
floodgates to prevent flooding due to heavy rain and surge. Also, in
Harbour View Hotel and Babylon Casino, wind barriers are prepared and
diesel-powered pumps are ready in the event of a city-wide power failure.

Carbon Emission

Our carbon emission consist mainly of our consumption of electricity and
Liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”). Electricity consumption is the greatest
carbon emission source, which accounted for over 98% of our total carbon
emission during the Reporting Period.

A
Unit 2021 2020
% R g A 2 Wi AR E R
Total GHG Emission ™t " tCO,e 29,219.61 2394130
B — e 2y W A R O B
Scope 11062 R 642.02 423.37
i [ — 2 W A AR =
Scope 2 e ) (COLe 28,577.59 23,523.93
958 AW SALBRE R H B AW e T
Intensity tCO,e/million HK$ revenue ™« 4 ’ ’
B 5 - Notes:

1) HI20204F A H o L= SRS PR iR 8 i &=
SR R 20214F FAM (14 3 & = -

) R E A IRAM I I 28 6 A R AL A ST
FE AR B E R PR - B R 2 %2006
AEIPCC 8] % il % S 1 ¥ B 48 rg A0 1 L R
WF 52 BT A% B R BE U = S B 1k T L8 0
TAEZE A B PE R 1 R -

3)  HREEM A E AR EE N E S
FE AR TH] 42 UL 3 GRS P o R T R LR IR
%6 715 B (CEM) 20204F 7] 13 45 48 Ji i 25 of
i B ik B -

@ EREEA R EE R A -
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(1) The increase in GHG emission is due to the increase in visitors to our
business locations in 2021 compared with 2020.

2) Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of LPG of our
hospitality business. It is calculated with reference to the published emission
factors from 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories
and the guidance worksheets of World Resources Institute’s GHG Protocol
Tool for Mobile Combustion.

3) Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of
purchased electricity from the local power companies. The calculation is
based on the emission factors from 2020 Sustainability Report of Companhia
de Electricidade de Macau (CEM).

“) Intensity values are calculated per revenue in line with industry practice.
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HE U5 2% 4 ENERGY EFFICIENCY

A B 75 408 B RE Uk D i 2 W DA B BR R (R o The Group’s approach to achieve environmental protection is through
AR HE2% ) RERIEFELSE T - reduction in carbon footprint by energy conservation. Over 92% of the
A20214F 7% BT A AL T 40 42 46 Tl R U B energy consumed over the Reporting Period was electricity. A Power
5 I FC Bk 4% BT AL B B O B R AR (PMS) e Monitoring System (PMS) that consist of a series of current transformers
4 TR B W 2R 0 o A T IR R R bR and recorders was installed in all the electrical switchboard in 2021. The
S HE AT BR R A 43 A Sl A A0 T Y B o purpose is to obtain real time electrical consumption data that can be

tracked and analysed and for necessary improvements.

LA
Unit 2021 2020
8 g AE ) Jk B I
Total energy consumption ™ > MWh 37,646.63 34,192.87
B WA B BE AL 98 KW H TR A s L
Intensity per revenue MWh/million HK$ revenue ' '
L% kU FE
— WAL A b SR Jk B W
2,795.91 2,360.
Direct energy consumption MWh 1959 36077
R LPG (note 6)
LN RvA i KRR HE TR A e s
Intensity per revenue MWh/million HK$ revenue ' '
Indirect energy consumption
— Electricity Jk BL IR
= 34,850.72 31,832.10
fi] 2 g U5 14 #E MWh
/=
— ®
B WA B B AL 9 VNN ER S PR YN 30,69 A543
Intensity per revenue MWh/million HK$ revenue ’ '
B 3 Notes:
5) BL20204FAH L - B VS TH AE AY 1Y 0 3 B2 ik 5) The increase of energy consumption is due to the increase in visitors to our
202148 FAM 1Y 55 & =2 o o business locations in 2021 compared with 2020.
6) A O 7 ER I BB - 20204F 1 BT (6) The figure in 2020 is restated due to the change in calculation methodology.
it -
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Around 99% of non-LED lights have been converted to LED together with
lighting schedule optimisation for further energy savings.

The operation of the chilled water unit is the largest energy consumption
in the property, and we have already implemented energy saving devices
for it. Smart energy valve helps reduce operating costs and CO, emissions,
Variable Frequency Drives (“VFDs”) on Primary Air Handling Units
(“PAUs”) and Cooling Towers (“CTs”) for better load control. While
replacing high energy consumption alternate current motors with energy
efficient direct current motors can save 25% of power.

AIR EMISSION AND INDOOR ENVIRONMENTAL
QUALITY

Since our visitor fleet has been gradually replaced with electricity-powered
models, the Group’s air emissions are primarily generated by the use of
LPG for cooking.

“ 99 VS
B 2L % (“NOx”) & 39.15 33.06
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) Kg

13 ) I\
i S AL ( .SOx ) i 0 i
Sulphur oxides (“SOx”) Kg

TEWG T > FAM A P OR B 7 S
Y WAENNZREARAREGZETANN
PR -

Wi 2t

(7)  EE20204F M bL o g PR b TR R B iR
20214F FAM 1Y 57 & = 1 e

62 PR A EATRAT 202144

In our hotel operation, we do not emit significant amount of air pollutants
while the indoor air quality may affect the comfort of our guests.

Notes:

(7) The increase in air emissions is due to the increase in visitors to our business
locations in 2021 compared with 2020.
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Resources and Waste Management

It is inevitable that our business operation will consume a considerable
amount of resources and generate waste. The Group has established
guidelines and measures to ensure the waste we produced are handled in
full compliance with the relevant legislation and regulations and be aware
of the resource minimisation and recycling practices.

Water Efficiency

A stringent water treatment program for the chiller plant reduces water
consumption and maintenance related issues and prolongs the life span of
the equipment. This program also reduces the number of cooling tower
blowdowns and water valves failures that prevents water loss.

Waterless urinals have been installed at the toilets of Babylon casino for
water conservation and public awareness with more units to be installed
throughout the properties. Greywater and swimming pool water recapturing
system are in a planning stage for irrigation and other usage for further
environmental protection benefits.

FI 7K & (37 75 K ) iks)

Water Usage (m?) @ ® 441,169 384,088
W (Sr 07Kk H E W u I A )

Intensity (m? / million HK$ revenue) ™ 388.49 548.15
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We encourage our employees to develop an awareness of water conservation
in their workflow. The green hotel programme helps reduce water usage
by reducing the frequency of laundering linens in the guest rooms.

The wastes produced by the Group consists mostly of paper for office or
marketing materials, and plastic generated from water bottles provided to
guests at our casinos.

Notes:

) The increase in water usage is due to the increase in visitors to our business
locations in 2021 compared with 2020.

9) The reduction in water consumption intensity is due to the significant
increase of revenue in FY2021 compare with the previous year.
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Paper use

Steps have been taken to reduce our consumption of paper. We have
instructed employees to use electronic mails and documents in their office
works whenever possible, and use both sides of the paper.

FElimination of Plastic Use

Also, we have reduced our reliance on plastic products. At our food and
beverages outlets, plastic straws and takeaway boxes are being phased out
gradually and replaced with recyclable papers and eco-friendly materials.
At our hotels, water dispensers have been installed as an alternative to
bottled water.

Food Waste

We have also established a working guideline on the disposal of waste
produced from our kitchens. Recycling bins are readily available at
different locations. The kitchen staff are responsible for ensuring the wastes
they produced are disposed of or recycled appropriately. To minimise the
food waste and reduce the waste diverted to the landfill, we have also
installed food waste decomposers at our hotels.

Harbourview Hotel has been using a food-composting machine that
converts 120kg of food waste into water and Legend Palace’s food-
composting machine converts 150kg of food waste into fertiliser. The
fertiliser are utilised for MFW’s vegetation with leftovers donated to local
plant nurseries. We are concerned about the environment and composting
food prevents creation of methane that contributes to global warming. It
also decreases the number of truck deliveries to the landfills and thus
reductions in carbon footprint. This year, we are developing a centralised
waste treatment and recyclable center where waste will be sorted into:
Recyclables, Kitchen Waste, Hazardous Waste, Electrical Waste and
Others.

Cooking oil from our F&B operation is also recycled by licensed operators
to reduce potential burden on the wastewater treatment process as well as
to encourage recycling of useful substances.
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Construction Waste

As we undergo renovations of business premises, we set up construction
waste recycling points at our properties to collect and categorise
construction wastes produced by renovation works, in accordance with the
Construction Material Waste Management Regime of Macau.

Green Hotel

Legend Palace Hotel, Harbourview Hotel and Rocks Hotel have all been
awarded the Green Hotel for 2020-2022 by the Macau Government’s
Department of Renewable Energy.

To encourage our guests to participate in our Green Hotel Programme at
our hotels to reduce consumption and wastage of precious resources. Upon
check-in, we recommend the Programme to the guests who are staying for
more than three nights. No bottled water will be provided in the green
hotel rooms and the housekeeping staff will only replace linens, towels
and bathroom amenities every 4 days for the duration of the stay. Enrolled
guests will be rewarded with a MOP$100 voucher to be used in our food
and beverage outlets.

Macau Legend Development is a strong supporter of Earth Hour and is one
of the places to observe the ‘lights out’ once a week. The purpose is to
bring environmental awareness to staffs not only at work but also at home.
Green procurement is observed for the reduction of harmful emission and
energy and water conservation, details of which are set out in “Sustainable
Procurement Practices” section of this Report.
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Below shows the summary of the waste
operations.

generated from

our business

B {r Unit 2021 2020
4 % J% 3 P Non-hazardous waste
ARk " 10.87 8.90
Paper Tonnes
b . W@/ﬁﬁ%jﬁl&]\ 0.0096 0.0127
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue
g L
Plastic Tonnes 046 0.60
I "W E BT 0.0004 0.0008
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue
(B &E11)
B 8 " 54.86 -
Food Waste @« 1D Tonnes
i’ 1 Wi Y I8 A 00483 ]
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue ’
iy ﬁ bi j& (Bff 3% 12) m
363.90 264.2
Domestic Waste @t 12 Tonnes ? ?
b . W@/ﬁﬁ%jﬁl&]\ 0.3205 0.3772
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue
féi 3 )8 B ) Wi Hazardous waste o 19
JBE TR 3y ) W
Waste Batteries "¢ 4 Tonnes 118 -
i g Wi G A 00010 )
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue ’
ff 5E - Notes:
(10)  EE20204F HALL > J8§ 4 AE i 0 18 i iR (10)  The increase in waste generation is due to the increase in visitors to our
20214F B 55 A< 48 B Y 57 2 3G I i B o business locations in 2021 compared with 2020.
A1) FRAMIA 20214F 58 35 % Wi 4R R 0 AE2021 (11)  We have improved the data collection system to retrieve the information of
AR R B S W 2020 4F A BH EobE - food waste amount in 2021. Relevant data is not available in 2020.
(12) A FRAM PR T B sy AR HE S g A (12)  We have expanded the criteria for non-hazardous waste this year to include
G B RELE N > U AE RS R T 720204F domestic waste. Relevant data from 2020 is added back for this report.
10 AR B B o
(13)  FRAMA 20214 58 & BUIE Ik 4R & 1300 B 2021 (13)  We have improved the data collection system to retrieve the information of
EfEEREEYRE R Y ME20204F A1 B B9 - hazardous waste amount in 2021. Relevant data is not available in 2020.
(14)  FiA & 0 55 8 Tt ¥ ph A #4544 e [ (14)  All waste batteries discarded were recycled by a local service provider.
i
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e B BR AR SR PROMOTING ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS
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Recycling game booth
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To enhance our employees’ awareness of environmental protection,
we held a 2-day game booth event this July that was both fun and
educational.

15 e 7 2 2 3% B
Lai Si Envelope Recycle Activity

T TR JER B A T FAM 2 T P B AR SR A ) R
(] A5 3l o BRAM A 2 W) 2 A8 L B [ ACA o St i R B Y
2 52 B 55 R o )= (] Ui

During the Chinese New Year, we participated in the Lai Si
(Red Pocket) Envelope Recycle activity held by the Direcgdo dos
Servigcos de Proteccdo Ambiental (DSPA) of Macau. Collection
boxes were located around the company, and all recycled envelopes
were sent to the DSPA for recycling.

B & I WL 75 B
Mooncake Box Recycle Activity

FeAM 2 m T P B R G R B A 1 B S B - Sl Ak
T B 0 i B A AT [ o

We participated in the Mooncake Box Recycle Activity by the
DSPA and set up collection points for used mooncake boxes for
recycling.
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SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT PRACTICES

The Group’s procurement policy has integrated ESG factors to govern all
procurement and outsourcing decision-making processes.

T S T _E > DU A BR PR R AT S 4R R BR 5 B AR

On the strategic level, we keep our procurement decisions in line with the Group’s environmental objectives, namely:

) HIARETRAE IR
conserve energy and resources;

2) R [ A R Y P AN B P

minimise solid waste disposal and carbon emissions;
3) A HE B I A B A RS R BT R A R

promote waste diversion from landfill and sustainable procurement;

4y R FRAM AY B o BR BT 5 K

induce environmental improvement of our facilities; and
5)  ERIRBEME BARERAMM A L EE A R R 2

foster community engagement with our employees, guests and the public regarding environmental issues.
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The Group adopts the Green Purchasing Guidelines issued by the DSPA.

On the operation level, when sourcing for goods and products, the Group
goes beyond mere cost-effectiveness, but also integrates ESG factors into
consideration. Specifically, we assess the necessity, material composition,
origins, and producers and how the expired products are to be disposed of.
Whenever practicable, preferences are given to products that are certified
by reputable agencies and have the least environmental impact.

We have set the par levels of consumables, amenities and other supplies at
our hotels, subject to bi-annual review and adjustment based on the actual
consumption. Stock levels are closely monitored and kept at the minimum
level possible.

The Group’s suppliers and service providers must demonstrate their ESG
performance in the tendering process, which will form a crucial part of the
evaluation criteria for awarding business. We also demand our suppliers to
follow the laws and regulations and good labour practice. These include
workplace safety, fair wages and respecting human and children’s rights.

In addition, through engagement and knowledge exchange, we encourage
and influence our suppliers to improve their services, products and business
operation in order to reduce their environmental impact and promote
sustainability.
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A R A AR T B DLR b R R K Y During the Reporting Period, the Group collaborated with 1,764 suppliers
1,764 F A1t JE 7 & 1 - from the following countries and regions
# [y Macau 1,356
7 # Hong Kong 329
rft [ X B Mainland China 61
3 fib 55 M B & Other Asian countries 5
H b B % Other countries 13
48 5t Total 1,764
VLN % AR B Ak PEOPLE-ORIENTED CULTURE
BLTAFERIMN T - £ EME% > &M Employees underpin the success and achievement of a business. At Macau
R AEER R B TE BEFE - K Legend, we offer a career, not just a job. We aim at becoming the employer
A Fe) B RE 2 s B B T At AR A AR R Ak AR of choice and encourage excellence by promoting a performance culture
A H R R AR R A B L R T o and recognising staff contribution.
AEBMP-EFZFFE A= —HMZE The total workforce of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and 31
ST HET-HMB LA R December 2021 are summarised as follows:

& B 488
Total Workforce

1% A L1 7 #/ 7% By Gender

% 1 Male 1,076 1,130

% 1 Female 923 939
1% 0 i 55 72 3 4 By Employment Type

% B Full-time 1,999 2,069
% B L4 B 3 % By Age Group

(18-295% ) 18-29 331 328

(30-505%) 30-50 1,238 1,295

(KR505%) > 50 430 446
1% W B % 5 #] 4 By Position

) #% 45 P2 Ji§ Senior Management 13 13

% M JE & % Management/Supervisor 712 716

— i B T.General Staff 1,274 1,340
1% I %] % By Geographical Region

# ") Macau 1,994 2,061

7 # Hong Kong 3 5

H fib Other 2 3
4 51 Total 1,999 2,069
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DEVELOPING AN INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE WORKING
ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to creating an equal opportunity environment
for our staff. Our employment policy emphasises that the selection of
candidates is based only on factors relevant to the positions, including
skills, competencies, contributions and performance.

The Group strictly complies with relevant labour laws and regulations and
good labour practice. Child labour and forced labour are forbidden by the
Group. All applicants are required to go through suitable background check
and medical check prior to employment. Human resources personnel will
ensure all applicants receive fair treatment. During recruitment process, we
follow our interview procedures and our applicants accept the employment
offer based on their own will.

No material non-compliance case relating to labour standards was noted
by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Emphasising the Value of Our Employees

Effective communication with the staff is crucial in fostering positive
relations and work efficiency. Employees are encouraged to voice out their
concerns through their respective managers or management staff. The
Group has established a variety of channels through which our employees
can communicate to our management.

The human resources department can be reached by phone and email.
Staff can also make an appointment to meet with human resources
representatives. Less formal occasions such as tea gatherings are also
organised from time to time where all employees are welcome to join. The
staff relations team of the human resources department also manage the
opinion boxes set up at the staff canteens.

While we provide high quality dinning to our guests, we make sure our own
employees are also properly catered. Electronic surveys system have been
launched as a more accessible, convenient and environmentally-friendly
way to give feedback. Staff can rate their dining experience at the canteens
on food quality and variety, comfortability of the environment and quality
of services. The results are consolidated and analysed to identify areas
for improvement. During the Reporting Period, we received a total of 212
responses from different canteens.
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[ Lk fii i % Babylon Canteen 24
J§h £ i 5t it % Habourview Canteen 104
Ji#h & 1 % Legend Palace Canteen 84
3t Total 212
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FEmployee Feedback and Grievances

The Group takes any feedback and complaints seriously and is committed
to investigating and addressing any issues in a speedy manner. Any
opinions or complaints made by employees in good faith will be followed
through and investigated carefully by our management. Within a reasonable
extent, the identities of complainants will be protected and all reports will
be kept strictly confidential.

Whistle-blowing and Internal Investigation Mechanism

Upon receiving a report, the human resources department examines the
issue and redirects the report to the relevant departments and personnel.
If the report contains serious allegations, the senior management and the
Audit Committee will be notified to initiate an independent investigation.
The Committee reports regularly to the chairman of the Board, the chief
executive officer of the Company and the Board on the progress and
findings of the investigation. The reporting employee will also be informed
of the findings whenever appropriate.

The Group protects its employees who report violations out of goodwill
from any repercussions and retaliation. Interfering with an investigation
is strictly forbidden in the Group’s Code of Conduct (“Code of Conduct™)
and violators will be subjected to disciplinary actions.

Recreational and Team-building

We see our employees as part of the Macau Legend family, and we strive to
foster a close relationship among our community. To express our gratitude
to our staff, we organised recreational and team-building activities from
time to time for our employees to relax and have fun.
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20214F B T BE 4 UK #f 2021 Staff BBQ Party

L8 5 {6 25 T AE 55 Mother’s Day Fresh Floral Workshop
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We take care of the employees’ needs and concerns. In 2021, the turnover
rate of the Group is about 15%.

B L 2k K (%) Wit

Employee Turnover Rate (%) ®°t¢ 19

1% B L ¥ 5 #] % By Gender
%5 ¥k Male 17.0
4 1 Female 13.5
1% B L 4F it #/ 4} By Age Group
(fK 74 305%) Below 30 29.0
(30-5055% ) 30-50 10.9
(WA 505%) 250 179
1% 4 PE |57 15 %) 4 By Geographical Region
# "] Macau 15.3
7 # Hong Kong 66.7
H s Other -
TR 3 1 1 Employment Conditions

M2 IR P B BRI 5 =+ =4k > A4
RN K TR > IEW TAERH &8 K
JNIINIRE o 8 IRE AR 22 HE 04 45 43 Al AR 5 A 1
36 A 3T L AT -

FRAM B 7 M 7 S B AT~ B A R R R
HET > b 3t B B % R RRAR A Y AL B
JB o ELAE 5% A R0 JE B SR AE ) o B 4R fE AR A
(IR S

H VP B BRI - IR B AT T - 4
KB - R R BN
B~ T - AR MR AL -
5 ey T V90 LB D ok 6
H B4 -

AR B g T8RS B AR e Bk - B
BTHAEMEREERRN: RMAEEEE
TAE B T 4 o H At 45 7 4 AR B PR W
B RER AAM AE BE BN RS B R R g
(CE-Z R

Bt it
(1S) U2 % 1 T 5007 T 2 65 45 00103 40 R

TN # Bk DA AR 22021412 31 H 89 [7] — 171
B T4

In compliance with Article 33 of the Labour Relation Law of Macau, the
Group adopts a six-day workweek schedule and the normal working hours
are eight hours per day. Overtime work arrangement and compensation are
governed by Article 36 and 37 of the Law respectively.

Our remuneration packages are designed to attract, retain and motivate
high-quality employees. Additional rewards commensurate with their
performance and contributions are offered, including both monetary
bonuses and non-monetary rewards such as welfare provisions and
development opportunities.

In accordance with Macau’s Labour Relation Law, employees are entitled to
annual leave, weekly rest days, statutory holidays, sick and accident leave,
hospitalisation leave, work injury leave, maternity leave, compensation
leave and compassionate leave. In terms of insurance, our employees’
medical expenses are covered by our Company Medical Scheme.

The Group offers free accommodation arrangements for imported labour.
Some employees are also eligible to apply for housing allowance. We
provide 2 meals per day for all on-duty staff at the staff canteens or other
specified food and beverages outlets. They are also offered various discount
at the Group’s restaurants.

Notes:
(15)  Turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of leaving employee in

each category by the total number of employee in the same category as at
31 December 2021
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Employment might be terminated early by summary dismissal when an
employee is in serious breach of company code or committed an offense.
In the case of employee resigning, an exit interview will be conducted to
hear the resignee’s feedback and identify areas for improvement.

Occupational Health and Workplace Safety
Employee’s Health

The Group cares about our employees. Ensuring their health and well-
being remains a top priority of our human resources management policy.
All candidates have to complete the pre-employment medical check-up,
paid for by the Group, to determine whether they are physically fit for
the position. Employees are also entitled to annual medical check-ups.
Should any employees are diagnosed with significant medical conditions,
the human resources department will, whenever practicable, re-assign the
employee to an appropriate position within the Group.

Being one of the leading enterprises in the hospitality and entertainment
industry in Macau, our hotels provide hospitality services to a great number
of guests. Our frontline staff are, therefore, inevitably coming at the risk
of infectious diseases. To minimise such risk, the Group has established
working guidelines for the housekeeping team when guests are suspected
or found to be infectious virus carriers. Updated room cleaning instructions
are in effect in view of the development of the coronavirus pandemic. We
also hold seminars to enhance employees’ awareness of infectious diseases
and effective precautionary measures. During the Reporting Period, there
were 1,392 lost days due to work injury. There was no work-related fatality
in the past three years including the reporting year.

Workplace Safety

Routine workplace safety inspections are conducted in all of our
establishments to check the safety control measures in the following areas:

Maintenance of food lifts
and gas stoves

AR LR C D
Usage and storage of
knives

. kAR o MM KBMEARHHMER |- HME o B R
General safety Usage of stoves and hot Storage Equipment and machinery
. HBIERE food containers e ERLA . BRLRE
Fire safety . e JE Electrical safety Electrical safety
o KA Cold storage . IHPIZA o R PG bR W E KAl B
First-aid items . W T % M SR b B Fire safety Handling dangerous
Y A 7 substances and chemicals

HE
Noise management
B T8 TAE 7 ik
Ergonomic practices
22 AR
Working at height

T 2y WP NS SR B P B Tl TR &
A HCE R OR B A B TARRR o

74 PR A EATRAT 202144

We have developed working procedures for the kitchen staff of Macau
Fisherman’s Wharf on the safe use of cooking utensils and maintaining
hygiene.
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Safety Training

We partnered with the Macau Labour Affairs Bureau and organised the
Hotel & Catering Industry Safety Card training course for our employees
to provide them with the knowledge of relevant laws and regulations on
occupational safety and health, common hazards in the hotel, catering and
gaming industry, as well as measures and equipment to prevent accidents
and occupational hazards.

COVID-19 Measures

During the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has established a COVID-19
preparedness and response team which consists of our senior management
and different department in preventing the disperse of diseases. We are
fully aware of the potential consequences that may bring to our business
operation. We follow the governmental requirements, such as the display of
Macau Health Code at the hotel entrances or casinos and temporary closure
when the pandemic situation is severe. We have taken various preventative
measures, which included enhancement of ventilation of our office
buildings, installation of UV lights to the ventilation system, personal
preventive measures (body temperature screening, health declaration of
employees etc.)

To protect our customers and staff, we have exercised additional cleaning
procedures and sanitation processes to enable a smooth business operation
while offering full health protection to our staff and customers.

Staff Training and Career Development

To uphold our commitment of offering the employee more than just a job,
but a career, the Group’s staff are provided with all kinds of continuous
development opportunities, including vertical career advancement, on-job
coaching and horizontal career development, project-based exposure, as
well as external training courses or seminars. We encourage our employees
to discuss with their respective managers their development aspirations
so that we can offer them the best support they need along the way. In
general, employee training covers the following areas:

> e
Orientation for new recruits
> R E MO
Language and communication skills
> TN
On-job coaching
> HMANBEBEEE
Supervisory skills for managerial staff
> A FESF RIS
Company code training

> HEEERRE

Professional development programmes
> LR Rwftat &

Workshops and seminars
> Bk

Conferences
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A A [ N6 HE S R B IR B 2 A BE Y A The Group also nominates and sponsors employees to attend relevant
Bl A AR o i i AR o FRAM R A R B4R it external training sessions. During the Reporting Period, we have also
ESGHE 3l - DA 47 i T % ESG F 8 1) & 224 offered ESG training for our employees to understand better the importance
Jo B AT 7 8 3B Y AR - of ESG topics and how they relate to our business operation.
WA B TR A r The employee training data for the reporting year are as follows:
By A B (%) /N
Unit Number (%) Hour
Ak
Total 1,226 (61.3%) 2.37
#% B L1 5 3 %
By Gender
5k
Male 636 (51.9%) 2.46
Lk
Female 590 (48.1%) 2.27
1% B L ik % # %
By Employee Category
o AR B PR
Senior Management 13 (1.1%) 3.96
HHE/ TE
Management/Supervisor 427 (34.8%) 2.06
— AT
General Staff 786 (64.1%) 2.53
ZRERLEHFR
REEZFRA > A G 2 B R AT B B B e A R B BE
PR IAT B R B A I A E A BN SRR L EHHFE > @B TH
I 5% 4 A T N 2 B IR B > 9S04 B T2 e
National Security Education Exhibition
In May 2021, the Group visited the National Security Education Exhibition jointly
organised by the Macao SAR Government and the Liaison Office of the Central
People’s Government in the Macao SAR, to strengthen our employee’s awareness
of national security and their patriotism for the motherland and Macao. About 50
employees participated in the exhibition.
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Performance Appraisal and Career Development

To maintain and enhance the overall competitiveness of the Group, we
assess the performance of our staff regularly to identify if there are any
strengths to utilise and any needs for further training. For general staff,
the appraisal focuses on assessing their job skills, communication, team
works and attitude, whereas supervisor grade staff are assessed based on
their leadership, management skills and business aptitude.

When new vacancies are available, internal promotion or transfer of
suitable employees are given priority over new hires.

UPHOLDING HIGHEST SERVICE QUALITY

The industry of hospitality and entertainment is competitive in Macau, and
the Group is committed to providing services of the highest quality to our
guests and enhancing their experience. Our hotel staff are fully trained to
adhere to the customer service manual that established standards for their
behaviours, presentation and service manners.

For our food and beverages, strict instructions are communicated to the
restaurant staff. From food sourcing, delivery and storage, preparation to
serving, our quality control procedure ensures standards of hygiene and
food safety are maintained every step of the way.

Customer Satisfaction

The Group understands that the needs and expectations of its customers
are ever-changing. We are always evolving to stay in tune with the latest
market trend and client needs. During the pandemic, there has been a
noteworthy increase in family travellers. To respond to such trending, the
Harbourview Hotel has been stocked with a variety of kids amenities as
part of the enhancement of the babysitting services for guests in need,
including baby bed, child safety bar, faucet extender, toothbrushes etc.
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FeAM i 22 b P e e
Our Baby Care Facilities

ViE- 2 Fia kN Customer satisfaction survey

T G 0 AR 4% 2 N R A A Y B AT The hotel division conducts quantitative and qualitative analyses based on
7 REME I o FRAM R I A8 28 0 B ) the feedback from our customer satisfaction survey. We also compare our
ATHEAT BOHR - DATE 2 AP AR S i 6 5 34 o performance statistics against our peers to identify our relative strengths

and weaknesses.

TE20214F - 74 45 8] 48 S OR 7 05 i 10 % 5 I 2 In 2021, the Group continued to maintain a high level of customer
JE o b JEE Vi S5 A 0 30T T I A A N satisfaction. The Habourview Hotel and Rock Hotel had collectively
135> F54.22 (G 4354%) > #B i 86% 1Y % % & % achieved a customer satisfaction score of 4.22 out of 5, with over 86%
Al AP ) B B AT A TR A ) SR 75 o Rl Ak - JED of respondents rated their experience “Good” or “Excellent”. Likewise,
B 5 0 R T AT 4 454,39 (T 43 54)) visitors of Legend Palace Hotel rated their satisfaction level at 4.39 out
H90% 1) 52 35 EHABAM 18 A T TR 4F ) 8k of 5, and almost 90% of the respondent had given a “Good” or higher
FE e BT R o R i A AR B AT 0% W satisfaction rating for their stays. We will continue to keep track on the
BAGER - W= oK m IR E & - rating of our hotel performance and seek for a higher service quality.
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We also closely monitor our food and beverage services to make sure our
dining guests are able to attain the maximum level of enjoyment. Guests
are invited to give feedback and comments after finishing their meals. All
issues identified are reported to the managers and chefs for ratification
immediately.

Complaints Handling

Duty managers at our hotels are fully trained to handle complaints
courteously, sincerely and professionally. Complaints are investigated
immediately and redirected to appropriate departments or personnel for
follow up. During the Reporting Period, we did not receive material
service-related complaints.

MAINTAINING HIGHEST BUSINESS ETHICS
Responsible Gambling

The Group cooperates with the Macau government and various related
institutions to promote and participate in the promotion of responsible
gambling, so that both incumbents and new employees have the knowledge
and deeper understanding of responsible gambling.

Posters and logos of responsible gaming are visibly displayed at different
locations in our properties. Leaflets and gambling self-isolation service
forms are also made available at each exchange counter. We also set
up responsible gambling information kiosks at our properties to provide
a convenient and comprehensive way for our guests to access more
information about responsible gambling.

Privacy Protection

The Group has taken various steps to ensure the personal data of our guests
are protected according to the Personal Data Protection Act No. 8/2005 and
other applicable laws and regulations of Macau. Policies and procedures on
the handling and storage of private data are established to guide our front
desk staff in minimising the risk of privacy information leakage. All of
our guest data are stored on the safety database server, accessible only by
authorised IT personnel and technicians through designated the application
and devices within company grounds.
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Anti-corruption
Employee Code of Conduct

In addition to full compliance with all relevant laws and regulations in
Macau and Hong Kong, a firm commitment to the highest ethical standard
is expected from all of our staff, management and Directors. The Code
of Conduct sets forth principles and rules that govern employees’ conduct.
Any employee who violated the Code of Conduct will be subject to
disciplinary actions or even termination of employment.

Group Anti-corruption Policy

The Group considers business gifting customary to strengthen business
relations, and has established ground rules to regulate this practice to
ensure all the gifting between our staff and customers are lawful and
legitimate. Non-gaming employees are allowed to accept gifts that are of
modest nature and nominal in value, whereas casino staff are, in most
cases, forbidden from accepting gifts of any kind or amount. All employees
are advised to avoid receiving gifts from parties or companies that have
commercial relations with the Group.

Any provision of gifts, entertainment or benefits with the intention
beyond strengthening business relationships with the Group’s partners or
customers, such as influencing business decision-making, is considered
as bribery and will not be condoned. All transactions must be accurately
recorded into the accounts. Specific rules on business transactions have
also been communicated to all employees. Company auditor is also
responsible for assessing any risk of bribery and corruption.

Reporting procedure

The Group has established a reporting procedure and provided various
means for employees to report on any possible violations of the Code of
Conduct, applicable laws or regulations. For details please refer to the
“Whistle-blowing and Internal Investigation Mechanism” section above.

Anti-corruption training

In 2021, we organised a total of 200 hours and 1,334 hours of anti-
corruption training to the management and general staff respectively at our
gaming segment. We also conducted anti-money laundering tests for our
gaming staff to refresh their knowledge and practices to reduce the money
laundering threats.

During the Reporting Period, no legal case regarding corrupt practices was
brought against the Group or its employees.
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W 2 B COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION

A ARG AT AL I 19 A AT Ao A 6 A I vk We believe no business can succeed without the support of the community.
AL > AR L RE A AR 2 4 8 2 B R We are glad the take part in any opportunity to support charity in any area
FOEB RS F 2 NG 54 A4 and give back to society. This year, the Group held the following activities
B b S e T DL ATH) - for the community.

H B B W) 2 A

“ERIFTTH RMBEWM TR ATAE WA
05 G B e 2 % B AR 2 MERRE R -
Pet Adoption Carnival

In December 2021, we held a charitable carnival at Macau
Fisherman’s Wharf to promote pet adoption in collaboration with
the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Macau.

4 1l

A G [ B AR B P AR IO S R ALAR B TR I o S AFEEA
w3644 R B AR I -

Blood Donation

The Group organises employee blood donation with Macao Blood
Transfusion Service Center every year. This July, a total of 36
employees donated blood successfully.
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, which includes
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business development
and principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing,
discussion on the relationships with its key stakeholders and particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year ended 31 December 2021 are provided in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report. The Group has always been
committed to establish and improve the relationship with customers to gain
and maintain customers. The review forms part of the Directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 114 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 222 of this
annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY AND
EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the investment properties
and property and equipment of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 17,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the share options of the Company are disclosed under the below
section headed “Share Options” and in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
HK$48,544.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$4,859.7
million comprising share premium of approximately HK$4,163.8 million,
other reserve of approximately HK$202.3 million and accumulated
profits of approximately HK$493.6 million.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, subject to the provisions
of memorandum of association of the Company or the Articles of
Association, the Company’s share premium account may be applied
to pay distributions or dividends to shareholders, provided that
immediately following the date the distribution or dividend is proposed
to be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr Chan Weng Lin (Co-chairman & chief executive officer)
(resigned on 31 January 2022)

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Co-chairman)
(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Chief executive officer)
(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Mr Tsang Ka Hung (Chief tinancial officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David (Co-chairman)
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
Mr Li Chun Tak (appointed on 1 March 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

Mr Xie Min (resigned on 1 June 2021)

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (resigned on 3 February 2022)

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
(appointed on 1 June 2021)

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (appointed on 1 March 2022)

According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Ms Melinda Chan
and Mr David Chow shall retire by rotation at the 2022 AGM whereas
according to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr Wang
Hongxin, Mr Li Chun Tak and Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick shall hold office
until the 2022 AGM. Ms Melinda Chan, Mr Wang Hongxin, Mr Li Chun
Tak and Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the 2022 AGM. Mr David Chow informed the Company
that he will not offer himself for re-election as a Director at the 2022
AGM and will retire from office with effect from the conclusion of the
2022 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM
has a service contract with the Company that is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as referred to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors of the Company is currently in
force throughout the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy, dividends may
be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and
any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the shareholders’
approval.
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ERERERTBANRRAAF Z B K& DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
R B JBE oy ¥ R i % 95 AT AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY
WoE - —F+"HA=+—H > AT EHER As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short position of the Directors
EEATEON B A A KRR B 10 A AR B and chief executives of the Company in the Shares and underlying Shares,
55 e I B A9 S5 35205 T A Hh A 2 WD AE Y B as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section
R R0 Bk 2 M 5 M iR A > B 9 A e Sy [ 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
JEAN G A\ S Bt 2 HE 4R IR IR Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
(D) Ao ) By b A (1) Long Position in Shares of the Company
il % 47 I A 48 B
EEEY o Jie r B H R ONEpig:A
*Approximate
percentage of total
Name of Directors Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
B2 B SE 2 AN 6,661,000 0.11%
Mr Chan Weng Lin Beneficial owner
3 P M 2,051,485,252 33.08%

Controlled corporation

2,058,146,252 33.19%
JE] S 8 55 1 o AN 483,781,402 7.80%
Mr David Chow Beneficial owner
Fic {6 HE 25 129,690,066 2.09%
Interest of spouse
613,471,468 9.89%
e R &5 ZCPN 129,690,066 2.09%
Ms Melinda Chan Beneficial owner
i 16 HE 25 483,781,402 7.80%
Interest of spouse
613,471,468 9.89%
B 5 Notes:
1. % S I A e R % RSt A Y o2 T T 1. These Shares were held by Perfect Achiever Group Limited (“Perfect
FRBMARAF (EEXDFEA - Achiever”), a controlled corporation of Mr Chan Weng Lin.
2. ) S5 18 51 A kA5 3 2t TR o S 4% 2. Mr David Chow was deemed to be interested in these Shares
2 R RE A5 B A e T A RE A o through the interest of his spouse, Ms Melinda Chan.
3. B 2 6 2z L 0L Ry 3 o EL R 1 ) 8 3. Ms Melinda Chan was deemed to be interested in these Shares
P HE I RE £ 7 RS R TP A RE A o through the interest of her spouse, Mr David Chow.
* "R EF A= * The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by
H A R 45 2 e BOH BR DA 35 AT i the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2021.
Br¥E -
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2021, had registered an interest
or a short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTIONS
Share Option Scheme

On 5 June 2013, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme include, among others, the Directors, including
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, full-
time or part-time employees, executives or officers of the Group, advisors,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents. The Share Option Scheme
became effective on 5 July 2013 upon the Listing and shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The maximum number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and
to be granted to each eligible participant in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time. Any
grant or further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the Company.

Each grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, is subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, resulting
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person, in a 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, is subject to shareholders’ approval
in advance in a general meeting of the Company.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 87



= F W & ()

Directors’ Report (Continued)

B I A B B 2 A SO A R R
TR EE S MARFINC R AE S 24 %
30K A Wi B 7R 45 N AR Ao % o e 2 A
M 18] AR 2% ) S22 1 TT 2 R IE IR - S I TR
w2y B4 R N HEHA -

S MEE 2 A (0 T B A MRS T A R
N2 B @) B TR S Gi) B A E
I S 2 4 2 F I 58 T A A R T B A i
T8 5 M Gid) B A 23 B 40 B A A (M 4 2
H W 52 i 45 H e A8 2% o7 51 04 ~F- 3 Ui i -

LR A U 5 R T ) R ABE B 52 o O IR

BEAEWRE I > H AR R AT
BEAT IO RO A 88 623,217,787 » MG AN FIE
BATIEARK10% -

Vi B e R K

/AT 3 /A N e R O P AT
2 WY JB 2 T M S T A R A AT IR ) BTS2 AT ] 2
PE > Slofd 35 3 n] 25 A 2 ) BT 7 A vk
INEE - Piai Rt EoAlIRLE

EHRERRZ S - KRG H0HE R

BT ST I 2 52 oy | — B B 4 W 5 4 3R Y
AE10 B ALHR T 45 B A Ah > AR AR R B I
AT fo7 B [ MR 86 A7 A AR v )~ LM A - B
J& 7 ) B (7] A B 23w B RT o7 HLEE R e
TR B R v R N A R AR
ZHERZG  HHHEH -

88 PR A EATRAT 202144

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the
grantee and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document
constituting acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee,
together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of
consideration for the grant of the option, is received by the Company within
30 days after the date of offer.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the Directors, but
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares;
(ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the share options; and (iii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

The total number of Shares currently available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 623,217,787 Shares, representing approximately 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed “Connected
Transactions” and in notes 10 and 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed “Connected
Transactions” and in notes 10 and 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year under review.

Other than as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions” in this annual report and in notes 10 and 41 to the
consolidated financial statements, there is no contract of significance for
the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the
controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

WoECFT AT H BEHENE
R 8 25 I ) B 0 9] SR 336 10 ML E i AR 2 T
rEREGR ST MTHE > NS (R ar#
=+ ETATBON BRSNS AR B A

As at 31 December 2021, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
parties (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
interests or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant

oA R AR R to section 336 of the SFO:
O AARATG TR (1) Long position in Shares of the Company
A OB AT I O AR B
wHREA 5 ity 8 H A ES L
*Approximate
percentage of total
Name of Directors Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
3 Hi AN 2,051,485,2520 33.08%
Perfect Achiever Beneficial owner
Wu Jo Hsuan% =+ c A A 2,058,146,252@ 33.19%
Ms Wu Jo Hsuan Interest of spouse
Elite Success BiAa A 1,012,599,750 16.33%
Elite Success Beneficial owner
2R A Hi AN 107,726,429 1.74%
Mr Li Chi Keung Beneficial owner
Z P 1,012,599,750% 16.33%
Controlled corporation
1,120,326,179 18.07%
R ZYELE 1,012,599,750% 16.33%
Ms Wong Hoi Ping Controlled corporation
e {1 HE £ 107,726,429 1.74%
Interest of spouse
1,120,326,179 18.07%
B i 2 4+ Hi AN 75,664,000 1.22%
Ms Chan Un Chan Beneficial owner
Z 937,104,609 15.11%
Controlled corporation
1,012,768,609 16.33%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. e DN 934,269,609© 15.07%

90

Earth Group Ventures Ltd.

Beneficial owner
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Notes:

1. These Shares were held by Perfect Achiever, a controlled corporation
of Mr Chan Weng Lin.

2. Ms Wu Jo Hsuan was deemed to be interested in these Shares through
the interest of her spouse, Mr Chan Weng Lin.

3. These Shares were held by Elite Success (a company in which Mr
Li Chi Keung and Ms Wong Hoi Ping, spouse of Mr Li Chi Keung,
held 51% and 39% of the total issued capital, respectively).

4. Ms Wong Hoi Ping was deemed to be interested in these Shares
through the interest of her spouse, Mr Li Chi Keung.

5. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd. and UNIR
(HK) Management Limited, controlled corporations of Ms Chan Un
Chan.

6. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd., a controlled
corporation of Ms Chan Un Chan.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by
the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
corporation or individual (other than a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) who, as at 31 December 2021, had registered an
interest or a short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The
Group strives to minimize the environmental impact by saving electricity
and encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. Details of
the environmental policies of the Group are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into certain continuing connected transactions,
details of which are set out below:

Continuing connected transactions which are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement

(1) Amigo Travel Service Agreement

On 05 June 2013, the Company and Amigo Travel (Macau) Limited
(“Amigo Travel”) entered into a framework agreement (the “Amigo
Travel Service Agreement”) for the procurement of travelling,
ticketing and transportation services to the Group for an initial term
commencing from the Listing Date to 31 December 2015, which was
subsequently renewed and supplemented. On 07 November 2016,
the Company and Amigo Travel renewed the Amigo Travel Service
Agreement for a term of three years from 01 January 2017 to 31
December 2019, and to set the corresponding annual caps. On 10
December 2019, the Company and Amigo Travel further renewed
the Amigo Travel Service Agreement (collectively, the “Amigo
Agreements”) for a term of three years from 01 January 2020 to 31
December 2022, and to set the corresponding annual caps. The other
terms of the Amigo Travel Service Agreement remain unchanged.

Amigo Travel is an associate of Mr David Chow as the shareholders
of Amigo Travel are Ms Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques and Mr Adriano
Dillon Guerrero Pinto-Marques, the parents of Mr Adrian Pinto-
Marques, the son-in-law of Mr David Chow and is therefore a
connected person of the Company.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Pursuant to the Amigo Agreements, the Group shall procure
travelling, ticketing and transportation services from Amigo Travel
to support the business travelling needs of the Group at the service
fees as determined on an arm’s length basis and by reference to the
prevailing market price for comparable types of services in the same
industry based on the market research conducted by the parties to
the Amigo Agreements from time to time. In addition, the Group
shall lease the hotel rooms to Amigo Travel from time to time upon
the terms and conditions contained in the Amigo Agreements. The
annual caps for total service fees paid or payable by the Group to
Amigo Travel in relation to the traveling, ticketing and transportation
services for each of the three financial years ending 31 December
2020, 2021 and 2022 shall not exceed HK$3.4 million, HK$4.1
million and HK$4.4 million, respectively. The annual caps for total
service fees received or receivable by the Group from Amigo Travel
in relation to the leasing of hotel rooms for each of the three financial
years ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 shall not exceed
HK$1.2 million, HK$1.4 million and HK$1.5 million, respectively.

The amount paid/payable by the Group to Amigo Travel for the
provision of travelling, ticketing and transportation services under
the Amigo Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
approximately HK$1.646 million.

The amount received/receivable by the Group from Amigo Travel
for the leasing of hotel rooms under the Amigo Agreements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$53,000.

Lai Ou Laundry Service Agreement

On 26 April 2018, the Company and Lai Ou Industrial Limited (“Lai
Ou”), entered into a service agreement in relation to the provision
of the laundry management service to the Group (“Lai Ou Laundry
Service Agreement”). On 10 December 2019, the Company and Lai
Ou renewed the Lai Ou Laundry Service Agreement for a term
of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022, and to
adjust the corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the Lai Ou
Laundry Service Agreement remain unchanged.

Lai Ou is a company incorporated in Macau and is ultimately owned
by Mr David Chow and Ms Melinda Chan. Lai Ou is an associate of
Mr David Chow and is therefore a connected person of the Company.
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Pursuant to the Lai Ou Laundry Service Agreement, Lai Ou shall
provide

(i) the exclusive area; (ii) the management service for the laundry
service centre in such exclusive area, and (iii) the management,
maintenance and security service for such exclusive area. As
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10 December
2019, the annual caps for the aggregate amount payable by the Group
to Lai Ou pursuant to the service agreement for the three financial
years ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 shall not exceed
HK$21.3 million, HK$23.6 million and HK$26.1 million.

Lai Ou had been sold to the third party by 10 May 2021 and is no
longer considered as connected transaction.

Sale and Purchase Agreement of Aircraft

On 18 October 2021, Arcwealth Global Investment and Management
Limited (buyer) and the Company (Seller), entered into the sale and
purchase agreement.

Buyer is a company incorporated in Macau and is ultimately owned
by Mr Donald Chow and Ms Melinda Chan, each of whom is an
associate of Mr David Chow, Buyer is an associate of Mr David
Chow and is therefore a connected person of the company.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, Buyer agreed to
purchase and the Company agreed to sell the Aircraft (Embraer
Legacy 600). As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 18 October 2021, the aggregate amount receivable by the
Group to Buyer pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement for the
financial year ending 31 December 2021 was HK$10.0 million.

The Completion took place on 31 December 2021 in accordance
with the terms and conditions as set out in the sale and purchase
agreement.

The amounts received/receivable by the Group from buyer under the
sale and purchase agreement for the year ended 31 December 2021
was approximately HK$5.0 million.
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Annual Review by Independence non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2021
and have confirmed that the transactions have been entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to report on the continuing connected transactions
of the Group. The auditor was engaged in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has reported to the Board and issued
an unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group above in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS — INDIRECT
PARTICIPATION IN THE GAMING PROMOTION
BUSINESS THROUGH NEW LEGEND

Reference is made to pages 225 to 230 of the Prospectus and the
announcement published by the Company on 31 December 2013. The
Company intends to participate in the gaming promotion business
indirectly through the VIE Structure in order to diversify its business
and increase the revenue contribution from the VIP tables. However, the
Company is not allowed under Macau laws to participate directly in the
gaming promotion business through a subsidiary. Shareholders of any
corporate gaming promoter must be natural persons. As a result, the Group
adopted the VIE Structure by entering into the VIE Agreements among
Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr Frederick Yip, where appropriate, which
would allow the Group to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion
business and have a greater control over the management and marketing
of the VIP rooms operated by New Legend in the casinos located in its
properties, as well as enhance its market footprint and receive a higher
percentage of gross gaming revenue generated by the gaming tables in
these VIP rooms.
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Information of New Legend

New Legend is a company incorporated in Macau by Mr Frederick Yip,
as the sole shareholder and sole director, which engages in the gaming
promotion business in Macau. New Legend first obtained a gaming
promoter licence from the DICJ on 10 June 2013, which was subsequently
renewed by the DICJ on 12 December 2013. The current gaming promoter
licence of New Legend is valid until 31 December 2021 and has to be
renewed upon submission of an application to the DICJ each year.

Mr Frederick Yip is the sole shareholder and sole director of New
Legend. He was appointed as the executive vice president and head of
casino operations of the Company on 5 June 2013. Since 1 January 2022,
Mr Frederick Yip has been appointed as consultant of the Company.

Revenue and assets subject to the VIE Agreements

The amount of revenue and assets subject to the VIE Agreements
attributable to the Group accounted for approximately 10.4% and
approximately 2.2% of the consolidated revenue and consolidated total
assets, respectively, of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Summary of the major terms of the VIE Agreements

The VIE Agreements currently in effect comprise (i) the Exclusive
Management and Consultancy Services Agreement; (ii) the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement; (iii) the Transfer of Profit and Loan
Agreement; (iv) the Share and Equity Pledge Agreement; and (v) the Power
of Attorney entered into among Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr Frederick
Yip, where appropriate.
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A summary of the major terms of the VIE Agreements are set out below:

@)

Exclusive Management and Consultancy Services Agreement

Date:
Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014
(a) Hong Hock; and (b) New Legend
Effective upon the satisfaction of the conditions

the VIE Agreements (the
shall terminate upon the

precedent under
“Conditions”) and
termination of the Service Agreement. Hong
Hock may terminate the Exclusive Management
and Consultancy Services Agreement at any time
by delivering a written notice to New Legend.
In no circumstances shall New Legend have any
right to terminate the Exclusive Management and
Consultancy Services Agreement other than as

required by applicable law.

New Legend shall engage Hong Hock on an exclusive
basis to provide comprehensive management and
consultancy services in relation to the VIP room(s)
promoted by New Legend for SJM from time to time
(the “Consultancy Services”).

In consideration of the provision of the Consultancy
Services, New Legend agrees to pay the fees
due from SJM to Hong Hock, which will be
equivalent to 100% of the total before-income-tax
consolidated profits of New Legend (such profits to
be calculated after deducting all reasonably incurred
costs, expenses and taxes (except income taxes)
in connection with the business operation of New
Legend).

In the event of a gross gaming loss incurred in
the VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend for any
given month, Hong Hock agrees that New Legend
shall not be required to reimburse and indemnify
Hong Hock any amount as New Legend’s pro-
rata share in the losses and expenses of such VIP
room(s) promoted by New Legend pursuant to the
cooperation agreement entered into between Hong
Hock and New Legend dated 3 July 2013. As a
result, in the event of a gross gaming loss incurred
in the VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend, Hong
Hock shall bear 57% (that is, including the share of
gross gaming loss of New Legend prior to the VIE
Structure) of the gross gaming loss incurred in such
VIP room(s).
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i) B 5 B (ii)  Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement

H - F—M4aEmM A+ H Date: 16 April 2014

AT @Em )HEER e Parties: (a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and (c) Mr Frederick
SEESEE Yip

AR - B2 A A R AR 8 B K Term: Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions
1E IR B kI R o R AR and shall terminate upon the termination of the
AP DR E O R ) BE B g Service Agreement. Hong Hock may, at its discretion,
g A Ko B R 9% o T terminate the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell
K 118 5% B B RS ko Agreement by written notice to Mr Frederick Yip and
FR i@}ﬂ AR L New Legend. In no circumstances shall Mr Frederick
B A O ) B A AT Yip and/or New Legend have any right to terminate
o175 0L IR 0 RE Sk K the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement other
4 55 7K it Tk o than as required by applicable law.

TN - BEL A RS v ] & Subject: Mr Frederick Yip shall irrevocably and unconditionally
I AR A R 1) 05 A B AR undertake to sell to Hong Hock or any person or
W IR7 T AN IR 388 72 1Y AT AT A persons designated by Hong Hock (the “Designated
T (M8 2 N £ ]) & 8 3E 4 Persons”) at its option at any time and from time
ST AR T B B 1 4 to time, to the extent permitted under the laws and
BB 53 B B FREHEHE 5 (6 45 regulations of Macau and subject to the consent
A BE B8 % ol A FE A R B from the DICJ, all or a portion of Mr Frederick Yip’s
A 7B BR B A0y B I REE 4R share and equity interests in New Legend (including
PE X TSy PR all present and future rights and benefits based
7R i T Wk B A AR 0 AT on the current share and equity interests in New
o] BE A1 7 B B A 0 P A Legend held by Mr Frederick Yip and any additional
B B AR A HE R T Bl #2) interests in New Legend acquired by Mr Frederick Yip
M ZE 2 RBP4 B i K subsequent to the date of the Exclusive Undertaking
ST B )R R o to Sell Agreement).

B 5 R S AT e i New Legend shall irrevocably and unconditionally
A AR ) 08 A 8 B R B R undertake to sell to Hong Hock or the Designated
7 338 2 1Y 48 E N T 8 R Persons at its option at any time and from time to
BBl B2 1) A R B 40 (R time, to the extent permitted under the laws and
TEITA BLA G E RN R regulation of Macau and subject to the consent
5 R w1 R H A i from the DICJ, all or a portion of the assets of
R AT: e B S 7 ) B ) New Legend (including all existing assets and
M 6 9B BRI P 3 8 K v B any additional assets of New Legend acquired
R /& - subsequent to the date of the Exclusive Undertaking
to Sell Agreement).
VB R4 3 I B IRE R D) Hong Hock may exercise its rights under the
AT A] 7 AT fo H AE ) K 8 Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement at any time
R h ek T 2 HER i and in any manner at its sole discretion, and the
25 HE R0 AT (0 08 2 45 85 1 exercise price of each of the rights would be one
9 ¥ (100,000 8 F9 #5) o hundred thousand Patacas (MOP100,000).
BE AL AR e A R (P Mr Frederick Yip shall undertake that, among other
$5) 15 R B H B G Bl things, he shall not sell, transfer, mortgage, create
L 2 By Z AT AT 35 G2 5 any security interest in, or dispose of in any other
B 4 HE 4 B B B 5 A A form, any legal or beneficial interest in his share
HEHE i sl DL HL R S AT A 4 and equity interest in New Legend, and that, among
PR RE 25 3% DLAE o] At % = other things, he shall not alter, amend or revise the
1 B SE ARG (A articles of association of New Legend in any way,
i) WK A g DT Ao T 2 increase or decrease the registered capital of New
U B BB FT R R 2 Legend, or change the structure of the registered
A Ak = R A0 R ~ 1 e e capital of New Legend, in any form.
bt i B 2 s A LA
AT ol 12 X H B0 i B 2 5
i & A B2 A o
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Transter of Profit and Loan Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and (c) Mr Frederick
Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions
and shall terminate upon repayment in full of the
loan by New Legend and the performance and
discharge of all of its obligations under the Transfer
of Profit and Loan Agreement. In no circumstances
shall New Legend or Mr Frederick Yip be entitled to
cancel or terminate the Transfer of Profit and Loan
Agreement.

New Legend agrees to transfer and pay to Hong Hock
all profits (if any) accrued by New Legend from 03
July 2013 until the commencement of the VIE Structure
within five days following the satisfaction of the
Conditions.

In support of the day-to-day operations of New
Legend, Hong Hock agrees to, at its discretion,
make available an interest-free revolving loan to New
Legend from time to time (the “Loan”) as working
capital for the operation of the gaming promotion
business of New Legend, including, but not limited
to, for the purposes of extending credits to its VIP
patrons and paying its share of gross gaming loss
suffered by New Legend (if any) in conducting its
gaming promotion business in VIP room(s) promoted
by New Legend for SJM from time to time.

The Loan shall be repayable upon the occurrence
of an accelerating event, for example, Mr Frederick
Yip’s employment with the Group is terminated or
otherwise ceases, Mr Frederick Yip or New Legend
becomes bankrupt or insolvent, or bankruptcy or
insolvency proceedings are initiated with respect
to Mr Frederick Yip or New Legend, or in the
sole opinion of Hong Hock, the Loan should be
immediately repayable by New Legend.

In the event that the Loan becomes repayable and
New Legend fails to repay all or part of the Loan
and such failure continues for a period of 10 days
after a written notice from Hong Hock to New
Legend specifying such failure is served on Hong
Hock, Hong Hock shall be entitled to enforce the
share and equity pledge under the Share and Equity
Pledge Agreement, and a default interest rate of 2%
per annum shall be applied to the outstanding Loan.
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(iv) Share and Equity Pledge Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and (c) Mr Frederick
Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions and
shall remain in effect until all of the obligations of Mr
Frederick Yip and New Legend under the Exclusive
Management and Consultancy Services Agreement,
the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement, the
Transfer of Profit and Loan Agreement and the
Power of Attorney (including each and every renewal
or replacement of such agreements or any such
agreements as amended, modified or supplemented
from time to time) (the “Secured Obligations”) are
satisfied and discharged in full. Hong Hock shall be
entitled to enforce the pledge against Mr Frederick
Yip in accordance with the terms of the Share
and Equity Pledge Agreement in the event that Mr
Frederick Yip fails to pay or perform any of the
Secured Obligations.

Mr Frederick Yip shall agree to pledge all share
and equity interests in New Legend legally held by
Mr Frederick Yip (including all present and future
rights and benefits derived from such share and
equity interests), and any additional interests in
New Legend acquired or held by Mr Frederick Yip
subsequent to the date of the Share and Equity
Pledge Agreement to Hong Hock, as continuing
first priority collateral security for the performance
of the Secured Obligations at a fixed sum, which
the amount is set in the Share and Equity Pledge
Agreement for registration purposes.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Power of Attorney

Date:
Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014
(a) Mr Frederick Yip; and (b) Hong Hock

Effective upon execution and shall continue to be
valid during the period Mr Frederick Yip remains a
shareholder of New Legend.

Mr Frederick Yip shall, among other things,
irrevocably and unconditionally undertake to
authorise Hong Hock or any members of the board
of directors of Hong Hock and their respective
estates, successors, assignees or liquidators to
exercise on his behalf the full shareholder’s rights
under the articles of association of New Legend and
applicable Macau laws and regulations in respect
of his share and equity interest in New Legend,
including but not limited to (i) the right to request
for, convene and attend shareholder’s meetings,
and pass and execute shareholder’s resolutions of
New Legend, (ii) the right to vote in a shareholder’s
meeting, sign minutes, and file documents with the
relevant companies registry, and (iii) all shareholder’s
rights prescribed by applicable laws and regulations
and the articles of association of New Legend,
including, without limitation to, the right to appoint
and remove directors and senior management,
voting rights, the rights to sell, transfer, pledge or
otherwise dispose of all or part of the rights relating
to his share and equity interest in New Legend and/
or assets of New Legend, the right to receive surplus
assets (if any) after settlement of all outstanding
liabilities upon liquidation of New Legend and the
right to demand payment of, and receive dividends
declared by, New Legend.
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As indicated on page 230 of the Prospectus, the Company would
treat Mr Frederick Yip as a connected person and will comply with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of any transactions
between the Group, Mr Frederick Yip and New Legend upon
commencement of the VIE Structure. Accordingly, the entering into
of the VIE Agreements also constitutes a connected transaction
and the transactions contemplated under the VIE Structure
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company. The
entering into of the VIE Agreements is subject to the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

A wavier has been granted by the Stock Exchange regarding strict
compliance with the requirements of setting (i) a fixed term for
the VIE Agreements of no more than three years pursuant to Rule
14A.52 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) a maximum aggregate annual
value (that is, an annual cap) for the fees payable by New Legend to
Hong Hock and the amount of loan to be made available by Hong
Hock to New Legend under the VIE Structure pursuant to Rule
14A.53 of the Listing Rules, subject to certain conditions. Further
details of the VIE Structure are set out in the Company’s circular
dated 9 June 2014.

Annual Review by independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the VIE Structure
annually and confirmed that: (i) the transactions carried out during the
year ended 31 December 2021 have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the VIE Structure, so that the revenue generated
by New Legend (after deducting all reasonably incurred costs, expenses,
taxes and working capital) has been substantially retained by Hong Hock,
(ii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by New Legend
to the holder(s) of its share and equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and (iii) no new
contracts have been entered into, renewed and/or cloned between the Group
and New Legend during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the transactions
under the VIE Structure in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA.
The auditor has reported to the Board and issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Risks associated with the VIE Structure

The risks associated with the VIE Structure were set out on pages 21 to

23 of the Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014 and are set out below:

a

2

Risks relating to the exposure to potentially higher gross gaming
loss

Under the current profit and loss sharing arrangements with the
designated gaming promoters, including New Legend prior to the
VIE Structure, the Group receives only 2% of the gross gaming
revenue generated from the VIP rooms operated by such gaming
promoters who receive 40% of the gross gaming revenue and up
to 15% of the gross gaming revenue for expense reimbursement. In
the event of a gross gaming loss incurred in the VIP rooms, the
Group is responsible for only 2% and the gaming promoters are
responsible for 55% of the gross gaming loss incurred in such VIP
rooms promoted by them. While the indirect participation in the
gaming promotion business would allow the Group to increase its
share of the gross gaming revenue generated from the VIP room(s)
operated by New Legend to 42% and receive expense reimbursement
of up to 15% of the gross gaming revenue, in the event of a gross
gaming loss incurred in the VIP room(s) operated by New Legend
for any given month, the Group shall bear 57% of the gross gaming
loss incurred in such VIP room(s).

Risks relating to the potential conflict of interests of Mr
Frederick Yip

Under the VIE Structure, the Group relies on New Legend and
Mr Frederick Yip’s performance of their contractual obligations
to exercise effective control. However, Mr Frederick Yip may
not act in the best interests of the Group or may not perform his
obligations under the VIE Agreements. Such risks exist and are
expected to continue to exist throughout the period in which the
Company intends to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion
business through the VIE Structure. In addition, as the Company
is advised by its insurance brokers that the enforcement of the
VIE Agreement is considered as a business or trade risk, which is
generally not a subject which is capable to be insured, the Company
has not purchased any insurance to cover the risks relating to the
enforcement of the VIE Agreements. Therefore, the VIE Structure
may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing the
Company with control over New Legend.
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Mr Frederick Yip is the sole shareholder and sole director of New
Legend. The Company provides no incentives to Mr Frederick Yip
for the purpose of encouraging him to act in the Company’s best
interests in his capacity as the sole shareholder and sole director
of New Legend. Although the Company may, upon approval from
the DICJ, replace the shareholder of New Legend pursuant to the
Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement, and Mr Frederick Yip has
executed the Power of Attorney to authorise Hong Hock or members
of the board of directors of Hong Hock and their respective estates,
successors, assignees or liquidators to exercise on his behalf the full
shareholder’s rights in respect of his share and equity interests in
New Legend, the Company cannot assure that when conflicts arise,
Mr Frederick Yip will act in the best interests of the Company or
that the conflicts will be resolved in favour of the Company.

Risks relating to the obtaining of DICJ approval

The Company adopts the VIE Structure in order to indirectly
participate in the gaming promotion business and will unwind the
VIE Structure as soon as the law allows the gaming promotion
business in Macau to be operated without the VIE Structure.
However, the Company’s acquisition of Mr Frederick Yip’s share and
equity interest in New Legend and/or assets of New Legend may
only be conducted to the extent as permitted by applicable Macau
laws and will be subject to the required approvals and procedures
under applicable Macau laws and may also be subject to substantial
costs.

Risks relating to the loss of gaming promoter licence

The current gaming promoter licence of New Legend is valid until
31 December 2021 and has to be renewed upon submission of an
application to the DICJ each year. The renewal application must
include a declaration duly signed by the legal representative of SJIM
stating an interest in working with New Legend in the year after the
renewal application. The DICJ may, at its discretion, set conditions
for renewal of the gaming promoter licence. The gaming promoter
licence of New Legend may or may not be successfully renewed
each year. If New Legend fails to renew its gaming promoter licence,
it will be prohibited from conducting gaming promotion activities,
which will affect the implementation of the VIE Structure. In this
event, the business, financial condition and results of operations of
the Group may be materially and adversely affected.
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Risks relating to the termination of the gaming promotion
agreement

Pursuant to the gaming promotion agreement entered into between
New Legend and SJIM dated 20 June 2013, the agreement may
be terminated (i) by mutual agreement, or (ii) if any party to the
agreement cannot carry out its obligations under the agreement and
this results in a material breach of the terms of the agreement. If New
Legend fails to carry out its obligations under the gaming promotion
agreement and this results in a material breach of the terms of the
agreement, SJM may terminate the gaming promotion agreement. If
the gaming promotion agreement is terminated, New Legend may
not be able to conduct its gaming promotion business until a new
gaming promotion agreement is entered into with SJM, which will
affect the implementation of the VIE Structure. In this event, the
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group
may be materially and adversely affected.

Risks relating to the VIE Agreements

The Company is not allowed under Macau laws to participate
directly in the gaming promotion business through a subsidiary.
According to Article 4.1 of Macau Administration Regulation No.
6/2002 (as amended by Macau Administration Regulation No.
27/2009), shareholders of any corporate gaming promoter must
be natural persons. Given the legal restrictions and after having
considered the business potential of gaming promotion, the Company
intends to participate in the gaming promotion business indirectly
through the VIE Structure in order to diversify its business and
increase the revenue contribution from the VIP tables. The Group
obtained the requisite approval from the DICJ on 6 February
2014. Notwithstanding that the Group has obtained approval from
the DICJ, the DICJ may withdraw or revoke the approval at their
discretion if they consider that the VIE Structure does not comply
with applicable laws and regulations which are in force in Macau
from time to time, and the Company may be prohibited from
indirectly participating in the gaming promotion business through
the VIE Structure. In this event, the business, financial condition and
results of operations of the Group may be materially and adversely
affected.
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Risks relating to collaborators and VIP patrons

New Legend relies on the services of the collaborators which
work with it to market its business and attract VIP patrons. The
collaborators may choose to work with any licensed gaming
promoters in Macau. There is no assurance that the collaborators
will not work with competitors of New Legend and New Legend may
lose the services of its collaborators in the future. If New Legend
loses a significant number of its collaborators to its competitors, the
business, financial condition and results of operations of New Legend
and the Group may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group recognises the possibility that VIP patrons may attempt
or commit fraud or cheat in order to increase winnings, at times
in collusion with the employees in the VIP room(s) promoted by
New Legend. Failure to discover such schemes in a timely manner
could result in losses in the VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend.
In addition, negative publicity related to such schemes could have
a material and adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, thereby
adversely affecting the business, cash flow, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects of the Group.

Risks relating to the exposure to credit risk on credit extended
to VIP patrons by New Legend

As a licensed gaming promoter, New Legend may extend credits
to its VIP patrons. However, New Legend may not have access to
a forum in which it will be able to collect gaming debts because,
among other reasons, courts of many jurisdictions, including China,
do not enforce gaming debts. Further, it may be unable to locate
assets in other jurisdictions against which to seek recovery of
gaming debts. The collectability of gaming debts from international
customers could be negatively affected by future business or
economic trends or by significant events in the countries in which
these customers reside. Failure to minimize such risk exposure may
materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and
results of operations of the Group.
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Actions taken to mitigate the above risks

The Group has adopted the following measures to mitigate the above risks:

(a)  the Board has reviewed on a regular basis major issues arising from
implementation of the VIE Agreements as part of the internal control
measures;

(b)  the Board has discussed and reviewed regularly to ensure that the
operations of the VIE Structure comply with the applicable laws and
regulations;

(¢)  the Group has adopted internal control and anti-money laundering
policies and related procedures in relation to the gaming promotion
business which are currently adopted by New Legend since the
commencement of the VIE Structure;

(d) the independent non-executive Directors had conducted and will
continue to conduct annual reviews on the VIE Agreements to ensure
that they are fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the
Group and its Shareholders as a whole;

(¢) the auditor of the Company had been engaged to provide an
independent assurance report on continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the VIE Agreements as disclosed in this annual
report;

(f)  the Group has retained legal adviser and/or other professionals
to assist the Group in dealing with specific issues arising from
the continuing connected transactions in accordance with VIE
Agreements; and

(g) the senior management of the Company has regularly reported to
the Board on the operations of New Legend.

Change of circumstances

As at the date of this annual report, there has been no material change
in the VIE Agreements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted. The restriction under Macau laws for participation directly in the
gaming promotion business through a subsidiary of the Company is still
in existence.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are reviewed and determined by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to, inter alia, the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As stated in the Supplemental Prospectus, the Company has applied for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
the minimum public float requirement of 25% and the Stock Exchange
accepted a lower percentage of 19.04% (the “Public Float Waiver”). Based
on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, the
Company maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
and as required by the Public Float Waiver.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2021, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 83.8% of the Group’s revenue with the largest customer,
SIM, accounted for approximately 79.4% of the Group’s revenue.

In 2021, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 64.5% of the Group’s total purchases with the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 33.6% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate of a Director
or a shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The interests of Directors (other than independent non-executive Directors)
in a business apart from the Group’s business, which competes or is likely
to compete either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business (or any
changes thereof) as informed by the relevant Directors pursuant to Rule
8.10(2)(b) and Rule 8.10(2)(c) respectively of the Listing Rules are as
follows:

a) Mr Li Chu Kwan is a director of a company which operates Waldo
Casino. He is also a director of a company which, through its
subsidiary, operates Waldo Hotel. Waldo Casino and Waldo Hotel
are engaged in casino operation and hotel business in Macau,
respectively;

b) Mr Chan Weng Lin resigned as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 31 January 2022; and

c) Mr Tsang Ka Hung ceased to be an executive director of Tak Chun
Group in December 2021.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed by separate
entities with independent management and administration.

The Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s-length from, the businesses of
above-mentioned entities. When making decisions, the relevant Directors,
in performance of their duties as Directors of the Company, have acted
and will continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above and in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus,
none of the Directors is considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

SIM has provided with the Group a confirmation dated 4 February 2022
that its anti-money laundering policies and procedures implemented in the
casinos and gaming premises at The Landmark Macau and MFW were in
full compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements of
the Macau government for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.
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¥ B AUDITOR

ARANFRGER F T CAERFEAFERG ERE A resolution will be submitted to the 2022 AGM to re-appoint Ernst
T 2 AT LK G R S T A R A% BT & Young as auditor of the Company.

MR % -

R S On behalf of the Board

JI 85 R Chow Kam Fai, David

VRN & Rk Co-chairman and non-executive Director

SEAENAZFAH 28 June 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

&K & A S0 T Tel & &fi: +852 2846 9888
B s 1) £RUT 5 2307998 Fax {8 71: +852 2868 4432
KT Y7 — FE27#% ey.com

To the members of Macau Legend Development Limited
W % A A PR A W]
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Macau
Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 114 to 222,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties
and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial
statements as described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our
report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$788 million as at 31
December 2021 and recorded a net loss of HK$1,206 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The Group’s total bank borrowings amounted
to HK$2,359 million, of which HK$207 million will be due for repayment
within the next 12 months from the reporting date, while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to HK$133 million as at 31 December 2021. The
remaining bank borrowings in the amount of HK$2,152 million, which are
classified as non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2021, can remain to
be repayable after 12 months from the reporting date in accordance with
the original loan agreement only if the creditor banks agree to further
amend the loan covenant or extend the current waiver of the relevant loan
covenants. These conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2.1
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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The Directors of the Company have undertaken measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2.1 to
the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going concern
assumption on which the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared depends on the outcome of these measures, which are subject to
multiple uncertainties, including (i) continuous credit facilities being made
available to the Group by the banks; (ii) obtaining the banks’ agreement
for further amendment or extension of current waiver on the breach of loan
covenant and extension for repayment of the Group’s bank borrowings; and
(iii) successful and timely completion of the Group’s divestment plan.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and measures,
it might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments may have to be made to write down the carrying value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, where applicable.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. Out report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. However, because of the matter described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for
us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Bao King To Raymond.

Ernst & Young

Certitied Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

WE=F AT A S L
Year ended 31 December 2021

TR R R
2021 2020
R 5 T# 5t T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
i 2 Revenue 5 1,135,586 700,726
B 5 T MR B R AR Cost of sales and services (1,506,840) (1,168,703)
(371,254) 467,977)
HAbL A ~ Yeas K E548 > F% Other income, gains and losses, net 7 21,005 44,056
Rl & -S/NEIE S Share of results of an associate 20 (28,460) (25,640)
Gl A E UE AR T Impairment losses on financial assets, net 8 (16,437) (22,273)
IF & Rl & E 2 WH R Impairment losses on non-financial assets 43 (241,000) (797,135)
T 85 4 B R B BH 3¢ Marketing and promotional expenses (108,923) (87,535)
R AT R HA B X Operating, administrative and other
expenses 307,103) (378,416)
il A Finance costs 9 (65,402) (128,582)
I L HiT s 18 LOSS BEFORE TAX 12 (1,117,574) (1,863,502)
T 15 B4 B 52 Income tax expenses 13 (72,870) (91,645)
AF 1A i 15 LOSS FOR THE YEAR (1,190,444) (1,955,147)
HoAth 21 (k5 48) A OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME:
T H fE AT BE 2w 70 Other comprehensive (loss)/income that
1 7i 2 HoAh 2 (F1R) may be reclassified to profit or loss in
WA - subsequent periods:
MBS ET M B MR 2 Exchange differences on translation of
T bt, 2% %A foreign operations
— Bt 2w — subsidiaries (10,465) 21,280
— AT — an associate (5,336) 11,685
FERNHAL A E (), Yt A Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the
year (15,801) 32,965
CRAE) TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE
YEAR (1,206,245) (1,922,182)
ik K 18 LOSS PER SHARE
HA (H ) Basic (HK cents)
— EREE — For loss for the year 15 19.2) (3L.5)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R —FE = —H
At 31 December 2021

SRR R CFAE
2021 2020
Bt 1 T Tt
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
I B NON-CURRENT ASSETS
wEY*E Investment properties 16 295,084 306,346
e &L ] Property and equipment 17 5,383,120 5,980,060
il A HE & Right-of-use assets 18 1,254,344 1,313,907
oA 4 T Other intangible assets 19 55,037 88,898
RS AR ZHE Investment in an associate 20 7,084 30,208
T Bt 8 o W) AR K Loan to an associate 21 116,467 116,467
SN Deposits paid 22 226,909 232,657
e S AH w0 0 1B 2R 4 Financial assets at fair value through
IR 2 4 Tl profit or loss 23 208,338 212,005
IF i B G A Total non-current assets 7,546,383 8,280,548
it B CURRENT ASSETS
TE Inventories 24 24,289 28,046
B 5 T Ho A EAS R ~ i 4 Trade and other receivables, deposits
B BT IR and prepayments 25 265,167 257,456
SR SR AT A2 K Pledged bank deposits 26 1,671 1,671
B e SRAT 45 B Cash and bank balances 26 132,596 125,257
I ) A A Total current assets 423,723 412,430
N B=K CURRENT LIABILITIES
2 Gy B FoAth A 3k IH Trade and other payables 27 355,285 401,373
JRE AF i 3K Tax payable 641,103 542,532
SRAT I HoAb AR 3K Bank and other borrowings
— A — AN E — due within one year 28 206,733 193,622
& A1 Lease liabilities 29 8,291 9,815
Uil B B Total current liabilities 1,211,412 1,147,342
B A AOFE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (787,689) (734,912)
M 7 WU B A TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,758,694 7,545,636
IE i ) & NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
SRAT B HoAAE 3K Bank and other borrowings
— i — B — due after one year 28 2,201,956 1,774,946
I =R Lease liabilities 29 102,752 103,953
I 4iE B IE A i Deferred tax liabilities 30 139,046 145,552
IE I B A fE A Total non-current liabilities 2,443,754 2,024,451
HEFE Net assets 4,314,940 5,521,185
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

WoF - —FtH=1—H
At 31 December 2021

R TR TR
2021 2020
B 5 Tt AP
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
HE 4 EQUITY

il Share capital 31 620,119 620,119
fiti i Reserves 3,694,821 4,901,066
HE 45 0 %H Total equity 4,314,940 5,521,185

J&] &5 2 K 3h

HH #HH
Chow Kam Fai, David Li Chu Kwan
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEFEF A= HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

REwH
A B GG Heffie RERE: (RRHER) At
Retained
profits/
Share Share Other Legal  Translation  (Accumulated
capital  premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses)* Total
Tkt Tk Tk Tk Tk T  T#x
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000  HK$'000
(BFREG) (B RE Gid)
(note (i) (note (ii))
REEZEFE—H—H At January 2020 622,211 4,182,600 (323,835) 6,915 41,796 2,934,607 7,464,294
FERER Loss for the year - - - - - (1,955,147)  (1,955,147)
EIRER TN Other comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 32,965 - 32,965
ERAEEWA/(EH)  Total comprehensive
A income/(loss) for the
year - - - - 32,965 (1,955,147) (1,922,182)
LI e o 88 I O Shares repurchased and
(B 531 cancelled (note 31) (2,092) (18,835) - - - - (20927)
% DA At 31 December 2020
+ZA=+—H 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 74,761 979,460 5,521,185
REEZ—4—H—H At 1 January 2021 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 74,761 979,460 5,521,185
N R Loss for the year - - - - - (1,190,444) (1,190,444)
AF TR A 4 78 R 4R Other comprehensive loss
for the year = = = = (15,801) = (15,801)
FRAEERAH Total comprehensive loss
for the year = = = = (15,801) (1,190,444) (1,206,245)
i S At 31 December 2021
+ZA=+—H 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 58,960 (210,984) 4,314,940
Bt % Notes:
(i) A 5 B 1Y At 135 4 2 A 2 U B 1Y (1) The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
0 0y T R BEL AR N B R TR R NAE T H nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and
f Sy s T M R B S EN/N=T D A R T = the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition
1 25 % o at the time of group reorganisation in December 2006.
(i) REEEEHARRERME (L) SE (i)  In accordance with the Enterprise Law of the Lao People’s Democratic

T 8 B T I AY B 2 T > YRR R A5
FE TR AN D IR 109% 1Y i 1 2R 3 A - E
AT B < AR S TR B O O R 2 — 2R ik
% o

HEMHEREEEA S E A=
T B R AR A BB RO R P AR S R
3,694,821,000% 0 (& —FHF+—"H =+ —
H : 4,901,066,000% JC) -

Republic (“Lao PDR”), the subsidiary registered in Lao PDR is required
to transfer not less than 10% of its profits of each accounting period
to its legal reserve, until the amount reaches an amount equal to half
of the share capital of the respective subsidiary.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$3,694,821,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: HK$4,901,066,000).
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

WE=F AT A S L
Year ended 31 December 2021

SR CECEE
2021 2020
B 5 T# 5t T
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
A B T B 2 B CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
I Bl 7T s 48 Loss before tax 1,117,574) (1,863,502)
L N 51 5 AR R Adjustments for:
FLE W A Interest income 7 (16,534) (23,178)
BB X Interest expenses 9 65,402 128,582
o 5 B RE 50,5 127 (Ui %7 Unrealised exchange loss/(gain), net
3 16,515 4,273)
e g i Reversal of allowance for inventories (1,436) (82)
&) T Depreciation of investment properties 12 11,262 11,262
Y ENE LI Depreciation of property and equipment 12 376,604 381,710
fir I HE R I 8 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12 56,598 57,280
B ) 3 TR I (M 4R) (Gain)/loss on disposal of property and
i 18 equipment 7 9,372) 56
AR A 4% T 1 BLCOVID-19 COVID-19-related rent concessions from
B A R < 4 lessors (532) (3.833)
HCAth, 41 T E 6 Amortisation of other intangible assets 12 28,793 28,152
W G 1R (18 B 5 EUL #X Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment
TH 18 e 18) losses) on trade receivables 8 16,507 (959)
(438 [ 3ok (L i #8) 7 L b B ik (Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment
KT W G 1) losses on other receivables 8 (70) 23,232
e N oA w2 A A 1E 4 B R Loss/(gain) on change in fair value of
ZHEMEREZARMEEE financial assets — at fair value through
a8 (i #5) profit or loss 7 3,667 (629)
O34 A N R 3 AR Share of results of an associate 28,460 25,640
IF & RlE B 2 WU 1B Impairment losses on non-financial assets 43 241,000 797,135
(300,710) (443,407)
8D Decrease in inventories 5,193 427
B 5 T HoAb U K TE (38 41)  (Increase)/decrease in trade and other
[o%% receivables (20,496) 136,681
2 5y B o Ath A 3k I Bk D Decrease in trade and other payables (25,018) (125,888)
B & Cash used in operations (341,031) (432,187)
B4 i 15 B Income tax paid (3,373) (8,188)
" 3 B iy B T AR Net cash flows used in operating activities (344,404) (440,375)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

BE-E -+ A=t HIL4HEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

TR R CEE
2021 2020
T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000
HEBEEE) 2B CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Wi B ) 3 T Rk A Purchase of property and equipment (53,126) (264,325)
CAT % 4 Deposits paid (13,453) (15,698)
e i A T Acquisition of intangible assets = (12,388)
Iia) B 75 A ) K Advance to an associate - (91,459)
2 Al Interest received 16,534 26,573
AR ] A 5 B B 4% Refund of deposit received from investor - (500,000)
A W 3 T Rk A T A9 R Proceed from disposal of property and
equipment 10,280 355
& T ) o A B A i AR Net cash flows used in investing activities (39,765) (856,942)
KEMEGRH 2B &0 E CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
B SRAT B Ho At 1 3K Repayment of bank and other borrowings (105,000) (32,600)
AT AL Interest paid (57,810) (134,993)
I i e 3 AF 3K Payment on repurchase of shares - (20,927)
ERAEAEAS RS Repayments of principal portion of lease
liabilities (2,449) (1,675)
2Bt SR AT B HoA 1 K Bank and other borrowings raised 537,900 50,000
Al Y B P A /T ) R 4 0 B Net cash flows generated from/(used in) financing
activities 372,641 (140,195)
B4 Je Bl 4 55 18 Y B 15 A NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (11,528) (1,437,512)
AT B K B A E Y Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 125,257 1,564,226
i e T 26 5 B 1) 5 28 > TR Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 18,867 (1,457)
AR ER B 4 S B % {E Y - BI%F CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
GHR SN ERLESGMBIRY  OF YEAR, REPRESENTING CASH AND
T B B e SRAT A R BANK BALANCES AS STATED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS AND THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 132,596 125,257
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 October 2006 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands and the principal place of business of the Company in
Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) is located at Palace
Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf, Avenida da Amizade e Avenida
da Dr. Sun Yat Sen, Macau.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42. As at 31
December 2021, the Group owned Macau Fisherman’s Wharf
(“MFW?”) in Macau and Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and
Entertainment Complex (“Savan Legend Resorts”) in Lao People’s
Democratic Republic (“Lao PDR”). MFW is a waterfront integrated
gaming, hotel, convention and entertainment complex located on the
outer harbour of the Macau Peninsula. Savan Legend Resorts is an
integrated resort which is engaged in casino and hotel business in
Lao PDR.

Pursuant to the Service Agreement dated 25 September 2006 and its
related amendments entered into with SJM Resorts S.A. (formerly
known as Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A.) (“SIM”), being one
of the three original concessionaires in Macau, the Group provides
gaming services to SJM in its premises in Macau. The Service
Agreement between the Group and SIM is due to expire on 26 June
2022 when the term of SIM concession agreement with the Macau
government ends on the same date. On 16 June 2022, the Group
entered into an amendment to the Service Agreement with SIM that
the services period will extend to 31 December 2022.

In January 2022, the Macau government put forth a proposed
bill to amend the existing gaming law (the “Draft Bill”) which is
under review and pending final approval by the Macau Legislative
Assembly. On 23 June 2022, the Macau government extended
the term of concession agreements of SJM and all the other
concessionaires and sub-concessionaires from 26 June 2022 to 31
December 2022 in order to allow more time to review and approve
the gaming law amendment bill and to launch gaming concession
retender process.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group is monitoring the developments with respect to the Macau
government’s concession retender process. The failure to renew the
concession agreement by Macau government with SJM and therefore
the failure to renew our Service Agreement with SJM would have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

The Draft Bill has been passed by Macau’s Legislative Assembly
on 21 June 2022 that it allows existing satellite casinos to continue
to operate in premises not owned by Macau casino gaming
concessionaries even beyond the already-agreed 3-year grace period.
The Directors have expressed their willingness to continue with the
provision of gaming service to SJM during the 3-year transition
period if a new gaming concession is granted to SJM.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$788
million as at 31 December 2021 and recorded a net loss of HK$1,206
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group’s total
bank borrowings amounted to HK$2,359 million, of which HK$207
million will be due for repayment within the next 12 months from
the reporting date, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$133 million as at 31 December 2021.

During the year, the Group had breached a loan covenant (the
“Covenant”) clause whereby the Group’s net assets should not be less
than HK$5,500 million. On 27 August 2021, the Group obtained a
waiver of the Covenant from Luso International Banking Limited
(“Luso”) and CMB Wing Lung Bank, Limited — Macau Branch
(“CMB”) (collectively as the “Banks”) for a period until 30 June
2022, and the Banks also agreed not to demand repayment of the
relevant loan before the end of June 2022. Subsequent to the end
of the reporting period, on 25 March 2022, further to the original
waiver granted to the Group on 27 August 2021, the lead bank
agreed to amend the Covenant on minimum net assets undertaking to
HK$4,000 million until further notice. As at the date of approval of
these financial statements, based on the Group’s latest management
accounts and financial forecasts, the management considers that the
amount of the Group’s net assets may have fallen below HK$4,000
million.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The remaining bank borrowings in the amount of HK$2,152 million,
which are classified as non-current liabilities as at 31 December
2021, can remain to be repayable after 12 months from the reporting
date in accordance with the original loan agreement only if the
Banks agree to further amend the Covenant or extend the current
waiver of the Covenant. The Group has been actively negotiating
with the Banks to further amend the Covenant or extend the current
waiver of the Covenant.

The above conditions, together with other matters below, indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In view of
such circumstances, the Directors of the Company have undertaken
a number of plans and measures to maintain the Group’s liquidity
and financial position including, inter alia:

(@) on 27 August 2021, the Group obtained an extension of an
instalment repayment amount of HK$95 million due on 4
September 2021 to 4 September 2022 from the Banks, this
amount has been rolled over into an aggregate principal
amount now repayable on 4 September 2022 of HK$213
million;

(b)  subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 1 April
2022, a substantial shareholder of the Company provided a
shareholder’s loan of HK$50 million to the Group. The Group
has fully drawn down HK$50 million as at the date of approval
of the financial statements;

(c)  subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 30 May
2022, a substantial shareholder of the Company provided
a shareholder’s loan of HK$100 million to the Group, and
the Group has drawn down HK$30 million as at the date of
approval of the financial statements;

(d) the Group is considering to carry out various divestment
transactions (in respect of its equity investments and financial
assets) with a view to improve the Group’s working capital
position; and

(¢) the Group has undertaken various mitigating measures to
manage the current business environment, including cost
control program to minimise the cash outflow of non-essential
items.
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31 December 2021
BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast covering
a period of 12 months from the end of the reporting period. They
are of the opinion that, taking into account of the above-mentioned
plans and measures and upon their realisation, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the Directors believe it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon, inter alia, the following:

@) the existing credit facilities be maintained and made available
by the Banks to the Group;

(ii) the successful negotiation with the Banks for further
amendment or extension of current waiver on the breach of
loan covenant and extension for repayment of the Group’s bank
borrowings; and

(iii)  the successful and timely completion of the Group’s divestment
plan.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to write down the values of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the basis for disclaimer
of opinion and the measures to be taken by the Group for addressing
the auditor’s report. In light of the above, the Audit Committee
agreed with the management’s position and acknowledged the plans
and measures implemented by the Group to address the liquidity
matter. The Audit Committee is also of the view that the management
should continue its efforts in implementing its plans and measures
with the intention of mitigating the Group’s liquidity pressure.
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Report
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKS$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.
A subsidiary is an entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(¢c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R e
31 December 2021
BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date when the Group obtains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, income, equity, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

T 5 T 7 g o — 2B B

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

H COVID-197 B 19 7 <2 95 %

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

DT AEAN A = H A B COVID-19H i H9 7 5 06 %
($&F 1R 4)

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
(early adopted)
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the adoption of the amendments to

HKFRSs in the current period has had no material impact on the

Group’s financial performance and position for the current and

prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements. The nature and the impact of the revised
HKFRSs are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-
free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated
without adjusting the carrying amount of financial assets
and liabilities when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the interest
rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations
and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on
transition are dealt with through the normal requirements of
HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness.
The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities
from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements
to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform
on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.
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31 December 2021

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate as at 31 December 2021. Since the
interest rates of these borrowings were not replaced by RFRs
during the period, the amendment did not have any impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group. If the
interest rates of these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a
future period, the Group will apply above-mentioned practical
expedient upon the modification of these borrowings provided
that the “economically equivalent” criterion is met.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to apply lease modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
by 12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical
expedient are met. The amendment is effective retrospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with
any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits at the beginning of the current accounting period.
Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1 January
2021 and applied the practical expedient during the year
ended 31 December 2021 to all rent concessions granted by
the lessors that affected only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022 as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic. A reduction in the lease payments arising from the
rent concessions of HK$532,000 has been accounted for as
a variable lease payment by derecognising part of the lease
liabilities and crediting to profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

WA $R A
Reference to the Conceptual Framework'

1B AL N Al 2 A S 2 Y R T R

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

R B 7 [

Insurance Contracts’

R B 7 [F]> 3

Insurance Contracts*

Vea=t:v/ ‘ﬁﬁ/ﬁéfﬁf"‘:ﬁ# B A

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current® *

B A BRI 55
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

0 4 09 5

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

A — 35 5 BB A K B B 19 20 A B IR

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

W H ~ ST R iR M - AF BEAE A i 09 P 18 3k A

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended Use'

W7 18 7 5] —JE 17 & [F] 79 Wl A

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract!

A BB R E R S SE - A U B O MR R SR O BE - Bl
Fop B i At U B 16 5% B B 2 B M O 1 R s o HE T
FAa9E (B R A)!

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align
the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

3 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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31 December 2021
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or
loss. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or
after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment
to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative
Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes
potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives
when applying HKFRS 16.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial instruments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The Group’s share of results and net assets of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statement of
an associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 131



22

W

132

o W% W& Mo (8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e S
31 December 2021

K 6wl SR B2 ()

T W A ] Y 4 (A

7 45 [ AT A A % BLRE 4R R W
2% F) B HE i F]RE Y BLBU(E o A7 AE AT
o7 20 LA R I R A A0 A AR T (E
R A o TR R SE36 AT S
7 Ul WA - 7 i A% B L AT i [ 4 B
(168 M 0 BEL 2 70 9 o A ) 72
) LB T R o T e R BG4 AT BB s R
ANE o3 e B R A% 156 R T (R A —
O WA AT o N AR B A T
TS T S A R 4% AR A i e
JI) 5365 e 52 8% 0] a% Bl (B s 1E -

il A £ [ B U 4 8 WEAT R B o LI
B O W HE AT 2 By B EE AR I ik A K s 1R
T S 0 AR o B AR A R D M
18 DA B A AR ) 0 R ) T D E 4R
fR o

RN NG SRS e JibES £
KRR R AR B R o FOAR 8 7 7 B
o e LSS S HE R R AR IR T B B &
BRI BB AR -

%P Az Wbk

AR (B E 35 JE AT JE A ST Iy (R
BB 2 R A AT A B B0 A BOIR B
1 [ 42 1) HE | 3% 350 55 IR 5 T Bk AR
A 1 LS00 ot % 45 o IR B T A 4
A AQAH B9 2 3R e RR U AR -

VB 1 FAT $5 B R A A R G
J5 RS (a) ] 19 28 i B S (B — AL
sl R 5 ) B (b) — 2 B R EOAA ] A9 AR Fl
FE b BB - T R S E SR B B A
A TR] 9 1) 0 5 g A X

PR A EATRAT 202144

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the net investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group transacts with an associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

A performance obligation represents a promise in a contract with
a customer to transfer to the customer either (a) a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or (b) a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that
have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the assets is created or enhanced; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation
including an obligation to provide goods or services to customers
on complementary basis or related to the customer relationship
programs, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an
agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn licensing income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to
write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain
or loss arising from derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment (other than construction in progress) are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of each item
of property and equipment (other than construction in progress)
less their residual values over (i) in the case of gaming machinery,
the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the remaining term
of the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 and its related
amendments (the “Service Agreement”); and (ii) in the case of
other property and equipment, their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the

term of the lease and 2%
Aircraft 12.5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5%—50%

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease and

Leasehold improvements

10%—-33%

Motor vehicles 10%—-25%

Vessels 10%

Machinery and equipment (except for 5%—15%
“gaming machinery and equipment”)

Gaming machinery and equipment 10%-20%

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents integrated resort under
development or construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease components, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components and to account for
the lease component and the associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
its short-term leases of machinery and equipment that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
The cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:

Leasehold land 25 to 75 years
Buildings 2 to 5 years
Machinery 3 years

Retfundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by (a)
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect the
partial or full termination of the lease for lease modifications that
decrease the scope of the lease. The Group recognises any gain or
loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or
loss; or (b) making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset for all other lease modifications. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease
or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 139



o d
W

140

o M B m R K

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e S
31 December 2021

K 6wl SR B2 ()

L& (A1)
A5 1 A 75 AN

AR SR AE 2 A N o FCR FH B B
i Wy (BCH A AL BB T W) 51 45 AL B 23
MAKEHERMERE -

7 AR T Sl R R T AR T A Y
AR 4 e g L e ) L BT K
BHE -HeRasHE LEAERA
S BRE > A S ] i A S ST
HESHE A (] o 9 £ Q1E 23 BiE 245 AL 2
R A R A R R A R R T R
AL T 9% AR B IR SIS A8 R A9 0
i A e T HUAS KR A LR R EE AR A ) A
HAHE A A S E AR (E -
T AL oA A (] ik T R R AR
BEREWCN o IR A B 5 B B HRCR) S
fH] A it 58 2% W AR o

1% AR B E T A RE Y BT A L g % [E]
TE R TR AL B FH A
HE -

BT

AEMEEHEE S AB R AENH
SR A A R R BB > 3 A% A B IR
FHL 9 A o] AR =5 R A A A A
AL A AL A — A e

PR A EATRAT 202144

ik (%)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Licensing income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as licensing
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair
value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application
of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same tax authority.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred
taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely
amount or the expected value.

Inventories

Inventories consist of food and beverage, retail merchandise and
operating supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Licences

Purchased licences are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives.

Further details of the amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets
are included in note 19 of the financial statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of property and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amounts individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGU.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata
to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue from
contracts with customers” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments) (Continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit
or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss and is included in
the “other income, gain and losses, net”.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from

the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collateral and credit enhancement by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
and bank and other borrowings.
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31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii))  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted
as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group applies judgement to determine the lease term for lease
contracts in which it is a lessee with a renewal option, specifically,
the leases relating to leasehold land in Macau. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable. Leases are considered
to be no longer enforceable when the Group as the lessee and the
relevant lessors both have the right to terminate the lease without
permission from the other party with no more than an insignificant
contractual penalty.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise renewal options impacts the lease term, which significantly
affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognised. Re-assessment is performed upon the occurrence of
either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of lessee and that affects the assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (Continued)

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options
(Continued)

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances including economic incentives/penalties for
exercising or not exercising the options. Factors considered include:

. contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods
compared with market rates (e.g. whether the amount of
payments in the optional periods is below the market rates);

. the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by Group;
and
. costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation costs,

costs of identifying another underlying asset suitable for the
Group’s needs).

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for the lease contracts which the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option were
HK$65,664,000 (2020: HK$68,009,000) and HK$69,823,000 (2020:
HK$74,879,000) respectively.

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recoverability of refundable deposit for a potential long-term
investment project

The management of the Group takes into consideration the likelihood
of utilisation of such deposit based on the potential long-term
investment project status. Meanwhile, the management of the Group
considered that the deposit shall be used to settle the consideration
in full for the proposed acquisition of certain land use rights in
connection with a proposed development project in Cambodia, and
there is uncertainty on the timing on when such transaction can
be finalised and the recoverability of the deposit thereon if such
transaction is not going to proceed further. Where the expectation
on the recoverability of the deposit is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount of the
deposit and loss allowance in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed. For the year ended 31 December 2021, no impairment
loss was recognised (2020: HK$546,926,000) on the refundable
deposit for the potential long-term investment project in Cambodia.
Further details are disclosed in note 43.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. When calculating the recoverable
amounts, management must estimate the expected future cash flows
based on projected income and expenses of the business, working
capital needs, growth rates, discount rates and physical deterioration
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation rates.

Changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of
the assets are based could significantly affect the Group’s assessment
resulting in an impairment loss being recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the management performed
an impairment assessment on the Group’s CGUs. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, an impairment loss of HK$241,000,000
(2020: HK$79,020,000) was recognised on the investment project in
Cape Verde. Details of the impairment assessments are disclosed in
note 43.
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5. W 4 5. REVENUE
AR A £ AT A An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
TR —ERFE
2021 2020
T# T#E T
HK$’000 HK$°000
A& 8 17 M B 2 HE Y ll& i : Revenue from gaming related operations:
Wil 5 B IR [T DARE #2 Recognised over time:
() ELLF&IEAA *E}%Hﬁi%%% (i) from provision of gaming related
P 3t 18R AR B Rt % 1R A facilities and gaming related general
B — g A AR 5 DA SR 4 T management services under the Service
S ME 5 B RS S0 (F 78 WM BT Agreement and indirect participation in
6) M4 2 W R b A 27 the gaming promotion business under the
VIE Structure (as defined in note 6) in
respect of:
— IR kE — Mass market tables 780,365 402,164
— BEMW — VIP tables* 119,583 79,575
— AT — Slot machines 2,847 2,981
902,795 484,720
A e — IR 27 AT R Recognised at a point in time:
G)FL LA T2 TH 2 A B 4435 0 (i)  from operation of a casino in respect of:
— PG — Mass market tables 8,799 15,148
— BEMMA — VIP tables - 9,485
— AT — Slot machines 5,746 17,492
14,545 42,125
917,340 526,845
2% B Ik % HH BR 4 E i i A Revenue from non-gaming related
operations:
Wi B Iy [ 7 DA R - Recognised over time:
A G % IR A Income from hotel rooms 45,176 31,940
A& A B A IR RS I e A Income from building management
services 18,663 21,265
63,839 53,205
* i R T A, B AR BN 4 T * The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect participation
M R WE R B RS He—A in the gaming promotion business in Macau through New Legend VIP
A7 BR 2N 7D (T30 T B 1) s P ] 4 22 B Club Limited (“New Legend”) under the VIE Structure.

LR ENE 7
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5. Wk (#) 5.  REVENUE (CONTINUED)
SEOE CEOEA
2021 2020
T#5t Tt
HK$°000 HK$°000
AR — IR 2T AT AR Recognised at a point in time:
E AR Food and beverage 96,361 57,273
B 5 7 Sales of merchandise 1,295 1,320
HoAtb Others 9,936 10,079
107,592 68,672
RS L For operating leases:
ARG R R SR Licensing income from investment
A properties 46,815 52,004
218,246 173,881
1,135,586 700,726
KA %A A R (Ol 25 B 52 Revenue from contracts with customers,
IRF [H]) timing of revenue recognition:
— B K B Ry [H] — over time 966,634 537,925
— JA K —IRF B — at a point in time 122,137 110,797
1,088,771 648,722
e[ £ LB Y i £ Revenue from operating leases:
— EHEMAE — lease payments that are fixed 44,489 49,164
— AHETE B R RIZE Y[ 5  — variable lease payments that do not
& depend on an index or a rate 2,326 2,840
46,815 52,004
1,135,586 700,726

160 PR A EATRAT 202144



W g (%)

HR A28 E

1R 5

18 0 5 55 TR B R [ R ) K

A 4 3t R A BRSO L 1R A B —
fise A8 MR B < Wi 4 BB 2 o€ BB A R B
(R Bl 5 A 4 I e A M 5 By 12 % 7
[F] B e B A% 3 FE A 42 [ &6 P 48 {2
Al 4 ) B B BE R HE R o A 42 I A B A 38
B 5 BT AR AR IS T o ) UL — 4 TR
BT AR G IR o AR
AHETE SRR B AR R H R 835
3 B AL 195 R 5 T A IR B A o

A H R 4% 2 B R A 36 B 2 I 43 BB
58 WU % FE B (B BE 25 A 48 [ 52 13t A
B IR T R 25 i () IR S 9 R AR
VA P 4 A 2 R AR ) Y IR B A R
A AR T JE ) 28 B I T AR 0 R A
i T A A 1) TP — 4% R T 4R
A ¥ AR B o A B I A HE TE B {3k R B
RF AR 9% 15 1 BB A 2 1 R RO 1
B T U B A o

VAR B R SRR S g
7 4 3t 1 4 05 A TR S I TR R A
B ERA > RE AL EEAHE
Frim % 5 b2 gt 45 E B 2 Rk > BR
5 S MR S e T R 42 ) A AR K
Tt 2 5 E R

AL

A K I 4 8 2 TR W AR T R T
Wi 2 0 T 2 AR o A SR T A e R
58 15 R H 2 T AR 4 DL T 2 BT
o ROy R AL R R AR A
5 Z TR i AR -

LA A 2R I 1 PR B R AR E B
Bt ) £ G 7 T A IR B e B
LB R B G AR
R 5 R S5 08 57 B K S B M o B
& fIf JE #) 2 s o

w oo BB of Ak M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021
REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
Gaming related operations

Provision of casino management services and gaming promotion

business

Revenue from the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming
related general management services are recognised over time when
performance obligations are satisfied while the gaming operator
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group renders its services. The
Group’s performance obligation is primarily the provision of casino
management services to a gaming operator in Macau under the
Service Agreement. The Group has the right to receive its service
income, based on net gaming wins of the casinos of each month,
from the gaming operator when the service is rendered.

Revenue from indirect participation in the gaming promotion
business is recognised over time when performance obligations are
satisfied while the gaming operator simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group renders its services. The Group’s performance obligation is
primarily the provision of promotion services to a gaming operator in
Macau under the VIE Structure. The Group has the right to receive
its service income, based on net gaming wins of the VIP tables of
each month, from the gaming operator when the service is rendered.

The Directors of the Company considered that the Group acts as
a principal for casino management services and gaming promotion
business provided to gaming operator as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified service
to customers and controls the specified service to be provided by
the Group before the specific service is transferred to the customer.

Casino operation

Gaming revenue from the casino operation is the aggregate net
difference between gaming wins and losses. The Group accounts
for gaming revenue from the casino operation on a portfolio basis
given the similar characteristics of wagers, by recognising net win
per gaming day.

For casino transactions that include complimentary goods and
services or loyalty points under the customer relationship program
provided by the Group to gaming customers to incentivise gaming,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Non-gaming related operations

The transaction price of hotel rooms, food and beverage, retail
transactions and other services is the net amount collected from
the customer for such goods and services. The transaction price for
such transactions is recorded as revenue when the goods or services
are transferred or rendered to the customers during their stay at the
hotel or when the delivery is made for the food and beverage, retail
goods and other services.

Income from building management services is recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time, when the Group provides
building management services to tenants of the Group’s properties
in Macau. The Group has the right to receive its service income,
based on agreed monthly building management service fee, from the
tenants when the service is rendered.

The Group has other contracts that include multiple goods and
services, such as packages that bundle food and beverage and other
services with hotel stays. For such arrangements, the Group allocates
revenue to each good or service based on its relative stand-alone
selling price. The Group primarily determines the stand-alone
selling price of hotel rooms, food and beverage, and retail goods and
services based on the amount that the Group charges when each is
sold separately in similar circumstances to similar customers. The
duration of the Group’s contracts with customers are generally one
year or less and the Group elects to apply the practical expedient
and not to disclose the remaining performance obligation for these
contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021
SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Executive Directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”)
have been identified as the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?”). The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal
reports in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

For the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming related
general management services, and the indirect participation in
the gaming promotion business, the Executive Directors regularly
analyse gaming related revenue in terms of service income from
mass market tables, VIP tables and slot machines. For the operation
of casinos, the Executive Directors regularly analyse gaming
related revenue in terms of net difference between gaming wins
and losses from mass market tables, VIP tables and slot machines.
The Executive Directors review separately the entire revenues and
operating results attributable to gaming related services and non-
gaming operations. As such, the Executive Directors have identified
the operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments as gaming and non-gaming operations.

The segment information is consistent with the internal information
that is regularly reviewed by the Executive Directors for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of performance. This is also
the basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management has
determined to organise the Group with reference to the differences
in products and services. The principal activities of the operating
and reportable segments are as follows:

Gaming — 1) Gaming related services for mass market tables, VIP
tables and slot machines under the Service Agreement entered into
between Hong Hock, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the gaming operator, SJM, whereby the revenue is derived based
on net gaming wins. Revenue from the indirect participation in the
gaming promotion business represents the sharing of gross gaming
revenue generated by VIP gaming tables operated by a subsidiary,
New Legend, through the structure established by the entering into
of the VIE Agreements among Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr
Frederick Yip, where appropriate, further details of which are set out
in the Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014 (the “VIE Structure”);
and 2) Casino operation in Lao PDR.

Non-gaming — operations at MFW and Savan Legend Resorts
including hotel and other operations such as licensing income
from the shops, provision of building management service, food
and beverage and others. For segment reporting under HKFRS 8,
financial information of these operations with similar economic
characteristics has been aggregated into a single operating segment
named “non-gaming”.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

operating and reportable segment:

Year ended 31 December 2021

% Ik 1 % vig N 15 8 Ba
Gaming Non-gaming Segment total Elimination Consolidated
Fioc F oo T oo Fioo T#x
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
AR 25 43 External revenue 917,340 218,246 1,135,586 - 1,135,586
EiEE Inter-segment revenue = 72,928 72,928 (72,928) =
43 TP U i Segment revenue 917,340 291,174 1,208,514 (72,928) 1,135,586
53 ¥ s 48 Segment loss (162,980) (497,485) (660,465) - (660,465)
A3 B AT B L g Unallocated depreciation and
amortisation (83,127)
Koy H A A K A>3EBZ > Unallocated other income and
T corporate expenses, net (39,120)
Ay Bl IF 4 AT EE 2 W {E 1R Unallocated impairment losses on
non-financial assets (241,000)
a3 1 BB W) 3 4R Share of results of an associate (28,460)
Bl A Finance costs (65,402)
I ol i s 4R Loss before tax (1,117,574)
BEFCFES A=A —HIEEE Year ended 31 December 2020
L2 IR oG EE L e
Gaming Non-gaming Segment total ~ Elimination Consolidated
T T# T T#T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
A EB U 4 5 External revenue 526,845 173,881 700,726 - 700,726
R E Inter-segment revenue - 50,900 50,900 (50,900) -
53 IR i Segment revenue 526,845 224,781 751,626 (50,900) 700,726
Jr W 1R Segment loss (252,937) (649,197) (902,134) - (902,134)
EN IR YSE 3 Unallocated depreciation and
amortisation (82,483)
KA H A YA KA B2 > Unallocated other income and
7 corporate expenses, net (98,717)
KO B I BE FE 2 W51 Unallocated impairment losses on
non-financial assets (625,946)
I3 BB WD 3 A Share of results of an associate (25,640)
Tl 5 A Finance costs (128,582)
W B Al 12 Loss before tax (1,863,502)
MR A TRAT 2021484k
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at amounts agreed by both parties.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
results represent the results of each segment without allocation
of depreciation of certain investment properties and property and
equipment arising from the fair value adjustments on acquisition
of MFW and its subsidiaries (the “MFW Group”) and amortisation
of other intangible assets, unallocated other income and corporate
expenses, net, unallocated impairment losses on non-financial assets,
the share of results of an associate and finance costs. Unallocated
corporate expenses include Directors’ remuneration paid or payable
by the Company and certain administrative expenses for corporate
use. This is the measure reported to the Executive Directors for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to
the Executive Directors for review.

Other segment information

Year ended 31 December 2021

8 % I 1 % A4 B A

Gaming  Non-gaming Unallocated  Consolidated

Ti#u Ti#u Ti#u Ti#u

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

VEN G R Depreciation of property and equipment 33,717 325,456 17,431 376,604

REWENE Depreciation of investment properties - 9,669 1,593 11,262

Hofth 4 T E R B Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 28,793 28,793

o I RE & AT 8 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7,061 14,226 35,311 56,598

e dmp g i Reversal of allowance for inventories - (1,436) - (1,436)
H B 3 R AR Y (Gain)/loss on disposal of property and

(W 25) /5 8 equipment 119 (9,491) - 9,372)

I 4 Bl 2 WL e R Impairment losses on non-financial assets - = 241,000 241,000

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 165



oA W% A&k W oRE (B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

166

e S
31 December 2021

43 Wb & B (%)

H Al 43 50 & B (4])
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

% EaL R AL oy
Gaming Non-gaming Unallocated ~ Consolidated
T T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

E Y& S EiE Depreciation of property and equipment 38,079 326,200 17,431 381,710
BEWE I Depreciation of investment properties - 9,669 1,593 11,262
A 4 T 4 Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 28,152 28,152
i A R T S Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7,340 14,632 35,308 57,280
B0 17 B B Reversal of allowance for inventories - (82) - (82)
Y LR Loss on disposal of property and equipment - 56 - 56
FeREE2MMAEEIE  Impairment losses on non-financial assets 36,926 134,263 625,946 797,135

EREERRERES DB EEE
B PR o I RS R E Ky
MABZ N - BE 5 s R
Alf7 488 9 2 P R M R BLRT Al T g E
o B % A5 R WO R R B AR
I ER

Hb 7 2 R}

A B T A b B L R IR 2l K K
At i 185 (2 455 SRR 2 e BB 45 A1) o

A B AL AN EF 20 E R
Ke o B 2 o A7 B AS SR B AY JE O B
HE B R (BR kA AR E R 1R 45 5
MR 2 4 A S 1) B N R B A 4
L M B B2 S o

A= S SN N
BE+T-HA=Z+—HILAEE
Revenue from external customers
Year ended 31 December

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results of each
segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment liability is
presented as the CODM does not regularly review such information
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are presented.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located on Macau, Lao PDR and others
(including Cambodia and Cape Verde).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the locations of the operations. Information about
the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial assets at FVTPL
and loan to an associate) is presented based on the geographical
locations of the assets.

Ik By A
+=H=+—H
Non-current assets
31 December

— B4 — BRI L S ZERIORE

2021 2020 2021 2020

T o0 T T Tt T o0

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

L Macau 1,120,630 656,763 6,715,294 7,139,568
& B Lao PDR 14,956 43,963 270,417 306,833
HoAth Others - - 235,867 505,675
1,135,586 700,726 7,221,578 7,952,076
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B LA
31 December 2021

6. ZiE B (4) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
FEEFN&E R Information about major customer
PEEZE T FT A=+ HILE Revenue of HK$901,802,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
JE - AR BB AR A (— SR E TR I (2020: HK$483,728,000) from SJM, a customer from the gaming
B & F) 10 22 £5901,802,000%5 76 (— % segment, amounted to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

TR 1 483,728,0004 70) o Ak A £E [H 48
I i BB A 10% o

7. HAbWA- Wi RER B8 7.  OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET
(a) Hftt A (@  Other income
SR TR TRAR
2021 2020
Tt T 0
HK$°000 HKS$°000
FE e A Interest income
— AT — bank deposits 534 7,134
— N FAE FE R R 5 — financial assets at FVTPL
IR 2 4 @il g 16,000 16,044
B Wi PR B B Insurance claims received 97 16
HoAth Others 15,055 15,539
31,686 38,733
(b) H i KkEE > B8 (b) Other gains and losses, net
- el TR TRAR
2021 2020
Tt T o0
HKS$°000 HK$’000

Fe AN B FH AR 1 45 B MR 2 42 Fair value (losses)/gains on change
T E 22 N e (E s B (s Tﬁ)/ in fair value of financial assets at

W i FVTPL (3,667) 629
ME 58, (5 48) Wi 45 - TR AR Exchange (losses)/gains, net (16,386) 4,750
B W 2 R ik A Gain/(loss) on disposal of property and

(f5 48) equipment 9,372 (56)

(10,681) 5,323
21,005 44,056
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R LA
31 December 2021

8. SHEEZMMIER  FH 8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET
R TR L
2021 2020
T8 T 7T
HK$’000 HK$°000
E'jli U~ T T E R R e 1R Impairment losses, net recognised on:
B (4 0)) E 5 R EBE  Loss allowance/(reversal of loss allowance)
Eﬁ i} for impairment of trade receivables 14,150 (959)
& 5 ME WO TE S 2% Al U BT ) Trade receivables amount written off as
& H uncollectible 2,357 -
(38 10]) / Tfe 58 Ho At B i BRI B(E (Reversal of loss allowance)/loss allowance
i 15 for impairment of other receivables (70) 23,232
16,437 22,273
B BV FF AL 2 5 I R B EE38 e Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 38.
9. MhERA 9. FINANCE COSTS
R TR L
2021 2020
T8 T 7T
HK$’000 HK$°000
SRAT A BOR] S Interest on bank borrowings 51,052 65,297
EX%E:‘J\ FLE Interest on other borrowings 452 -
& A E RS Interest on lease liabilities 6,318 6,725
SRAT A 3R R A A B K Amortisation of finance costs on bank
oA Rl AR AR borrowings and other finance costs 7,580 56,560
Al A HE Total finance costs 65,402 128,582
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10.

HEF

Executive Directors

oo BB Ok M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors and chief executive
of the Company were as follow:

FBGES

Non-executive Directors

BukafmEs

Independent non-executive Directors

JAgH KB Sheldon
(T & l) (THE  Trainor—
BER  MERE OWRM RHEN (W) {k]) DeGirolamo FEE  RHEF  WEE HER WK OWER  WRE  EARK Jith it
Chow Kam
Fai, David Lam Chow Tong
Chan  Tsang Chan Li  (“David  Fong Ngo Sheldon Wan Ho Ka Tam Wai Lau Fong
Mei Yi Ka Weng Chu Chow”) (“Madam  Trainor— Hok, David Chiulin, Wing, Xie Chu,  Ngai Kee Wang  Chung,
Melinda Hung Lin Kwan (note) Lam”) DeGirolamo  Donald  Chow Laurinda Carl Min Maria Ricky ~ Hongxin Mark Total
Tt T#x THx TEx TEx  TEx Tt T#x Ti#x T#x T#x TEx TEx  TEx  T#x TEx T#x
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$000
BEZZZ—-%+Z0  For the year ended 31
St -REEE December 2021
LKA Fees = = = = = = = = = 510 = 213 510 510 298 - 04
B BB Salaries and allowances 1,799 2617 2,500 720 - - - - 499 - - - - - - - 12,628
F B B8 B £ 3 Performance related
incentive payments 91 120 208 30 = = = = 208 2 = o 2 21 12 = 732
R R Contributions to
retirement benefit
scheme 1 13 1 1 = = = = 1 = = = = © = = 7
LER L Total emoluments 1,891 2,750 2,709 751 = = = - 520 531 = 213 53 531 310 - 15418
BEZZZBELTH For the year ended 31
ES il 4 December 2020
e Fees - - - - - - - - - - - 510 510 4 - 471 1,501
EEA S Salaries and allowances 985 21 257 6 7691 591 1,150 793 - /1298 - - - - - B4
F LA 42 3K Performance related
incentive payments 70 - - - 167 - 48 25 - 17 - 15 15 - - - 357
R R B Contributions to
retirement benefit
scheme - - - - - - 16 16 - - - - - - - - R
LEE Total emoluments 1,055 27 257 6 7858 591 1,214 834 - 398 1,298 525 525 4 - 471 15313
B 53 JE SRS AT Ry JE AT E S > DL Note: David Chow was re-designated as a non-executive Director and
HoER - RFE+—H - FHEARER ceased to be an Executive Director with effect from 24 November
RIS - 2020.

T A% % ) HE 3 B A 2 BUAR B € W A<
K52 % AL N R B E -
HE A -

BEA MR ~F A= Ik
I 23 A R AT B R T

9 55 16 T < ) 6045 A 2 AT B AR R
12 {3t R 85 BT 15 2 T <
BT ERNHG M EERSA

BH 525 L B AR ] R A SR S
1 4 it 2 M %5 -

bSO R R AT T O S R AT
ER AR A SR (R AR o
1M 4 3t 1 A 5 o

The performance related incentive payments to the Directors of the
Company are determined by reference to the Group’s performance
and approved by the board of Directors.

Chan Weng Lin was the chief executive of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2021 and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for service rendered by him as the chief executive
officer.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors shown above were for their services as
Directors of the Company.
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R LA
31 December 2021

10. FHFEEETBEARME (8D 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
EREEETBANBME () Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)
T TR AR 4E BE A > A B [ ROE 0 ) A 2 ) During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
FATAEATH B - DA B A A 4R ] 5 Directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining
A I R A AR A 0 A8 D mRAE £ A the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Director
18 o ME I AR 2N ] B SR R T AR of the Company has waived any emoluments in both years.
JOCHEAT: A 57 I o
HHREPHAEOEGNRS & Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the Directors
e A & have material interests
i B S 45 M 12 PO ER T 3 pUEA
Nature of transactions and major
Agreement Connected party Relationship with the Group terms Transaction amount
i Jue - ot Sue 22
2021 2020
T Tt
HK$°000 HK$'000
57 1 R ErneERRENREAR  RALATBEEERE AL E SRR MR WA S WA RN R EES 836 465
A EIN oA B AR R B AR
Legendale Beijing Hotel Service Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real An associate of Mr David Chow, a co-chairman and ~ Renting of hotel rooms and
Agreement Estate Development Co. Ltd. a non-executive Director of the Company convention venues and
(b w4 0 o B the procurement of event
HRAHE) management services to the
Group*
AR e 2 I B e Pl GRFDHRAT (K RBREEZBEL RREMAREZRK O AEEERKE FHRZ 1,646 907
ikl D) * 4188 88 5% 2k ) 4 U Adrian Pinto-Marques 7 WER R
H Z 2B Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques% +:J (i) Procurement of travelling,
Adriano Dillon Guerrero Pinto-Marques J ticketing and transportation
Amigo Travel Service Agreement Amigo Travel (Macau) Limited An associate of Mr David Chow as the shareholders of services to the Group*
(“Amigo Travel”)* Amigo Travel are Ms Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques
and Mr Adriano Dillon Guerrero Pinto-Marques, (i) 7 B BRIk 0 5 5 53 3
the parents of Mr Adrian Pinto-Marques, the [
so-in-law of Mr David Chow (ii) Provision of hotel rooms
from the Group*
TSR AC A8 1 WAl ke AR A Frank Wong fE /£ (R B FIACRO FE OB A v LS5 I o 0 — B 6 = 244
(T %)) i 9177 3 % Sheldon Trainor DeGirolamoJt4 B FI7#
ZER -
SLL Rental Agreement Seng Lei Loi Jewelry and Mr Frank Wong who is the controlling shareholder of ~ Provision of rental of a shop in
Watches Company Limited SLL, is the father-in-law of Mr Sheldon Trainor- Legend Palace Hotel to SLL*
(“SLL") DeGirolamo, a former Executive Director of the
Company.
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SE T EF A= —H
31 December 2021
10, FFEEFEETBANBME () 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

HEREREPHRABERESNIRS - K Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the Directors
He sk & 40 (8) have material interests (Continued)
[T} LY BUR S B 1R UL VES S S ¢ pUEA
Nature of transactions and major
Agreement Connected party Relationship with the Group terms Transaction amount
[ Sk = “ECERE
2021 2020
Titn T#L
HK$000 HK$°000
BETEARATRMEKERR BRTEARAT IR > BEHRREEE R R LA - =% KRR KRS 4733 14,279
Bl —HEEATZR ARAEE R E R L L
T R AT T IR
Lai Ou Industrial Ltd. Procurement of ~ Lai Ou Industrial Limited Lai Ou is owned by Mr David Chow and Ms Melinda ~ Procurement of laundry service for
Laundry Services Agreement (“Lai Ou”)* Chan. On 13 May 2021, Mr David Chow and the Group*
Ms Melinda Chan ceased to have any holdings
in Lai Ou.
BAGKARAAERRSE L BESEARATCRED*  BRA-F-AFOATAREAERMEAT AR R T 2R 780 780
Macau Legend Investment Holdings Limited it
WRBE AR -
Lai leng Investment Company Ltd. Lai leng Investment Company Lai leng was acquired by Macau Legend Investment  Provision of management service
Management Service Agreement Limited (“Lai leng”)* Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, as to Lai leng*

an associate on 16 April 2019.

EERFRAEAARAARE EERRREERERLA EEM AL (REEL LT R ER L L mEE SRR 10,000 -
ik ([EE)) o
Arcwealth Global Investment and Arcwealth Global Investment Arcwealth is owned by Mr Donald Chow (the son of ~ Sale of aircraft to Arcwealth
Management Limited Sale and and Management Limited Mr David Chow) and Ms Melinda Chan.
Purchase Agreement (“Arcwealth”)
* A RN BT R A MA T T T * These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions for
Z AR RS Sy o UM SE BT BRI the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of certain
AT RO E 5 TS e A of these continuing connected transactions recognised in current year,
A HE T R 0 B SR A8 S R R which are subject to the reporting requirements set out in Chapter
O (B s 5 | — b R - 14A of the Listing Rules, have been disclosed under the section
“Connected Transactions” in the Directors’ Report.
# I A 4R 4 R A AR B IR B ) 22 —F # The relevant services were provided to the Group up to 31 December
—HF+ A=+ —H EBE2HRE 2021 at prices determined on arm’s length basis and the prevailing
AL TR e 5 Y BLAT T 4 A market price for comparable types of services in the same industry.

- Ji FU) B 7 R E o
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31 December 2021

1. hfmE AL 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
AR E R AR NI T2 EE'i FJ_ % [N =) The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
FEHAARNFAHER(CERE: —F included four Directors (2020: one Director) of the Company whose
) o 55 TN s R B AR 103}( #& > U emoluments are disclosed in note 10 and one (2020: four) employee
F— & 3'5 Zli N j W AT A who is neither a Director nor chief executive of the Company. Details
BZEEB(CEZRE UK) - A% of the emoluments of the remaining one (2020: four) individual are
N ZAﬂ:(—?_ AR U 4) B 2 as follows:
A
TR —ERFE
2021 2020
T# 7t T#IT
HK$°000 HK$°000
B A AR A Salaries, allowances and benefits 2,500 8,533
7 35 IR 5% JE A+t 3K Performance related incentive payments = 82
2,500 8,615
BR800 I 4 0 a0 R Emoluments of the employees were within the following bands:
e
2021 2020
N AN
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
1,500,001 7T %2,000,000 %5 7G HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 = 2
2,000,001#% 7T %.2,500,000 45 7G HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001#5 7T %.3,000,000% 7G HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 = 1
1 4
A T AR AF BE TR - A 4 (B ARE A0 1) 104 B i During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
N L (L35 3 5 SR B ST A five highest paid individuals (including Directors and employees) as
S LAVE Zoim S A 4 1 sl o B A 42 1 an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
15 1) S B > SOAE 2 el T 1 for loss of office.
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31 December 2021

B B i s 48 12. LOSS BEFORE TAX
TR e S
2021 2020
Fit T T 7T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B BiRT R E 0B (FFA) BLR I Loss before tax has been arrived at after
H: charging/(crediting):
BT A Staff costs
S & (4 5E10) Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 15,418 15,313
oAt B T A Other staff costs
— 3 T B L Ath A8 A — salaries and other benefits 306,086 324,084
— R ARAE R EH E A R — contributions to retirement
benefit schemes 5,468 6,284
BT ARE Total staff costs 326,972 345,681
8 0] £7 B 1 (G FE 85 % & IR %F Reversal of allowance for inventories
FRAS ) (included in cost of sales and
services) (1,436) (82)
oA 48 T S HE S (5 /£ 8% & Amortisation of other intangible assets
il ?%ﬁﬁzl—‘ A11,084,000 7T (included in cost of sales and services
(=% EF 1,819,000% 7T) and operating, administrative and
VI Ko 17T /E\: ﬁll BH 57 other expenses of HK$1,084,000
27,709, 0001%71: — s (2020: HK$1,819,000) and
26,333,000 7T) IN) HK$27,709,000
(2020: HK$26,333,000)) 19 28,793 28,152
12 S0 il T 4 Auditor’s remuneration 4,650 3,600
e FRAF B R 2y B S (L HGAE 855 Cost of inventories recognised as an
B B 1A A expense (included in cost of sales and
services) 77,902 54,817
&Y T Depreciation of investment properties 16 11,262 11,262
L EYE LRI Depreciation of property and equipment 17 376,604 381,710
ARG EIT S (LI5S X Depreciation of right-of-use assets
il ?%ﬁﬁzl—‘ 1X155,137,000% 7T (included in cost of sales and services
(=% EF 55,824,000 JG) and operating, administrative and
PI Ko 17T /E\: ﬁll BH 57 other expenses of HK$55,137,000
1,461 000{%75 SR EAE (2020: HK$55,824,000) and
1,456,000% 7T) A1) HK$1,461,000
(2020: HK$1,456,000)) 18 56,598 57,280
PSS/ ESIVF LNt Gross licensing income from investment
e A properties (46,814) (52,004)
WoEARBREY EMFEFFFE Less: Direct operating expenses that
S HE A W B B S generate licensing income from
investment properties 11,262 11,262
BEWEWFF T RS M AFH Net licensing income from investment
properties (35,552) (40,742)
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13. 3Bt 13. INCOME TAX
R TR TRAE
2021 2020
Tt T T
HK$’000 HK$°000
TP BT A5 1l SR Macau complementary tax

— AR — current year (1,056) (388)
(1,056) (388)

AR — B R T AR B Lao PDR Annual flat tax and income tax
—$$F — current year (78,320) (76,908)
feRGRCE R Y — underprovision in prior year - (20,855)
(78,320) (97,763)
I 9iE Bl JH K B2 (T 5530) Deferred tax credit (note 30) 6,506 6,506
T 15 8 3 Income tax charge (72,870) (91,645)

174

R BT A5 40 78 B T % 4 300 70 B Al SRR
FRBL e A P B R 129 (. FA4F 1 12%)
R o H R AR A R B A T R R
R B IE B 1E o DR A A A AR A B S
R B A W R AT BUAE A o

RPFRM BN —EEANFE+—A+
£ H B A R F P B R R
AR A AU H R R > R
FOR-CHEECERRNFETA=T
— H 1k 4 B IR A AT I R - AR
ke S AR YRR A R R A5 2 B E A R
R A5 W B > Byl % S ik % )
FER RS R ((#5el)  miR
5 & A TR U 25 4R 95 28 16,2001 9% 2 1]
SR8 B2 BT AY M R A 15 W e > AR B
TEFPAE A = HE 30,2004
AR s SF——F+—H_+=HMW
#5378, 201195 b /R B —FE—NAFEJLA
JUH B 55329201658 IR 1 2 # 0 - R
WM RR N E+—A
—HEE AR R > R R E
EEA-ZF—-LtHF—-A—-ARE_ZF"
FHEZA=Zt—HIEWHE - —F F4F
= A=+ = HHAY 89,2020 %% Hit 7 i #4
MR E B LR B2 e R RN
A—H#EZE - FNH_1+/,H:
HMWRMBERER-E _—HEXA+H
B ERR KA o

PR A EATRAT 202144

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at the rate of 12% (2020:
12%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the relevant group entities incurred tax losses in Hong
Kong during the year.

Pursuant to the Dispatch of the Financial Services Bureau of
Macau dated 17 November 2006 and a confirmation letter issued
by the Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 14 January 2013,
gaming related revenue generated from the Service Agreement
was not subject to Macau Complementary Tax for any of the years
ended 31 December 2012 to 2016 since it was derived from SIM
gaming revenue (the “Exemption”), for which the gaming revenue
was exempted pursuant to the terms of No. 2 of article 28 of the
Law 16/2001 and the Exemption granted by Dispatch No. 30/2004
of 23 February 2004, Dispatch No. 378/2011 of 23 November 2011
and Dispatch No. 329/2016 of 19 September 2016. Pursuant to the
confirmation letter issued by the Financial Services Bureau of Macau
dated 21 November 2016, the Exemption has been extended for the
period from 1 January 2017 to 31 March 2020. Dispatch No.89/2020
of 23 March 2020 further extended the exemption period from 1
April 2020 to 26 June 2022 with a confirmation letter issued by the
Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 10 June 2021.



13.

Fir 4 Bt (%0)

RFRM MBS R a5 —F ——F
NATHPHHES > BEA B
ToFAENA AR E FAETTA
=+ — H W 3 A1595,00008 M (%
R577,000% 70) > 8t T F T —4E i A}
793,000{8 [ ¥ (41 % £ 770,000 70) I
o E T —H—HE EF R
A Z 475 H 1 3 A1388,00018 [ (41
25 Ji2376,000%5 7T) 2 4F B — WM IR TE
BT 3 ME R AR UG 4R 2 BE AR A L
AR A g Al 1 B A A L Y b i 3 S R
P o T U E AR 2 1 S5 35 M B T R Uk
) 22 1 243 IR I Ash 22 WP I 75 4 TR ©
MREH W A =% — 4+ AU H
WE S BRERAEFREE T — LF
SE—NAEF A= HIREES
AF BE 32 11400,000 18 9 # (40 45 72 388,000
BB E_Z - FE=A =+ —
H 1k =8 H 3 45100,000 18 9 % (R 25 7%
97,0009 J0) Z 4F B — méﬂﬁiuiﬁ?uﬁ
3K o B 4F BE — WOME B A 3R
Eﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁwj%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ
A1 AL TR R A IR E AT - BECF
A=t Hiﬁx,ﬁﬁ%
1,056,000 JT (— % — & 4 : 388,000
#ot) > \wAﬁﬁ&ﬁm T 0 5 %
CRET] 7

R A 7\ W] 42 % B & /2 ] Savan Legend
Resorts Sole Company Limited ([Savan
Legend ) Bl 22 $ifb o B &5 (15 5 B D) f
BEAHMA _FE—-ANFELAT=HM
EHh ) — Bl ek ([ —Bilhak ) » 28
Y [7] % Savan  Legend #% 4F 37 4+ ¥ —
B > 4 #H 7510,000,0003 JC (A & 7 4
76,908,000% 7T (4F £ 34 — Bl 1) o SR A
S B EATAE U S i BRI
JEBRA ARG T - BH M —F — N
A—HE = F—ENA =+ — B X
RHAF BB — B > H AT A A H S = 7
W4 o ARIEH —BilH#R - Savan Legend
O ZH SR H A B TH (6 4% BT 45 8L o

AN > Savan Legend B 2% $ifl BT ot 47

P BUOEAT A - MR AR R B
R RS o A E R AR RN — B
E’J’J 1EH+—7 jLﬁEjLH EIE:—-?_‘

— T A=t —H2ZBiK -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021
INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the approval letter issued by the Financial Services
Bureau of Macau dated 10 June 2021, Hong Hock was obligated to
pay an annual lump sum dividend withholding tax of MOP595,000
(equivalent to HK$577,000) for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31
December 2020, MOP793,000 (equivalent to HK$770,000) for the
year of 2021 and MOP388,000 (equivalent to HK$376,000) for the
period from 1 January 2022 to 26 June 2022 as payment in lieu
of Macau complementary tax otherwise due by the shareholders of
Hong Hock on dividend distributions from gaming profits generated
in relation to the operation of the casinos at The Landmark Macau
and MFW. Pursuant to the approval letter dated 4 December
2018, stated that Hong Hock was obligated to pay an annual lump
sum dividend withholding tax of MOP400,000 (equivalent to
HK$388,000) for each of the years ended 31 December 2017 to 2019
and MOP100,000 (equivalent to HK$97,000) for the three months
ended 31 March 2020. Such annual lump sum tax payments were
required regardless of whether dividends were actually distributed
or whether Hong Hock had distributable profits in the relevant
years. For the year ended 31 December 2021, provision for tax of
HK$1,056,000 (2020: HK$388,000) was charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Pursuant to the Lao PDR Flat Tax Agreement (the “Flat Tax
Agreement”) signed between Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company
Limited (“Savan Legend”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Ministry of Finance of the Lao PDR (the “Laos
Government”) dated 13 May 2016, the Laos Government agreed that
Savan Legend would pay a flat tax of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$76,908,000) per annum (the “annual flat tax”).
The annual flat tax shall be paid for the period from 1 September
2016 to 31 August 2019 with a conditional extension for a period
of two years, given that the Group commits to carrying out a hotel
resort complex project on a site located at Savannakhet. Under the
Flat Tax Agreement, Savan Legend is not subject to other taxes,
including income tax.

During the year, Savan Legend has been communicating with the
Laos Government on the annual flat tax. However, no conclusion
has been reached up to the date of this report. The Directors of the
Company estimated the tax amount for the period from 1 September
2019 to 31 December 2021 based on the Flat Tax Agreement.
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31 December 2021
13. P13 B8 (#) 13. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

AF [N o JH S [ BRI 4R R SR AR

The tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax as
follows:

SR CECEE
2021 2020
T# T#E T
HK$°000 HK$°000
B Bl A G 18 Loss before tax 1,117,574) (1,863,502)
F212% 1Y) B 34K 0 VR P BT 15 Tax credit at Macau Complementary Tax rate
FEBL at 12% (134,109 (223,620)
AN R 1B BH S 4 Bl 5 Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
purpose 165,907 193,653
YNGR RS Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose 3,193) (2,982)
18R R B A i 9 S A A Y Tax effect of tax exemption granted to certain
BB 2 gaming related revenue (108,335) (58,166)
WA FE B2 Al S B T S IR A BT Tax effect of estimated tax losses not
B recognised 61,553 75,475
A A T A N F) 2E A I BT 5 Tax effect of share of results of an associate 3,415 3,076
% 4 T 15 Bl Income tax in Lao PDR 78,320 76,908
A At R V5 R IR E 0 BB S W] Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
PV NEEE S operating in other jurisdictions 8,256 6,058
— UM R T AN B Lump sum dividend withholding tax 1,056 388
A B AR Underprovision for prior years - 28,855
A AR T 45 Bl S Income tax expense for the year 72,870 91,645

N E A A= —H AR
LERAFEMESE E’Jm IH i 18
£51,667,194,000 JG(— & — F 4
1,483,712,000%5 JG) » A LAHE 88 1% B 75
TAF B B s =45 TR 2 0T O R 2 s A o 4
BB T —EF T HZE—HIRERE
380 19 4 B I B 8 49 44 329,456,000 %5 7T
TR TUEAR 156,541,000 90) ©

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had tax losses of
HK$1,667,194,000 (2020: HK$1,483,712,000) from non-gaming
operations available for offset against future profit that will
expire in three years from the year of assessment. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, approximately HK$329,456,000 (2020:
HK$156,541,000) of tax losses have expired.
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Having considered (i) the unpredictability of future profit streams
for the non-gaming operations; and (ii) the fact that tax losses can
only be utilised in three years from the year of assessment, the
Directors of the Company are of the view that it may not be probable
that taxable profits will be available against which unutilised tax
losses can be utilised. As a result, no deferred tax assets have been
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R e e Ea

31 December 2021

it 8. 14. DIVIDEND
AP TR 37 A0 ) A 2 ] 3 B R ROUR A R No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
R IR AT T B S Company during the year.
% i 8 15. LOSS PER SHARE
AN T A N RE AL B B BE AR s 48 Y 4% The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners
FOCERE of the Company is based on the following:
i 18 Loss
CR A —ERFE
2021 2020
T# T#E T
HK$°000 HK$°000
RE A€ N =N TR Loss for the year for the purpose of
i 18 calculation of basic loss per share (1,190,444) (1,955,147)
it 6y ¥ H Number of shares
SRR g e 52
2021 2020
T T
’000 ’000
FF A A 15 T F A9 % 48 it Weighted average number of ordinary shares
JinRE 74 8 for the purpose of calculation of basic loss
per share 6,201,187 6,205,252

P A 2 w7 T A A R 4 A LV A
R B W i WO A R A A
R -

Diluted loss per share amounts are not presented as the Company
did not have any dilutive potential ordinary share for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e S
31 December 2021

B"EWE 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
T o0
HK$°000
AR Cost:
WoEZEIFE—H—H At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020,
CECEFEFF A= —H 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021
SR F-H—HRK
—EZ - -Ft+ZA=+t—H 377,430
HErir g Accumulated depreciation:
AR RIE—H—H At 1 January 2020 59,822
A A 38 A4 Provided for the year 11,262
X ZEFEFA=ZT AR At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
SF - —H—H 71,084
GRINEE ] Provided for the year 11,262
WoE -t _H=1+—H At 31 December 2021 82,346
W T MH Carrying amounts:
AR At H =1 —H At 31 December 2021 295,084
WoFEZEFE+ =+ —H At 31 December 2020 306,346

bl Y S B R ARA R R AL
W BR BS04F I (LA S & /o YE) 4T 85 o

AEHTAEEYEIRBEEHE
ES i (SR EIN= Al S A Ay AT e o A

/AR Sk O N e e S S R B
—El ALEETHEREYEYIKMN T

» NE B 1% T A B T SR ATE B I
ﬁé #Féﬂﬂﬁéﬁﬁ.&zs&no

AR HE—H > REH
a3/ EAC NS UENTHE S E o
) 228 SR (N SR E SR Al 2 55 =
LI’J%AZIS%Z@WE%‘?Z%EE—?

1453 51,578,000,0008 8 (& &
E 1,578,000,000% JC) © 2> o fE ToAR ¥
G T AT AN R R -

ASIRIEEIPNEA - E e L NiVE g <y
W) 2T LA E SR DL B A 1 i 45 TR E
Sl DL EE KA 3 B R A B
HYB) RS 2y SR o
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The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the term of the lease and 50 years.

All the Group’s investment properties are held for rental purpose
under operating leases and are situated on the land in Macau.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the Group’s investment
properties were pledged to banks to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group. Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.

As at 31 December 2021, the fair values (Level 3 of fair value

hierarchy) of the Group’s investment properties,

representing

commercial property units located in Macau, together with the
leasehold land included in the Group’s right-of-use assets, amounted
to HK$1,578,000,000 (2020: HK$1,578,000,000) in total. The fair
values have been arrived at based on an estimation carried out by
management.

The fair values were determined by the comparison method on the
assumption that the Group’s investment properties can be sold in
their existing status and conditions. The comparison is based on the
prices of actual sales and/or offerings of similar properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the
prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties together
with the leasehold land, the highest and best use of the properties
together with the leasehold land is their current use.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Further details of the Group’s major properties are set out in the
section “Particulars of Major Properties” in this annual report.

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases with
licensing fee payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 1 to 5 years. The leases of retail stores contain variable
lease payments that are based on 5% to 40% of sales and minimum
annual lease payments that are fixed over the lease terms.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of Group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain a residual value guarantee or a lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R LA
31 December 2021

17. Wk Rk 17.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
B~ s i
[ §3 Mt SeE RS [/ £ 311 e M BESRRM  ERIH At
Furniture,

fixtures and Leasehold Motor Machinery and Construction
Buildings Aircraft  equipment improvements vehicles Vessels equipment  in progress Total
T T#L Tix T#x T T#L T#L Ti#x T#L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

I e 31 December 2021

BoEZ—F—A—H: At 1 January 2021

WA Cost 5,114,795 97,500 932,046 913,306 38,175 5973 183,305 910,966 8,196,066

Bt o el R Accumulated depreciation and impairment 857,867 97,500 510,813 531,324 34,205 3,085 68,195 113,017 2,216,006
R T (6 Net carrying amount 4,256,928 - 421,233 381,982 3,970 2,888 115,110 797,949 5,980,060
REFEZ-FE-A—H At | January 2021, net of accumulated

MR Bt 0 B depreciation and impairment 4,256,928 - 421,233 381,982 3,970 2,888 115,110 797,949 5,980,060
wE Additions 3 - 21,406 902 - - 1,748 25,441 49,500
s Disposals (644) - (584) - ) - (324) - (1,554)
AF AR AR A8 A Depreciation provided during the year (150,746) = (119,856) (83,485) (1,392) (597) (20,528) = (376,604)
AL A (O 343) Impairment losses (note 43) - - - - - - - (241,000 (241,000)
LE ] Transfers - - 14,815 24,263 - - (6,395) (32,683) -
[FE 3¢, 3 % Exchange realignment (12,183) - (541) (142) (157) - (796) (13,463) (27,282)
REZZ—F+ZA=1—H> At 31 December 2021, net of accumulated

MR R RO depreciation and impairment 4,093,358 - 336,473 323,520 2,419 2,291 88,815 536,244 5,383,120

e Saeaki sy b At 31 December 2021:

WA Cost 5,089,028 = 974,706 939,247 34,927 5973 159,568 872,828 8,076,277
T8 R Accumulated depreciation and impairment 995,670 = 638,233 615,727 32,508 3,682 70,753 336,584 2,693,157
W i Net carrying amount 4,093,358 - 336,473 323,520 2,419 2,291 88,815 536,244 5,383,120

REFZRELAZST R 31 December 2020

REE-RE-A—H: At | January 2020:

A Cost 5,095,502 97,500 886,503 834,363 37,290 5973 180,215 797211 7,934,557

B8 R A Accumulated depreciation and impairment 627915 97,500 387,254 455,219 26,888 2,488 38,504 - 1,635768
i T (i Net carrying amount 4,467,587 - 499,249 379,144 10,402 3,485 141,711 797211 6,298,789
RZZ_FH—-A—H> At 1 January 2020, net of accumulated

AR BT 8 R depreciation and impairment 4,467,587 - 499,249 379,144 10,402 3,485 141,711 797211 6,298,789
wE Additions 6,114 - 31,339 28,441 1,234 - 895 169,775 237,798
i Disposals - - (103) (23) (281) - ) - @11
AR AR AR A Depreciation provided during the year (152,625) - (120,778) (76,223) (6,202) (597) (25,285) - (381,710)
A 48 (I 3543) Impairment losses (note 43) (76,819) - (3,929) - (1,117) - (4,324) (113017) (199,206
[+ Transfers 13,238 - 15,764 50,557 - - 2,163 (81,722) -
EE 5t 5 % Exchange realignment (567) - (309) 86 (66) - (46) 25,702 24,800
REZEZREFZA=T—H At 31 December 2020, net of accumulated

FUES SRy e depreciation and impairment 4,256,928 - 41,233 381,982 3970 2,888 115,110 797949 5,980,060

RZFEZBEFZAZT—H: At 31 December 2020:

WA Cost 5,114,795 97,500 932,046 913,306 38,175 5973 183,305 910,966 8,196,066
ZatirE R Accumulated depreciation 857,867 97,500 510,813 531,324 34,205 3,085 68,195 13,017 2,216,006
T (i Net carrying amount 4,256,928 - 421,233 381,982 3970 2,888 115,110 797,949 5,980,060
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A=A
31 December 2021
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group’s buildings are situated on the land in Macau and Lao
PDR. The Group owns several office buildings and is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the underlying leasehold
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s buildings with a carrying
amount of HK$4,010,045,000 (2020: HK$4,148,707,000) were
pledged to banks to secure the bank borrowings granted to the
Group. Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e S
31 December 2021

18. i FH B 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
ilg =g M ¥ HE
Leasehold
land Buildings Machinery Total
THs T THs T THs T THs T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
MN_E_FEFE—-H—H As at 1 January 2020 1,336,053 1,714 8,885 1,346,652
U E Additions - 33,507 - 33,507
P85 B Depreciation charge (45,322) (7,857) (4,101) (57,280)
I e 1 (B 5E43) Impairment loss (note 43) (9,532) - - 9,532)
T e, o) Exchange realignment 745 (185) - 560
AT E CEFE T H=1T—HMN As at 31 December 2020 and
B 1 January 2021 1,281,944 27,179 4,784 1,313,907
WA Additions = 889 = 889
e Depreciation charge (45,030) (7,467) 4,101) (56,598)
[ifE 56, 37 $& Exchange realignment (1,689) (2,165) = (3,854)
Wo_E = +=A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 1,235,225 18,436 683 1,254,344
SR CECER
2021 2020
T # ot T
HK$°000 HK$°000
BET-HA=ZT—HILEE For the year ended 31 December
L A B A B 2 B 3K Expense relating to short-term leases 4,180 6,520
AT LB A6 RLE Interest paid on lease liabilities 6,317 6,725
R T AAS S Repayments of principal portion of lease
liabilities 2,449 1,675
T 2 B4 0 Total cash outflow for leases 12,946 14,920
LB A k6 A B g 2 T AL Lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for certain
T MR AT DA B o 7 A M of its leasehold land, buildings and machinery. Lease term of
FEL A b 179 L A 45 2% S I 52 8 HH2S A leasehold land in Macau is negotiated for a term of 25 years at a
TR A R ) Bk K A o A fixed rental and is subject for renewal in accordance with applicable
BaEmAEWE - AEXELEEN laws and regulations. Leases for buildings include, office properties,
B > PR M WAE I AH 4 [ e T2 warehouse and staff quarters that are negotiated for an average term
By BAT AR Bl N B R = S R [ R A of two years and rentals are fixed for an average term of two years;
1 Thakhek Club 9 FH #A 24 54F - #2519 and the Thakhek Club with lease term of five years granted by the
T F434F o Lao PDR government. Lease term of machinery is 3 years.
52 1 A% 75 A 04 AL B - b 1 L 8 6 Lease term of leasehold land in Cape Verde is negotiated for a term
L5 WATSAE > 7 76 B AF R T AR A B — of 75 years at an annual rental which is subject to review on an
Ko annual basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021

18. I HE ¥ 7 (A1) 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
FH 1A DU T B 7 3l 6 B 22 A TR A6 R Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
B AT o 18 72 A0 W BT Al A W] 48 wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
FRLIRE - 7 B2 R A 40 2 22 000 R lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
G &) 0] SR AT 2 B the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the

period for which the contract is enforceable.

/\_2; T A= —H AEH As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s right-of-use assets with
W THT A (B 1,152,500,000% o (— & — & an aggregate carrying amount of HKS$1,152,500,000 (2020:
F 1 1,194,803,0005 o) i IREE & T HK$1,194,803,000) were pledged to banks to secure the bank
AT 4047 - DUMERR TA I 2 RAT borrowings granted to the Group. Detail are set out in notes 28 and
KL IER o WEIE B B RE28 %32 32.

19, Hfih fE B & E 19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

MEBREE WEhIA
Y R 14 B 17 % F B At

Gaming
Gaming promoter
operating operating Referral Customer
licence rights relationships relationships Total

T Tl T T T#x
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000

A Cost
RE-EZRE-H—H At 1 January 2020 95,281 274,142 26,053 17372 412,848
RE Addition 12,388 - - - 12,388
e 5, 34 % Exchange realignment (256) - - - (256)
MEFZRFEF_H=1—HR At 31 December 2020 and

R —FE-J—H 1 January 2021 107,413 274,142 26,053 17,372 424,980
e 56, & % Exchange realignment 9,172) - - - 9,172)
R-FZ L=+ —H At 31 December 2021 98,241 274,142 26,053 17372 415,808
SURT R 9 SR (E Accumulated amortisation and

impairment

WoEZRE—-H—H At 1 January 2020 6,349 226,965 24,384 16,260 273,958
AF A H AR Provided for the year 5,948 20,967 742 495 28,152
801 i 4R (W 5E43) Impairment loss (note 43) 33,907 - - - 33907
e 5d, 74 & Exchange realignment 65 - - - 65

MoE-EE+ A=+ HR At 31 December 2020 and

ZE - —H 1 January 2021 46,269 247,932 25,126 16,755 336,082
1 e Provided for the year 6,589 20,967 742 495 28793
E 50, 74 Exchange realignment (4,104) - - - (4,104)
RZEZ—F+ZH=+—H At 31 December 2021 48,754 268,899 25,868 17,250 360,771
e T A Carrying amounts
RoE-—HE+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2021 49,487 5,243 185 122 55037
WoEZRET A= —H At 31 December 2020 61,144 26,210 927 617 88,898

Macau Legend Development Limited 2021 Annual Report 183



oA WM B & W

19.

20.

184

e S
31 December 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following
periods:

Gaming operating
licence

Gaming promoter
operating rights

2% or over the remaining term of
Service Agreement expiring in 2022
Over the remaining term of SIM
concessionaire contract expiring in 2022
Referral relationships ~ Over the remaining term of SIM
concessionaire contract expiring in 2022

Customer relationships Over the remaining term of SIM
concessionaire contract expiring in 2022

In 2014, the Group recognised the other intangible assets
representing gaming promoter operating rights, referral
relationships and customer relationships in an aggregate amount of
HK$317,567,000, through the acquisition of New Legend under the
VIE structure. Other intangible assets representing the premium
the Group paid to renew the Service Agreement in an amount
of HK$12,388,000 and amortised over the remaining term of the
Service Agreement expiring in 2022.

B EANZRE 20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
R “ECEF
2021 2020
T # ot T
HK$°000 HK$°000
B E AT ZIE LT HEZ B A Cost of investment in an associate, unlisted 56,321 56,321
a3 ik Wi Ve A% T 4R Share of post-acquisition losses (58,172) (29,712)

Share of post-acquisition other comprehensive

G Ao AT AR L At 2 T g A income 8,935 3,599
7,084 30,208
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B LA
31 December 2021

20. RBEAFZBRE (H) 20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
ARAEEZEEARNREHRZ Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period
PRI are as follow:

AEMBHZ AEMBHZ
A BRSNS EEBEMLY e A B L il B 5 L ol EEEH
Country of Principal place  Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting rights
Name of entity incorporation of business interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activity
RO TR TRE DRI CE TR
2021 2020 2021 2020
i 2 T aiC 21.5% 21.5% 21.5% 21.5% WA R
B Wy 7 95
Lai leng Macau PRC Ownership and

management of
shopping mall

RGN A B A AR 2 A R 2 W Summarised financial information in respect of Group’s associate
TG R 22 o R 4 B TS R A A W is set out below. The summarised financial information below
N TR R A U B S E R AR represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements
W5 ¥R 3R T R A o prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
W 4 N O % 45 A A BB SR 3R A DARE The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these
g 5 AHR o consolidated financial statements.
RO R R
2021 2020
T8 T T
HK$°000 HK$’000
it ) Current assets 421,151 150,265
IF U B Non-current assets 2,093,926 2,083,337
N =K = Current liabilities (1,082,777) (2,078,100)
I B A Non-current liabilities (1,384,347) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e S
31 December 2021

7 i o ) 2 R (A 20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
SEE CFCEE
2021 2020
T8 T 7T
HK$°000 HK$°000
I % Revenue 11,763 7,261
A ¥ s 18 Loss for the year (132,371) (119,254)
A i At A T IR A Other comprehensive income for the year 24,822 54,343
AF JE 4 T s 4R AR Total comprehensive loss for the year (107,549) (64,911)

B 5 M B 5 S R A
il W B A g 7 W) 2 HE 2R 2 MR T (B3
MR F

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

R S

2021 2020

T# 7t Tt

HK$’000 HK$°000

JBh 7 Net assets of Lai Ieng 47,953 155,502
A B2 [ 7 b 71 2 B A RE EE 1) Proportion of the Group’s ownership

interest in Lai Ieng 21.5% 21.5%

A A5 18 e A B 2 The Group’s share of net assets of Lai leng 10,310 33,434

A IR S U R R Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition (3,226) (3,226)

7,084 30,208

BE_FZ—F+_HA=ZT—HILFE
5 B 7 T B S R T A B SR S
5 %95,336,000%5 0 (=& —F4F Il i
11,685,000%5 7T ) 7% HAth 4 Th7 0AC 4 T~ LA e
AR B ET R HE LG o

Ie W 5 2 W) Bk

1) i 8% > ) B R AT~ SRS R
BRI B o AR A R R A 4 ) A
gﬁAiﬁ&ﬁ;ﬁiﬁ_*ﬂzﬁlﬂ N BRI K -
R %8 B R B EE -

KEWE 2B TF I 2 REHAE R
FEAE TG EEE o R F R
FOEBFF A=t —H > WEKEL
P Al B T FL B o AT B Uk (B BT AR 2 R
% O B 538 e
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21.

The exchange loss of approximately HK$5,336,000 (2020: gain of
HK$11,685,000) arising from translation of financial information of
an associate for the year ended 31 December 2021 is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in translation reserve.

LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE

The loan to an associate is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand. In the opinion of the Directors of the
Company, the Group has no intention to make a request for
repayment within the 12 months from the end of the reporting
period. Accordingly, the loan is classified as a non-current asset.

The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal credit
rating of the counterparty. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the impairment loss was assessed to be minimal. Details of the
impairment assessment are set out in note 38.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021

22. Oft#&# 22. DEPOSITS PAID
SEOE CEOE
2021 2020
T # ot Tk
HK$’000 HK$°000
BRI EIEE 2R [ 4% 4 Refundable deposit and the related land
JAH BH - b g 3R A (B 5% i) processing costs for a potential long-term
investment project (note (i) 740,141 737,927
Ll 52 39 (8 M5 48 (B 5E43) Impairment loss recognised (note 43) (546,926) (546,926)
193,215 191,001
il £3 F 4 TH B 2 % 4 (B 5E(i))  Deposits for an investment project in Cape
Verde (note (ii)) 33,629 34,556
il 58 9 8 M5 48 (B 5E43) Impairment loss recognised (note 43) (7,564) (7,564)
26,065 26,992
e i 4y 3 BB 2 A R Deposits paid for acquisition of property and
equipment 7,629 14,664
226,909 232,657
B 5 Notes:
(1) PR n — A= ((Hr)) i) The amount represents a deposit paid (the “Deposit”) and its related
SCAE R A AL 7 TR 5 2 A ek R T land processing costs to an independent third party (the “Vendor”) for
B8 WA W 5 T L b RRE (5% i ) a potential long-term investment project in connection with a proposed
AR B T A R B TE E O Y acquisition of certain land use rights (the “Land”) in respect of a
(3% 42 ) Ko A6 B L #th o ii A o proposed development project in Cambodia. On 28 December 2018,
75/:\ :'%?*/\gﬂ‘ “HZNH S ') the Vendor and the Group entered into a sale and purchase deed (the

Bl 7< 45 [ 3k B & Howing Enterprises
Co., Ltd. (THowing]l) ) 4 &5 2 %8 17 ik
$W%%%%DQEE§¥%W§¥
P 1) > Howing % ¥ i #5745 5% 14t - %
J7 M 55 BT w4 38 B+ H A
M 5% T b ¥ 5 T Howing » 85 85 By
K # - Hh 2 #8 A% £590,010,0002 JC
(697,800,000%5 JT.) o £ Jy Bl A< 45 1] 5]
R G R RO AN - B
BT E—IUE—H A H A
RGN o MBEAMAE _F N
ETATNHZETRY S HY
LA A [ W) 75 1 G 22 1 3 T Howing
2 M8 [ A S = A T RT AL o M
AZE—FEFENA AR (EHRE
‘U,Aﬁﬂﬁm%TFﬁﬁ&mﬁ
A =& FAENH FNHE
TR A BT
S A [ W) 735 4 2% 1 b T Howing
z%ﬁ@ AL AT B ET
REFR2ME A E T —FXRH TR
Ho  MEAMBHREMMBEZH > F
WAEFT A HE— LW - 4ER > i
B2 TR E - IRPERE - W
BHRBER F —FNH T RH
ST 0] Tp 2 4E 30 i A 4 [ A A
ek ag T M > Fi A A BE - b g B AR
ARATHETEHOER - ®E _F
ErT A=t W AR
i 98 5+ i T E £E42,317,0003 7T (—
FEAE 140,103,000 00) 2 b R
BB A B AR B B E -

“Deed”) in respect of the sale and purchase of the entire issued share
capital (“Sale Shares”) of Howing Enterprises Co., Ltd. (“Howing”),
which in turn, will hold the Land. The Vendor shall transfer the Land
to Howing within 12 months from the date of signing the Deed. The
total consideration for the Sale Shares and the Land is US$90,010,000
(HK$697,800,000). The Vendor and the Group agreed that the Deposit
shall be used to settle the consideration in full. On 28 January 2019,
the Vendor has transferred the Sale Shares to the Group. Pursuant to
the amendment deed dated 28 December 2019, the Vendor and the
Group agreed to extend the transfer period of the Land to Howing
for 6 months from the signing of the amendment deed to 28 June
2020 (“First Amendment”). Subsequent to the expiry of the First
Amendment and pursuant to the second amendment deed dated 26
June 2020 (“Second Amendment”), the Vendor and the Group agreed
to further extend the transfer period of the Land to Howing for 12
months from the signing of the Second Amendment to 26 June 2021.
There was no further extension to the Second Amendment as at the
date of approval of these financial statement. During the year, there
was no significant progress have been made on the acquisition of
the Land. Pursuant to the Deed, the Deposit and its related land
processing costs would be fully refunded from the Vendor in the event
that it fails to transfer the Sale Share and the Land to the Group
by 26 June 2021 or any agreed extension. As of 31 December 2021,
the Group incurred land processing costs and related tax totalling
HK$42,317,000 (2020: HK$40,103,000) for the transfer of the Land.
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31 December 2021

22, OfF %4 (8) 22. DEPOSITS PAID (CONTINUED)
B 5E () Notes: (continued)
(i1) AR —HFt+ZA=Z+—HZ (ii) The amount as at 31 December 2021 included a payment of
& A HE A B AT % T@ PR approximately HK$12,677,000 (2020: HK$16,052,000) for a gaming
E #112,677,0008 T (— & — F 4 concession with a term of 25 years from the first day of operation of
16,052,000#% 7T) » HZ 4 B A< £ the casino operated by the Group under the project in Cape Verde.
AR5 15 0 T F AL R B 2E S i H
L W25 4 -
23, & FufE Rl R B 1 8 SR 2 4l 23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
jog 3 PROFIT OR LOSS
/NI I R L = E I S o Financial assets measured at FVTPL represent perpetual bonds
¥ 7 £5208,338,000%5 70 (- F F A4 amounting to HK$208,338,000 (2020: HK$212,005,000). The
212,005,000 JC) 2 7k il 55 o K 4 6% perpetual bonds were issued at par value with annual coupon
AR WA AT - SR AR B RS - AT rate of 8% which the issuer is obligated to pay semi-annually in
AR TP AR TR 8 TR RT3 UK Vi R IRE A arrears in June and December each year only when the issuer has
FAR B2 OR R AF N H 2 1) 34T distributable profit in the respective periods. The coupon payment
FIE o AR RE REE o B is not cumulative. The perpetual bonds have no fixed maturity date
MEEIMOY - TR F =+ and are redeemable at the issuer’s discretion in whole in December
R & B FER A8+l 317 Am 2023 or in June or December of any year subsequent to December
15 JE [e] 2023.
24. f£8 24. INVENTORIES
SEOE SRR
2021 2020
T # ot T T
HK$°000 HK$°000
Bk Food and beverage 5,767 5,659
AL T b Retail merchandise 4,832 6,730
I Operating supplies 13,690 15,657
24,289 28,046
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e =
31 December 2021
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

SR CFCEE

2021 2020

T8 T

HK$’000 HK$°000

2 5 e WK IE Trade receivables 238,849 187,006

W W e 1R Less: Impairment losses (62,557) (48,407)

176,292 138,599

At i IR Other receivables 88,114 115,372

W W 1R Less: Impairment losses (67,132) (67,202)

20,982 48,170

LR Chips on hand 38,285 30,617

e & e P AT B Deposits and prepayments 29,608 40,070
E 5 B HoAh BB S I -~ 7S K Total trade and other receivables,

FEAT FCE AR A deposits and prepayments 265,167 257,456

B oy ME SRR I T A i — TR
HEN-WRAES  MNREREE
J5 KR AT AL ) OH

R B S I ik TR A 3 R
{18 71l 5 & 1% % 3K JH2,950,000 % 7 (11
i W (E B #546,703,000% J0) (&
42 17,999,000% T (F11 BR 6 (E 5 H#5
42,183,000 7T)) -

JFC Al B SRR T B A < T 4 T i
B BTIRE AN R B AR B AR T A B At
I 9 T A

EWR R G a2 M EWIEE
B AR - ANFE R SRR

TR R AR [ 5 IR WSO A B
45 50 A B A 42 2 I R R FR R
IR 5 T # =5 10 M i AR A T 2 KR
oy B T (228,000 05 JC (& AR
852,000%5 JT) © 3% % ME Y A% A ) 8 3K
TA B A ~ A FEE M EIR EORME R -

Trade receivables mainly included receivables from a gaming
operator, SJM, individual VIP gaming patrons and travel agents.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables included
receivables from individual VIP gaming patrons of HK$2,950,000
(net of impairment allowance of HK$46,703,000) (2020:
HK$17,999,000 (net of impairment allowance of HK$42,183,000)).

Other receivables and deposits mainly included interest receivables,
temporary payments and other utility deposits for the purpose of
daily operations.

The chips on hand receivables from SJM are non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the Group’s
trade receivable balances was an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$228,000 (2020: HK$852,000), which is due from Directors
of the Company in relation to gaming and non-gaming services
provided by the Group. Such amounts due from Directors of the
Company are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand.
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e S
31 December 2021
B 5 B M At E K IE ~ ¥ K AT
# JH (%)

7 A L v e 0 RS A B AR B 4 T
R 30 H (S S - T
TIRATAEF- 3930 F 8945 5 K4z 7 H Al
For-21sH B E R o DUR i # i 40)
R B I SRR TE AT B (L A A
FHI RS 2 MR A

ik (%)

25.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group allows a credit period with an average of 30 days to the
gaming operator relating to provision of gaming related services, an
average of 30 days to certain travel agents and an average of 15 days
to its tenants. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
net of impairment allowance presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period.

R TR TR

2021 2020

Tt T

HK$°000 HK$°000

38 A A Within 3 months 153,857 118,105
B 3ME AETEE AN Over 3 months but within 6 months 9,918 3,485
6 i HABTE 4R A Over 6 months but within 1 year 9,217 5,448
B 4 14F Over 1 year 3,300 11,561
176,292 138,599

W - —##+_"A=+—H> &K
£ 2 Y b e Ui BRI A R 63 IR W
H8 H22,4350009 Jo (= &F = F 4
29,960,000 70) 2 MEI IR K - i S H
W2 a0 - g 0 4 Bk E 12,517,000
JC (& R AF 218,848,000 JT) £ 4l
WIooH L I > MM A BEZEREFER
B VEBAGRRESEETHA R
BEA B MR, RIS F
J5 1 T A AT LS 00 R B R AR A R
H a8 5 A B &5 B0 8 ATl e o R A
R B B 4G 0 R A o AR AR [ I A
W R% S &G AR R A AT e AR A e

PR B TRITIER R T
A A T 1 SR AT A5 B 0 0’ 2 I i
VB W T {8 43 Fl £5148,803,000 3 JC (—
LR A 199,453,000 0T) o A
—4E+ T A=+ —H > 2,123,000% T 1
T 4 4 4 DAFH 65 & 8 MR o 5E15 TR
F1 A Bt 5E28 ~ 297232 -

S T A B i 3K 2 W (E BT AL 2
FEAH HP0 A B R3S e

PR A EATRAT 202144

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances were debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$22,435,000 (2020: HK$29,960,000) which are past due as at
the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$12,517,000
(2020: HK$18,848,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default as the Directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the balances are still considered fully recoverable
due to long-term/on-going relationships, good repayment records,
financial condition and all available forward-looking information of
these customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the
trade receivables, which have been pledged to banks to secure the
bank borrowings granted to the Group, was HK$148,803,000 (2020:
HK$99,453,000). As at 31 December 2021, the rental deposits of
HK$2,123,000 were secured to leased assets. Details are set out in
notes 28, 29 and 32.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 38.
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e =
31 December 2021
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

Pledged bank deposits

At the end of the reporting period, pledged bank deposits represented
deposits pledged to a bank as security against the issuance of letter
of credit by the bank in favour of electricity provider to the Group.
Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.

Cash and bank balances

Cash at banks and on hand comprise cash held by the Group at
variable interest rates with an original maturity of three months or
less.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for ongoing costs and construction work. The average credit period
granted by the Group’s creditors is one month to three months.

= AARGE -
R N
2021 2020
T#5t AR
HK$°000 HK$°000
B 5y EAT K I Trade payables 97,752 49,407
JRE A 72 2R T AR B SRIA Construction and retention payables 21,659 43,100
Al 8 A5 I Other payables 81,384 143,631
A& RE A Deposits received from tenants 21,668 25,409
B R N Deposits received from gaming promoters 6,505 11,389
EFH B T A Accrued staff costs 90,766 97,443
Al e I I Other sundry accruals 35,551 30,994
B 5 Je HoAth I ASH R T A A Total trade and other payables 355,285 401,373

JEAT R A NRIATY R 5 T
FRAT ~ G 5 e JH i BOR MR o

T HC R $ B2 5 H I 2 50 B 5 AT

The amounts due to gaming promoters are non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based

AR B A E on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:
SEoE . SRR
2021 2020
T # T#E T
HK$°000 HK$°000
=MARN Within 3 months 93,449 48,249
g e (TR R (EW AN T DE NN Over 3 months but within 6 months 4,303 1,137
At — A Over 1 year - 21
97,752 49,407
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28, ERAT B LAl A K 28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
RO e S
2021 2020
Tt T 7T
HK$°000 HK$’000
HRATIE K > A (B 5E ) Bank borrowings, secured (note (i) 2,358,689 1,863,568
HC At A 3K (BEF 5 (i) Other borrowing (note (ii)) 50,000 105,000
2,408,689 1,968,568
R H 5B A Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Ui B B A Current liabilities 206,733 193,622
I i By A Non-current liabilities 2,201,956 1,774,946
2,408,689 1,968,568
M 5E Notes:
(i) SRATMH R > H KA (i) Bank borrowings, secured
TR “E R
2021 2020
Tt T T
HK$°000 HK$°000
AR Z1 51T 2 30 B A SR SR AT K Secured bank borrowings due
— —FN — within one year 206,733 88,622
— A H R R AR — more than one year, but
not exceeding two years 140,240 111,768
— B AR > (HOR A AR — more than two years, but
not exceeding five years 741,533 304,818
— R AR — more than five years 1,270,183 1,358,360
2,358,689 1,863,568
AR NS = K (= R DN EE 21 Less: Amounts due within one year
WIH shown under current liabilities (206,733) (88,622)
— 4 1% B RE Amounts due after one year 2,151,956 1,774,946

W oFE_ERFESHMA zt-t%@
e 4R A7 B — 4 R K ﬁ'ﬂf%
2,300,000,000% 7 ([4 — %%ﬁ

R —FE+H T RH ,74:%@@@
TR P ) [ 48 45— ££350,000,0007 7G4
AN E AR (T8 —E SR ])

On 4 September 2020, the Group obtained a term a loan facility of
HK$2.3 billion (the “First Loan”) from the Banks. On 26 October
2021, the Group obtained an additional term loan facility of HK$350
million (the “Second Loan”) from Luso.
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?”t@ﬂﬂ@ﬂ%% R
B FE PUAE A AN BB G R
B WIEER . B EREEEE

:ti+ﬁ:+ﬁﬂﬁ%°

AT AL TTRTE « T =4
+ H="1—H> -85 HEEFE
TR (HFERITFRERFED
WEMKMWbQ?Q FHoA=
T+ A AT R S R B AR 5

2.25%) F1EL > T AT IR T ARE - 2 B IR AT
PR B2.74% (% —FE+F A=+
—H 1 2.91%) » 5 5 A S 4R

’TTH%%:u\)juﬁzjﬁ 13% ’ ﬁﬁzﬁqbu
RE SF- 4 0 % 4 A1) 26 J3.75% -

BRoFZ—AEFF A= —H
A SE AR B — 45 R TE R BRI
2,300,000,000%5 7T > 3l it 55 — 2 B K
TH T 2 5L #7190,000,000 % JG (19 7] Fl &
& o R KIA TR A A
T i — A5 H R DL BCERAT HEME AR Jr T 4R
E’Xa

R — %E% b — I 35k
ek AR MR AA =B &+

H4+—HZ§F@ﬁT%ﬁm
5,500,000,000%% 7T = ¥ 41 45 G B B
Fe Mt a2 T AR EEN T A
JNH A B G 8R AT B RS 1
REZE T " FANA=Z+THZER
Bt HABRAT IR E > AR
AR R AN R AR
HEDRERE —FEHER -

AEBIPRHK _F _—ENA Tt
H A 8847 0 0 51 Dt %*~¢n
A AR E— %é =

%mwm%mk%ﬁgi**ﬁn
Hma @*?**@ﬂﬂmaﬁ%

WoE A=t —H A%
[ 119 % 2= 7 (E £4,315,000,0007 JC >
15 7 7 7€ 595,500,000,000 5 5T 7K >
DR I A 4 9 I 3Rt o
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31 December 2021

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

®

Bank borrowings, secured (continued)

The First Loan is repayable in instalments commencing from 4
September 2021, with the final instalment repayable on 4 September
2027. The Second Loan is repayable in instalments commencing
from 26 October 2024, with the final instalment repayable on 26
October 2027.

The bank borrowings are denominated in HKS. As at 31 December
2021, the First Loan bears interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 2.25% per annum (31 December 2020: HIBOR
plus 2.25% per annum) and the weighted average effective interest
rate was 2.74% (31 December 2020: 2.91%) per annum during the
year. The Second Loan bears interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum
and the weighted average effective interest rate was 3.75% per annum
during the year.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has fully drawn down HK$2.3
billion under the First Loan, and drawn HK$90 million under the
Second Loan. The unutilised facility under the Second Loan is subject
to further application and approval by the bank.

One of the covenant clauses of the The First Loan, whereby the
Group’s net assets as at 30 June and 31 December shall not be less
than HK$5,500 million. As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, on 27 August 2021, the Group obtained a waiver
from compliance with this loan covenant from the Banks for a period
until 30 June 2022 and that the Banks also agreed not to demand
repayment of the First Loan before the end of June 2022 as a result
of the loan covenant breach.

On 27 August 2021, the Group also obtained from the Banks an
extension of repayment of the first instalment of the First Loan
amounting to HK$95 million originally due on 4 September 2021,
to 4 September 2022, resulting in the total principal amounts being
repayable on 4 September 2022 of HK$213 million.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net assets was HK$4,315
million, which was below the required threshold of HK$5,500 million
and therefore the Group had breached the Covenant.
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BiF5E - ()

®

AT A AR ()

G AR > R R T AR S
“FHHE ME S F 4 NH T
CHZTALE % > FIERAT
(i) 509 3 R MK R A R B T
4,000,000,000%5 7C > HL & 55 47 W A1
1k o

O A I S R 2 B> AR R
A A B B W A BRI B R B S TE T
G HE T R B AN A T 1 VR R E AR T
& #24,000,000,000% 7C o #A £ EH —
TERSHE LR AT Bh e LAiE— BT 3
EE R MBI A R -

A G T G SR AT 5 3 T 1 IH B AR A
SR K s

(@ EWE - ETREAEEE
B $5 8 (43 AN b 5E 16 ~ 175218
B s

(b) PO B A S AR (9
TH] 4 5 WO JBG 2 1) 80 i A M Ay 5

(© WM E PO AR A
W BT A1 4 2 SR AT A B

(d) AR AR o E AR Y A A
£ 5

(e  TAMLPTHR G AR B O KT
EZME - AT - kA
JI 8 R % A TR I A RO
TR U B A T A5 3ROH
9 BT A1 HE A1) B A 4

(f) AP O BR[O AR
EZME - RrRT AR
H T B R A T A5 K
TR A 14 T A BRI 5 I

(g) ARl A L AT S
BR A RSE AR~ A 0% R BB AR
A IR BAT I R B G A MR
PATIECE 3@ i o i e S
119 A 45 £ o
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

®

Bank borrowings, secured (continued)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 25 March 2022,
further to the original waiver granted to the Group on 27 August
2021, the lead bank agreed to amend the Covenant on minimum net
assets undertaking to HK$4,000 million until further notice.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, based on
the Group’s latest management accounts and financial forecast, the
management considers that the amount of the Group’s net assets may
have fallen below HK$4,000 million. The Group has been actively
negotiating with the Banks to further amend the Covenant or extend
the current waiver of the Covenant.

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured or guaranteed, inter alia,
by the following:

(a) mortgage over the investment properties, buildings and right-
of-use assets as set out in notes 16, 17 and 18, respectively;

(b) all the shares of two wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely MFW
Investment and Hong Hock;

(c) all the designated bank balances held by MFW Investment and
Hong Hock;

d) corporate guarantee by Hong Hock and the Company;

(e) all rights and interests in leases, tenancy agreements, proceeds
from hotel operation and management, licensing income and
other proceeds of the pledged properties of MFW Group;

) all receivables arising from leases, licensing income, disposal,
hotel operations and other proceeds of the pledged properties
of MFW Group; and

(2) a personal guarantee by Mr Chan Weng Lin, former Co-
Chairman and Executive Director of the company, Mr David
Chow, Co-chairman and non-executive Director of the
Company, and Mr Li Chi Keung, a substantial shareholder of
the Company.
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31 December 2021

SRAT B M At £ 5k (4) 28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

B 5E () Notes: (continued)

(i) M-F—HF+AZ+LtH &% (i)  On 27 October 2021, the Group has obtained a loan facility of
B I BRI 428 e ) 2 5 AR AT R HK$100 million (the “Third Loan”) from Perfect Achiever Group
A3 26 1) B — 4£100,000,000 % Limited (“Perfect Achiever”), which is a controlled corporation of a
TR RN (T3 =R ]) - = major shareholder. The Third Loan bears interest at 5% per annum,
A LT R 5% T B o JH repayable upon the written demand of Perfect Achiever and is
) o T R e HL AR o R T F unsecured. On 21 March 2022, the Group has obtained a letter from
O EAS T —H s AL E Perfect Achiever that it will not demand for repayment of loan before
FRR A AR E ORI A T A 31 March 2023.

S O S
RoF A= —H s A As at 31 December 2021, the Group has drawn down HK$50 million
TE 45 =B 3CE T 2 $2 250,000,000 under the Third Loan.
T o
BER-F_FEL_A=1T—HH As at 31 December 2020, other borrowing represent the amount due
b 185 3 4 B AN — 4% 1R A2 O 7 KT to a gaming operator which was denominated in HK$ and was non-
FEREUWITEME > BARFHE - interest-bearing, unsecured and repayable within one year.
HEAR T ZER — AR N B o
L £ 29. LEASE LIABILITIES
SEOE CEOEA
2021 2020
T# 50 T
HK$’000 HK$°000

JRE A R B A f Lease liabilities payable:

— 4N Within one year 8,291 9,815

— 4R B RWAETR More than one year, but not exceeding

two years 7,327 7,815

WAL B R AR LT More than two years but not exceeding

five years 14,351 15,248
TR B More than five years 81,074 80,890
111,043 113,768

WoRmBAERI 2 —HER Less: Amounts due within one year shown
FI| B 3 IH under current liabilities (8,291) (9,815)

RIEE AR R 2 — F R Amounts due after one year

) 399 3KH 102,752 103,953
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M £ (4)
LB 2 Bl ok 32

WoE o~ A=t —H HE
B fH111,043,0000 o6 (= F = & 4
113,768,000% JC) J5 %t #0 B A #E
B 90,602,000 IO (. F & 4F
106,374,000 7C) F LA RE 52 o BR HAH A
AT PR A IR R R A > TR
T 58 0 S s I AE AT B2 55 o A B
FE (o7 7 TR P B AL+ 3t 22 4D A5
EBR I - R_F_—F+ A=
+—H > A EHIE TR (E2,123,000
W0 (& A 1 2,129,000% 00) 2 fH
S eEWER -

3 S B JH FLIR

PATR 2 A AR 4F T A 47 JEE e 58 1) AR AE
Bt I G S AR B 2

ik (%)

29.

30.

LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease liabilities of HK$111,043,000 (2020: HK$113,768,000) were
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$90,602,000 (2020:
HK$106,374,000) as at 31 December 2021. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessors. The related leased assets,
except the leasehold land in Macau, may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes. As at 31 December 2021, the amounts were
secured by rental deposits with a carrying value of HK$2,123,000
(2020: HK$2,129,000).

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior years.

BEME LB Y& fff J1) BE ¥
2 S fH 2 S fH W R 2 S fE W o

Fair value Fair value Fair value

adjustment  adjustment on  adjustment on

on investment property and right-of-use
properties equipment assets Total
Tt T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
MoE-FHE—-H—H At 1 January 2020 3,172 26,405 122,481 152,058
FIAE L Credited to profit or loss (191) (2,091) (4,224) (6,506)

RoE-REFF A=A At 31 December 2020 and

SE - —HF—H—H 1 January 2021 2,981 24,314 118,257 145,552
AR & Credited to profit or loss (191) (2,091) (4,224) (6,506)
RoF A= —0 At 31 December 2021 2,790 22,223 114,033 139,046

PR A EATRAT 202144
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Ji& A< 31. SHARE CAPITAL
it 4y i H &
Number of shares Amount
T 70
HK$’000
5 J% T (0. 10985 e 1Y & 78 1 Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
HE Authorised:
RZFZFFE—H—H ZF_%FF At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020,
TZA=t—H-ZF Z—4—H—H 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021
k- —HF+ZA=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
ORI AR Issued and fully paid:
N EFE—-A—H At 1 January 2020 6,222,111,120 622,211
Iu] 8 T i 5 P A7 (R ) Shares repurchased and cancelled (note) (20,924,000) (2,092)
RZEZREFZHA=ZF—H s ZF =4 At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and
—~A—Ak_F_—F+_H=+—H 31 December 2021 6,201,187,120 620,119

B it

R ZRAET A S T —HAER AR
T W T A AL 5 AT IR AL B

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company repurchased its
own ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

B HEAT R A as follows:
45 JB 1 FL0.10 7 7T B ¢ 18 4% JIt A5 Dol B AR 8 4 2
Z % H Price per share (BL 6 2 5 L AR)
Aggregate
repurchase
No. of ordinary . consideration
shares of g Bl paid (including
JER' Month of HK$0.10 each Highest Lowest  transaction costs)
Tk T T T T
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$’000
ZEZEFE—HA January 2020 8,903 1.14 1.05 9,828
ZERAFMA April 2020 9,808 0.95 0.87 9,026
SR CERETH May 2020 2,213 0.96 0.92 2,073
20,924 20,927

G [ AR W o

N ARNEZ A R E
B B [ A Y BT ] b TR S

The above ordinary shares were cancelled upon repurchase.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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31 December 2021

1% 40 %

IR AR RS TR
W~ T MRS E XE S B
ARIE DAy £ T A 4R B A5 B AR
PR~ BRI ERAT A7 S DL S 5 T AR S
¥ 76 J AR 4 R R O3 A & 4k
Ay 7 52 B A oy 7R RHLNRT 57 1) LA %2
PEAEIE IR o 3% %5 O R0 & 2 09 AR
LU

32.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged certain
investment properties, buildings, right-of-use assets and trade
receivables to secure the credit facilities granted to the Group,
pledged bank deposits to secure the use of electricity of the Group
and a rental deposit paid to secure the lease arrangements entered
by the Group as lessee. The carrying amounts of the assets pledged
are as follows:

RO R R
2021 2020
Tt Tt
HK$°000 HK$°000
wayk Investment properties 295,084 306,345
[P s Buildings 4,010,045 4,148,707
i A HE & Right-of-use assets 1,152,500 1,194,803
& oy e KA Trade receivables 148,803 99,453
O K 1 ER AT £ 3K Pledged bank deposits 1,671 1,671
St &k s Rental deposits paid 2,123 2,129
5,610,226 5,753,108

Bk A 33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

A S T TP R 2 A T D Y
1 B 73 1l 72 TP B 2 B R 8 SL 9 B
JAF A8 PR ARAR A RE B R B o TR
il 8 2 1) AR AR AR A R B SO g A
I8] 7 {4 3 70 4 Il o

A AR T AR R R RO B R R )
HL ) B ok L7 P A A o R H oL R
AR 2 B et &) (TS B Bt &) o A4
W B A A s R B ZH B R et
AR R B F I A T A L E -
7 phy A0 4 AR 45 R R 4B R ST S R e
(RS RINASEE Lk S F e o
1 6 LA S T P A B A
SEE BB R B R o AR 4 A R A
FO 1] 38 A B R I A U R
8B o AR IR > ML T ik R T
T LA 368 R S 4F JBE ) A 3t Ko

A 45 [ b AR R A EE B B E — 3
AT T AR R 5% 35 B B4 T A

PR A EATRAT 202144

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau and
Lao PDR are members of government-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the Macau and Lao PDR government,
respectively. The Macau and Lao PDR operations are required to
pay a monthly fixed contribution to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
All the employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to join
the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years at the end of the reporting
period.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the above retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.
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31 December 2021
RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (CONTINUED)

The Group also operates a defined contribution retirement scheme
for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control
of independent trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the plan (maximum MOP1,500) per month for each
qualifying employee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total expense
recognised in profit or loss of HK$5,468,000 (2020: HK$6,284,000)
represented contributions paid or payable to above retirement benefit
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessor

All of the properties held for licensing arrangements have committed
leases for the next 5 years. None of the Group’s properties held for
licensing arrangements has been disposed of since the end of the
reporting period.

In addition, the Group owns several office buildings. The Group
is the registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold land. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire these property interests.

Minimum undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

SEoog SEoEE

2021 2020

T# T#E T

HK$°000 HK$°000

—4E N Within one year 45,983 46,606
— B AH AW AE N After one year but within two years 39,980 40,908
W AE A2 AR R = 4F R After two years but within three years 19,226 29,964
AR AR AR A Y AR R After three years but within four years 5,083 18,098
VY 4F 48 AH ik HAE A After four years but within five years 1,671 5,087
AAFE TR After five years 2,367 4,038
114,310 144,701
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R M R i ()
A 55 01 2 RN (B0)

MEHBERAEAEES LS THE
W) 6 I WA ) R R RS BRI o R R AR
B PR BER B P AR o RRRT
KEEHE AT i AR AL A E < BR b
ST 5 R B4 18 S A AR RE A S
RR9E 2 T4 A A R PR ek A
MRS ERENE T
O VO SCIRUR RS HE IO o BOOR 4
KE 7 HE WA I 2 81 1) AR A AR R
VA AR A A A B R T
N

B A R

A R B R s AR S B i I A 3 Rk
5 DL K AE 8 TRE CRT &9 18 0 R 388 4 10
4 %8 15196,606,0009 JT (. F 4
219,612,000 JG) 1Y) & A K5 -

ok 2 fUIE
AR - A LEA T SRR AR

W = F——F+ AR HIRB
BT > i 1R R A A I B SEAHAT Ao
AIE > BOR RE B AT 4 LR B AR B
18 % A AT 32 B TR v A B ek 14 A B
FAE > A SR R GE AL R A A%
S ONHE AT R AR AR (TR K > LLRAE
oy T BE BEL A A A B9 3R AR 1 TR A
BRARHRR - REE-F R
FToREFTH =, HIRF R
AR AR A 1A B R E -

B b 2l B Ak > A S A A AT ] B R
WA B R > AR A QR E R
A 45 AT A7 B B 2 R R AT ] 15 R B
T [ A ] O 09 i B R o
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OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessor (continued)

Operating lease income represents licensing income receivable by the
Group from certain of its leased premises. Licensing arrangements
are negotiated for an average term of five years and licensing fees
are fixed for an average term of two years. In addition to the fixed
licensing income, which is disclosed above, pursuant to the terms
of certain licensing arrangements, the Group has licensing income
based on certain percentage of gross sales of relevant shops. The
contingent licensing income contributed an insignificant amount of
licensing income earned by the Group during both years presented.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had capital
commitments in respect of the acquisition of property and equipment
and construction in progress which are contracted for but not
provided of HK$196,606,000 (2020: HK$219,612,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities at the end of the
reporting period:

Pursuant to the amendment in the Service Agreement on 16
December 2011, in the event of any non-payment by the gaming
promoters or any failure to fulfil their obligations relating to
gaming promotion agreements as entered into with SJM and gaming
promoters, the Group undertakes to reimburse SJM for any loss
caused by such misconduct of the gaming promoters as well as any
possible legal costs associated with litigation. There were no such
claims from SJM during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Save and except for the matters specified above, the Group does not
have any litigations or claims of material importance and, so far
as the Directors of the Company are aware, no litigation or claims
of material importance are pending or threatened by or against any
companies of the Group.
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¥ < B PR 37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
A% 45 [ A5 PO AR D E R BE 4 A The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
SRR SRS o (R I A7 At AL AR B BRI continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
HE SF- 7 DA e B R R i o A R i R shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
BESRmE B LR AR R A o The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.
A A [ AR SRR A FE R RS (B 5 Bt The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
28 FiT B 8 1Y BRAT B A A 30 A B A 2 bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 28, and equity
AT N REAG B RE (F O3 A7 R AS (B 7% attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
A B EE31) B fek 6 A A B o capital (disclosed in note 31) and reserves.
G S TR AN RO B B R AR The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
TR 1 B o ot R A B o A L R of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view
A B2 [ 07 8 IR AR B - BE AT AT R A of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
BB AT O & 65 T ) B AR B DT the payments of dividends, new share issue as well as the issue of
HOREHE G AR N o AR A [ U O ST AT new debt or the redemption of any existing debts. The Group is not
] 1 5 e i 11 A R subject to any externally imposed capital requirement.
A 2 [ 1) AR B R DU K AR A (4 The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of total
SRAT B A A 30 b B 4 (An 2 KR ER AT borrowings (e.g. bank and other borrowings) minus cash (e.g. pledged
TE A BB BOSRAT &5 80 A RARE &R 1 bank deposits and cash and bank balances) over total equity. As
BUWERR PR E - —F+A=+— at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net gearing ratio was 52.7% (31
Ao AR EARBFRE527% (= December 2020: 33.4%).
FORETTAET—H334%) ¢
& TR 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
B B 4 PR E AR B BUSR Categories of financial instruments
CR A —ERFE
2021 2020
T# T#E T
HK$°000 HK$°000
A E Financial assets:
1 & A Amortised cost 515,901 469,376
e 2% S e B 1 45 5 AR FVTPL 208,338 212,005
& AR Financial liabilities:
B A Amortised cost 2,874,999 2,355,272
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&b TR (4)
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S R TR RERE AR B B S o
SCH S B A 4 A T A B A JE B K
Ao e A1 % 55 JEL B 9 SR o A B A
P B 1 R AR T g o DA DR R I T A
20 BR U 15 i
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PERAT AR 3K LA 7B AR A
B A 2 Fo(E A SR B o A SR T
B 4B U R M) 5 e By T B R AR
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38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include a loan to an

associate, trade and other receivables, chips on hand, pledged bank

deposits, cash and bank balances, financial liabilities include in trade

and other payables, bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective

notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and

the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

Market risk

@

Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits and other
borrowings which are non-interest-bearing. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk relates primarily to floating-rate bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and bank balances. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook. The management will review
the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates and
ensure they are within a reasonable range.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk section of this note. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of HIBOR and arising from the Group’s
variable-rate borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings. The
sensitivity analysis is prepared assuming the bank borrowings
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. No sensitivity analysis is provided on bank
deposits as the Directors of the Company consider that the
interest rate fluctuation on bank deposits is minimal.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

)

(i1)

Interest rate risk (continued)

A 50 basis point (2020: 50 basis point) increase or decrease,
which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates, is used. If the interest rate
had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$11,793,000 (2020:
HK$9,318,000).

Currency risk

Certain trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances are
denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the
reporting periods are as follows:

&\
Assets

e Tt TR

2021 2020

T 70 T T

HK$°000 HKS$°000

P (TR P ) Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 117,010 94,424

e Thai Baht 9,994 10,672
AT MR R £

([ 15 A E £ ]) Cape Verdean Escudo (“CVE”) 7,586 10,212
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38. &l LA (#) 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
o B R B A PR AR R BOR (5) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
7 5 1, B (%) Market risk (continued)
(i) & b (A (ii)  Currency risk (continued)
fifi
Liabilities
SEE CFCEE
2021 2020
T#50 Tk T
HK$°000 HK$°000
WL MOP 697,727 788,341
B 7S Thai Baht 104,034 104,335
b A5 M 3% i 2 CVE 305,355 306,215
2R N e v o 2 N NN The Directors of the Company do not expect any significant
3 TE A OR € A7 AT o] 2K AN IR foreign currency exposure as MOP is linked to HKS.
B o
I 7 T Sensitivity analysis
T 2R A A AR R A ik AR A The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 3%
W W7 e 2 50, 0 FHE e I (B 3% 1) increase and decrease in Thai Baht and CVE against HKS.
HURRE - 3% )M EEEHANEN 3% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
T 52 i A s e I PR Y U risk internally to key management personnel and represents
PR - NG AQ 3R B B A U T & management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
MR RE A BB B Y REAG o MU R foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
43T A% AL FE DA SR (B 1Y 1 R outstanding foreign currency dominated monetary items.
&R IER -
SRR g e 52
2021 2020
T# T#IT
HK$°000 HK$°000
7% Bk 50U T TH 3% 3% increase in Thai Baht against HK$
AN R B4R e 1R B Increase in post-tax loss for the year 2,821 2,810
A5 A BT )E 2 s SLFHE3% 3% increase in CVE against HK$
AN R B4R e 1R B Increase in post-tax loss for the year 8,933 8,880

204 PRPUENRAIEARRAT 20214
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31 December 2021
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge obligations
by the counterparties at the end of reporting period is arising from
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in regard of balances with the
gaming operator, gaming promoters, individual VIP gaming patrons
and other customers of non-gaming operation, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer.
Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year.
Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. Moreover, the Group only
transacts with high-credit-rating banks or financial institutions. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under the ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on balances subject to ECL
individually or based on provision matrix.

Gaming operation

In relation to the gaming business, the Group has concentration
of credit risk on trade receivables as 67% (2020: 70%) of the total
trade receivables is due from SJM within the gaming segment,
which is a gaming operator in Macau. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group also has concentration of credit risk on an other receivable
as 7% (2020: 26%) of the total other receivables is due from such a
customer. In addition, the Group has concentration of credit risk on
the Group’s advances to individual VIP gaming patrons. The Group
has no significant concentration of credit risk from the non-gaming
business, with exposure spread over a number of customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Gaming operation (continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies
an internal credit rating for the gaming operator, gaming promoters
and individual VIP gaming patrons. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s trade receivables and other receivables from gaming
operations were assessed for impairment on an individual basis.
Lifetime ECL is recognised for trade receivables with an aggregate
gross carrying amount of HK$171,546,000 (2020: HK$148,155,000),
of which receivables from gaming promoters and individual gaming
patrons amounting to HKS$51,477,000 (2020: HK$61,505,000)
are credit-impaired. In respect of the other receivables, lifetime
ECL is recognised for an aggregate gross carrying amount of
HK$43,796,000 (2020: HK$43,847,000) which are identified as
credit-impaired financial assets and 12-month ECL is recognised
for an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$3,343,000 (2020:
HK$216,000).

Non-gaming operation

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment for its trade receivables in
relation to its non-gaming operation because these debtors consist of
a large number of small customers with common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which is assessed based on provision matrix as at 31
December 2021 for lifetime ECL (excluding an aggregate gross
carrying amount of HK$1,891,000 (2020: HK$1,891,000) which is
the credit-impaired financial assets).
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31 December 2021
38. 4@k T H(#) 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 5 R BG4 B H A R SR (4)
1 B B Je vk £ 7 A (481)

T 1R ()

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Non-gaming operation (continued)

TR HERYE
2021 2020

B 5 W B 7 eI
el FEES WIEHEE  THEEE I AR
Average  Gross trade Average Gross trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000
RIVH (oF 4 #9) Current (not past due) 0.07% 30,851 0.04% 25,855
w1300 1-30 days past due 0.48% 6,237 0.50% 4,646
31 E60H 31-60 days past due 1.39% 1,874 2.37% 1,415
w612 90H 61-90 days past due 0.86% 3,318 12.95% 1,202
i H90A L b more than 90 days past due 47.22% 23,132 46.65% 3,842
65,412 36,960

i A 42 7 L0 3 T 0
HE B 2 T804 A0t Sl A
FE 0 01 T 0 1A B T 37 64
VR AT 0B B o 448 R
I+ DL G 5 A D L B
2B R -

MR E -+ H=1+—HEAKk
R 4 2 Hofh R TE T > IR
AR A 3623,335,0000 06 (& B4
23,335,000 7T ) f7 5k Fl 2 BUAE 60 36k (A
Zﬁ%ﬂfé?ﬁﬁméﬁ;ﬁfﬁ,ﬁﬁfnﬁﬁﬂﬁ

T A %8 4 3£17,640,000 T (. F &
@ © 47,974,000 JT) fE 7R+ f H 18 1)
fFEHR 1 -

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

In respect of the other receivables from non-gaming operation as
at 31 December 2021, lifetime ECL is recognised for an aggregate
gross carrying amount of HK$23,335,000 (2020: HK$23,335,000)
which are identified as credit-impaired financial assets and 12-month
ECL is recognised for an aggregate gross carrying amount of
HK$17,640,000 (2020: HK$47,974,000).
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31 December 2021

38. ik LA (%) 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
o B R B A PR AR R BOR (5) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
1 B B Je vk £ 7 A (481) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
J7 18 15 17 21 HR Reconciliation of loss allowances
TRERRBEE LT S E S K The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has
THE R 2 AW MG R ) - been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

EMBEON G REER 2N RN R E R

(Sif: € £ 5 bk 1) (5 B f5 B BAHD) At
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
Tk o Tk Tk T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
W_FE _FHE—H—H At 1 January 2020 317 49,049 49,366
JIT e RR R (A s 48 Impairment losses recognised 2,771 - 2,771
ST 43 1] Bk A s 18 Impairment losses reversed (79) (3,651) (3,730)
ATERTERFETTZH=1—H At 31 December 2020 and
K _HE_—4F—H—H 1 January 2021 3,009 45,398 48,407
JIT e R (L M 1R Impairment losses recognised 9,630 4,520 14,150
REE T A=+ —H At 31 December 2021 12,639 49,918 62,557
T 3R B A A R W R T A R 2 s 1R The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that have
A 2 HHR - been recognised for other receivables:

AR EHEEGE R

REEHR (B3GR a5k
Lifetime ECL

12-month ECL  (credit-impaired) Total

Tt AP AP

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

AN oF FE—H—H At 1 January 2020 20 43,950 43,970

RS REN TR Impairment losses recognised - 23,335 23,335

JT 8% Im 3 s 1H Impairment losses reversed - (103) (103)
AR FRET A=+ —HMK At 31 December 2020 and

e Y 1 January 2021 20 67,182 67,202

Y ERRIEY X Impairment losses reversed - (70) (70)

WoE T A=+ —H At 31 December 2021 20 67,112 67,132
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Other amounts subject to ECL assessment

For the remaining other receivables and deposits including chips on
hand, no impairment allowance was made since the Directors of
the Company consider the probability of default is minimal after
assessing the counter-parties’ financial background and creditability.

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group
regularly monitors the business performance of the associate. The
Group’s credit risk in the loan to the associate is mitigated through
the value of the assets held by the associate. Before granting the
loan to the associate, the management of the Group has obtained an
understanding of the financial background and business performance
of the associate. In the opinion of the management of the Group, the
counterparty is with good credit worthiness based on its financial
background and the risk of default by the counterparty being not
significant.

For the pledged bank deposits and bank balances, no expected credit
loss was made since the Directors of the Company consider the
probability of default is negligible as such amounts are receivable
from or placed in banks in Macau, Hong Kong and Lao PDR that
have reputation based on the credit ratings provided by recognised
credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the operations as disclosed in note 1
and mitigating the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group
relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. The
management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.
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38. &l LA (#) 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
o B R B A PR AR R BOR (5) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
i B & < BE (4 Liquidity risk (continued)
it B & B # Liquidity table
R FE G A B ) H R AT AR A Al A A The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
B 5 5 H B IS DL o s R IR A maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
LA R R R B > R E AN been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
KAGH B MERE - A4 SR A liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
BRI H TSR e BB - 2R E required to pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative financial
RS AR 4 B4 i o il DI B R liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table
FEhE s R BT URE R includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that
FlZGHHES S - interest flows are at floating rates, the undiscounted amount is

derived from the interest rates at the end of the reporting period.

T2 ek MAAE RUBB &
BHRAR WARGE LEAKN  EEE 2EESE O BBsE i
Weighted
average  On demand 3 to less 1toless 2 toless Total
effective  or less than than than than Over  undiscounted
interest rate 3 months 12 months 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows

% Tigx  TEx T  THx  TEx T
% HK$'000  HKS§'000  HK$°000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000

BB ZAZT R At 31 December 2021
AitETH Non-interest-bearing instruments A3 FINA 355,267 - 50,452 - - 405,719
FETLHA Variable interest rate instruments 2.81 14,577 255,844 198,340 885,783 1,293,006 2,647,550
A Lease liabilities 6.08 3,220 9,047 10798 17487 162,488 203,040
373,064 264,891 259,590 903,270 1,455,494 3,256,309
RZZFZFFFA=+—H At 31 December 2020
AHETHE Non-interest-bearing instruments A5 FIN/A 377,936 - - - - 377,936
FETR Variable interest rate instruments 291 11,853 130,447 162,693 619,880 1,224,149 2,149,022
8 & 1% Lease liabilities 6.16 3,258 10,694 11,819 24,560 167,756 218,087
393,047 141,141 14512 644,440 1,391,905 2,745,045
i V7 )y F) 2R 588 ) A RIS S 1 OR P e The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
D B iy P /N o | S R el = = non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
ERRE TEHN SR e m) - in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates

determined at the end of the reporting period.
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38. 4@l T H () 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
o B R B A PR AR R BOR (5) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
B THZ AR Fair value of financial instruments

i Gk S - A 52 E7E W] IS R
(9 1 DU (8 T i T B A ER o B
HEHURESE — R AR AEH e &
WE B = 7 & A Al (B D AE AT A (H o A
{E % B & B A% SIS Al (B A 22
P il T & 2 Al (8 77 5 Mot i A
YR o AN B RN R AN
FAERGERMEZR TR
VAT e 2% o8 182 B i JLIAT

Oy KRy FiE 0 SO AE R M R A A R 2
SREEARN-F -+ A=1+—
H 2 fo{l £5208,338,0000 70 (=& — &
4E 1 212,005,000% JT) 1Y A 45 1 5 o bR
BAANRERHRE = F - AEHKEA
T T 52 R A A L 1 E K AR R I A AL
i FEMAMEAGEREZ277% (—
T A 2.87% F B E G SRR &
A HLHE R Ry KA E A A E
JEE SR (58 225 1 M B B M SR R S AR
R 1 B 45.26% (T TFAE £
SAF WA B 15 B R +5.26%) o P 4 1T 35 )
R T A 4% 8 25 KR B9 0 6 4 B0k A
FZ N REREE D > 2 IRk -

FBEHN SUEG R R FERR BT

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The valuation committee works closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The chief financial officer of the Company
reports the valuation committee’s findings to the board of Directors
of the Company every quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations
in the fair value.

Perpetual bonds classified as financial assets at FVTPL with
a fair value as at 31 December 2021 of HK$208,338,000
(2020:HK$212,005,000) are categorised as Level 3 of fair value
hierarchy. The Hull-White model with key inputs of credit spread
of 2.77% (2020: 2.87%) was adopted by the Group to determine
the fair value of the perpetual bonds, which has mainly taken into
consideration the credit rating and implicit specific risk, and reset
coupon rate on the respective reset date, with reference to the 5-year
United States Treasury rate + 5.26% (2020: 5-year United States
Treasury rate + 5.26%) on the respective reset date. A significant
increase in the market interest rate and credit spread used would
result in a significant decrease in the fair value of the perpetual
bonds, and vice versa.

The movement in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the
year is as follow:

CR A —ERFE

2021 2020

T# T#E T

HK$’000 HK$°000
DA AREF 2 W BB F I 2 Perpetual bonds classified as financial

<5 A E Y K A R assets at FVTPL:

w—H—H At 1 January 212,005 211,376
e 52 18 45 09 i A AR RE GRE AR A Total gains recognised in profit or loss
A~ s K R 4R - TR AR included in other income, gains and

losses, net 3,667) 629

wtH=H=+—H At 31 December 208,338 212,005

RN > B — AR R Ak 2 R 4 AT el
IS RE R E RS > R I S el A
B (R T RAE ) o

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level
3 (2020: Nil).
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31 December 2021

4 T (%) 38.
B 5 R BG4 B H A R SR (4)
BT HZ AR ()

bRz s R E s el M B w5 IR 2 4l

EEH SHMEERSHMAKZ AR

(B T 5 B3 ) 2 1 A5 7RSI AR B R ER
EWAHREE -

AN ) SRR R N A A RS R

P8 AR B IR 1Y 4 TR E N 4 i BE

B9 T (B BEL AR 45 ) N SR AL AR A o

b I B R A A G A0 IR 39.

3R EE A A SR T A T ) T E AR A
A E) - f 4 Bl & R B
LSO o RIS ) T A R B R
WAEEGEGHGRERTREN &
T B A B 4R U A A R S S )

ik (%)

i B A 14 B B O 0 B A o

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The fair values of financial assets, except for financial assets at
FVTPL, and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The Directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

WA RIE BRI MEAR EAROEHE At
Interest Bank and other Lease  Amounts due to
payable borrowings liabilities shareholders Total
T RPN Tl Tl Tt
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$’000
(fff 5%28) (Fff 5%29)
(note 28) (note 29)
WoEZZHE—HA—H At 1 January 2020 528 1,958,804 85,047 - 2,044,469
Bl B4 U (5D Financing cash flows (note) (63,982) (46,886) (8.,400) (20,927) (140,195)
SLCOVID-194H Bl ) Fl 4 1 & COVID-19 related rent concessions - - (3.833) - (3.833)
g gl Finance costs 65,297 56,560 6,725 - 128,582
AT HE New lease entered - - 33,507 - 33,507
[e] i P £ Repurchase of shares - - - 20,927 20,927
[ 5, 4 8% Exchange realignment - - 722 - 722
BoFEFEEFTH=+—H& At 3] December 2020 and
ZEZF—H—H 1 January 2021 1,843 1,968,568 113,768 - 2,084,179
il B4 0 (R Financing cash flows (note) (51,133) 432,541 (8,767) - 372,641
BLCOVID-194H B /) L 4 4 COVID-19 related rent concessions - - (532) - (532)
g %9l Finance costs 51,504 7,580 6,318 - 65,402
R HE New lease entered - - 889 - 889
[ 54, 34 % Exchange realignment = = (633) = (633)
WoE -+ A=+—H At 31 December 2021 2,214 2,408,689 111,043 - 2,521,946
Mizh: BEnBaalens R Note: The cash flows represent the repayment of bank and other borrowings,

SRAT B HAAE 3K - AT FLE

e 3 £+F 5K

> [l i

CEEMEAR - HEHL

A KA R AR 2 AT B SRk IR

YRR A A FRAR]

202144

interest paid, payment on repurchase of shares, repayments of lease
liabilities, other borrowings raised and repayments of amounts due
to shareholders in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 5 June 2013, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option
Scheme include, among others, the Directors of the Company,
including independent non-executive Directors, full-time or part-time
employees, executive or officers of the Group, advisors, consultants,
suppliers, customers and agents. The Share Option Scheme became
effective on 5 July 2013 upon the Listing.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from balances and transactions with related companies as
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no other significant transactions with related parties for
both years.

Compensation to key management personnel of the Group which
represents Directors of the Company is set out in note 10.
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LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the

=R/ reporting period are as follows:
3NV S CHEITABEEA AR s TR AT A
ik 8 2% W) 4 1 /R /g A& ERUN N TR A ] EX & 371

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/

establishment/operations

Issued and fully
paid capital/
registered capital

Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/registered
capital held by the Company

Principal activities

SR CEOFF
2021 2020
B M B 100% 100% 5% {3t 1 % A B ot 0 % 1 % A
1,000,0003% — R
Hong Hock Macau Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Provision of gaming related
MOP1,000,000 facilities and gaming related
general management services
Macau Legend Development &k T 100% 100% 1o 4 8 /4 ) 47 41 85 10 I
(Hong Kong) Limited 1t
Macau Legend Development Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100%  Provision of management services
(Hong Kong) Limited HK$1 to group companies
LIEFPNCT ks 1 E 100% 100%  #LET E
10,000,000 [
MFW Investment* Macau Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Operating hotel business
MOP10,000,000
AREWA R e i 8 100% 100% FEKY - BB LAY
100,000 ]
Grand Merit Retail Group Limited Macau Quota shares 100% 100%  Retail of clothing, footwear and
MOP100,000 accessories
The Legend Club Limited e Fic B8 ¢ 100% 100%  HEA7 1 8 fi100%
PR 17%130,000
The Legend Club Limited Macau Quota shares 100% 100%  Holding two vessels 100%
MOP130,000
MLD Cabo Verde Entretenimento, S. A. W15 A L8 100% 100% KEEYER
2,500,000 15 £ 3% #
EZ%
MLD Cabo Verde Entretenimento, S.A. Cape Verde Ordinary share 100% 100%  Operating gaming business
CVE2,500,000
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts, S.A. 5 A L 100% 100% 4878 1 15 2 1
2,500,000 15 £ 3% #
EZ%
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts, S.A. Cape Verde Ordinary share 100% 100%  Operating hotel business
CVE2,500,000
Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited % L 100% 100% 4878 W 4835 Tl Ik 5%
336,000,000,000 4% ¥
Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited Lao PDR Ordinary share 100% 100%  Operating casino and hotel
K1P336,000,000,000 business

* TR U A5 B G 80% Hh AR 8 F) E 4
WH > 20%M RN A M EES -

* MFW Investment is 80% directly and 20% indirectly owned by the
Company.
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31 December 2021
LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Further to the disclosures in prospectus of the Company dated 17
June 2013 and the Company’s announcement dated 31 December
2013, the Company diversified its business and has indirectly
participated in the gaming promotion business through New Legend
under the VIE Structure. The Group obtained all required approvals
from regulatory authorities and independent shareholders of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2014 and has had
control over the gaming promotion business of New Legend and
rights to consolidate the financial results of New Legend since 3 July
2014 as if it was the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, which allows
the economic benefit of New Legend’s business flow to the Group.
As a result, the financial results of New Legend, in which 100% of
the issued shares are owned by Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick, were
consolidated by the Group effectively as the Company’s wholly-
owned subsidiary.

The above table list the subsidiaries of the Company, which, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally affects the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries,
in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, would result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year.
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43, FF 4 b B 2 Ul 1 IR 43.
BE_FFFA=F HIREE

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Year ended 31 December 2021

PR E S 18 b4 £ A5t
Cambodia Laos Cape Verde Total
Ti#u Ti#u Ti#u Ti#
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
RNCRENOR R i Impairment losses on:
VEN &L Property and equipment - - 241,000 241,000
REN FiEE & Total impairment losses = = 241,000 241,000
BRECZZHETA=Z4—HILEE Year ended 31 December 2020
W %€ & WA st
Cambodia Laos Cape Verde Total
T#T T#T TH#T T#T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AR IE H 09 361 e 1R Impairment losses on:
Ot 4 Deposits paid 546,926 - 7,564 554,490
VENEL Property and equipment - 129,544 69,662 199,206
FoAth fp & Other intangible assets - 33,907 - 33,907
i FiHE Right-of-use assets - 7,738 1,794 9,532
A B 48 AL Total impairment losses 546,926 171,189 79,020 797,135

W E _F _—F A=t —HIk
AR A SR A RO 2R - il K
3 0 B TH H (8o 808 = 18
SEHH & E AR B KA M 2 sk
5~ ©fT 4 - R R R fE
& FE A 52 T241,000,000 70 (& —
4 1 797,135,000 7)) AY 6 1 5 18 A

During the year ended 31 December 2021, total impairment losses
of HK$241,000,000 (2020: HK$797,135,000) were recognised in
relation to the property and equipment, deposits paid, right-of-use
assets and other intangible assets held by the Group’s investment
projects in Cambodia, Laos and Cape Verde which are classified
as three independent CGUs. The recognition of impairment losses
was made with reference to the latest valuation reports prepared by

216
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independent professional valuers and taking into consideration 1) the
adverse economic impact of COVID-19 in the near future creating
a higher risk in the macro-environment in the investment locations
in Cambodia, Laos and Cape Verde and 2) delays in the investment
plans of these overseas projects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

(CONTINUED)

Investment project in Cambodia

The investment project in Cambodia represents the potential long-
term investment project as disclosed in note 22. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, there was no impairment loss recorded.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, HK$546,926,000 was
recorded for the excess of the carrying value over the estimated
recoverable amount of HK$191,001,000, which was determined to be
the fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU to which the assets
have been allocated for the investment project in Cambodia. The
estimated fair value of the CGU of Cambodia was determined using
level 1 inputs based on recent offers of market comparable land as
available in the locality.

Investment project in Laos

The investment project in Laos represents the casino, hotel and
entertainment complex in Laos. During the year ended 31 December
2021, there was no impairment loss recorded. During the year ended
31 December 2020, an impairment loss of HK$171,189,000 was
recorded for the excess of the carrying value over the estimated
recoverable amount of HK$267,000,000, which was determined to
be the fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU to which the
assets have been allocated for the investment project in Laos. The
estimated fair value of the CGU in Laos was determined using the
income approach technique and level 3 inputs. The pre-tax rate used
to discount the forecast cash flows is 18% (2020: 18%).

Investment project in Cape Verde

The investment project in Cape Verde represents the construction
of a new hotel and casino complex. During the year ended 31
December 2021, an impairment loss of HK$241,000,000 (2020:
HK$79,020,000) was recorded for the excess of the carrying value
over the estimated recoverable amount of HK$35,000,000 (2020:
HK$282,000,000), which was determined to be the fair value less
costs of disposal of the CGU to which the assets have been allocated
for the investment project in Cape Verde. The estimated fair value
of the CGU in Cape Verde was determined using level 3 inputs
based on the current cost of replacing the assets less deduction for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e S
31 December 2021
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44.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(@)

(b)

On 10 June 2022, the Group entered into an amendment to the
Service Agreement with SJM and extended the service period
to 31 December 2022;

with reference to the Group’s announcement dated 30 January
2022, Mr Chan Weng Lin, Co-chairman and Executive
Director at the time (“Mr Chan”), was arrested and detained
by the Macau Judicial Police (the “Incident”). On 31 January
2022, Mr Chan tendered his resignation as an Executive
Director, Co-chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from 31 January 2022.

On 11 February 2022, a special committee (the “Special
Committee”) was established by the Board of Directors to
assess the impact of the Incident that may have on the Group.
The Special Committee appointed a reputable international
accounting firm as an independent consultant on 5 March
2022 to conduct a specific and limited review with a view to
identifying and assessing the impact that the above incident
may have on the Group.

With reference to the Group’s announcement dated on 20 May
2022, the independent consultant did not note any irregularity.
The Directors believe that the Incident relates to the personal
affairs of Mr Chan and is not related to the Group, and
therefore the Incident does not have a material adverse impact
on the daily operations, results and financial position of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED)

©

(d

©

on 25 March 2022, the lead bank has given a waiver on the
breach of minimum net assets undertaking of HK$5,500
million as at 30 June and 31 December and agreed to revise
the said threshold to HK$4,000 million until further notice;

on 1 April 2022, the Group entered into a loan agreement
with a substantial shareholder of the Company, whereby the
facility amount was HK$50 million that bears an interest rate
of 5% per annum. The Group has fully drawn down HK$50
million as at the date of approval of the financial statements.
The loan is repayable in whole on 31 March 2023; and

on 30 May 2022, the Group entered into a loan agreement
with a substantial shareholder of the Company, whereby the
facility amount was HK$100 million that bears an interest
rate of 5% per annum. The Group has drawn down HK$30
million as at the date of approval of the financial statements.
The loan is repayable in whole on 30 June 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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e S
31 December 2021

ik (%)

A ) BA R DL &R 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
20214F 20204F
2021 2020
Tt T o0
HK$°000 HK$’000
JE i B E Non-current assets
i AR § <y Investments in subsidiaries 4,247,029 4,247,029
4,247,029 4,247,029
i B A Current assets
TE AT IH Prepayments 1,395 1,667
JRRE WA B B 4 R R Amounts due from subsidiaries 561,155 2,519,053
SRAT &5 iR Bank balances 956 1,778
563,506 2,522,498
B A fE Current liabilities
JRE 51 B 2 Accrued charges 678 1,531
JRE AST 6 Ja > W) 3Kk I Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,285,537 1,282,107
1,286,215 1,283,638
TE (B, EEFE Net current (liabilities)/assets (722,709) 1,238,860
% E R E Net assets 4,087,826 5,485,889
J A % fits A Capital and reserves
ii&N Share capital 620,119 620,119
it 5 Reserves 3,467,707 4,865,770
HE 25 48 % Total equity 4,087,826 5,485,889
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e =
31 December 2021

46. Ay ) RE 4 A B R 46. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE
COMPANY
fifs fhi 5 WY Movements in reserves
BN
it B i 10 Hinfafs  (R5HE®R) k]
Retained
profits/
Share Other (Accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
T T T T T T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(B 3E)
(note)
RoFZEE-]—H At 1 January 2020 4,182,600 202,312 511,370 4,896,282

AF A e 4R T 4 T i HE AL Loss and total comprehensive loss

for the year - - (11,677) (11,677)
I B B 5 8 % Share repurchased and cancelled (18,835) - - (18,835)
W —4—H—H At 1 January 2021 4,163,765 202,312 499,693 4,865,770
AN R 1R M AT RS 1R AR Loss and total comprehensive loss
for the year = - (1,398,063) (1,398,063)
MEF =4+ =+—H At 31 December 2021 4,163,765 202,312 (898,370) 3,467,707
BE G AR AR 1 A 2 D ol B ) B B A ) Note: The other reserve represents the difference between the nominal
V4 073 T (B B AS 24 W) B AR value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the
R AR 1 A R R AT nominal value of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition
A ) A5 T (L 1) 25 B R B A at the time of group reorganisation in December 2006 less dividends
] s g T £ A R 40 UR R - distributed from pre-acquisition reserves of the subsidiaries.
47. it o B e Ak 47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GAEMBHRECHERGR T The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
N A AN B HAE B PR e for issue by the board of Directors on 28 June 2022.
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Financial Summary

A A [ A8 2% LA Y 3 A DA O I BB B A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
B H N last five years is set out below:

BEFZAZtT—-HILERE
Year ended 31 December

SRToE CECEE CFOUF CFAE SF iR

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Tt Tt Tt T T Tt
HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
ES Results
W 4k Revenue 1,135,586 700,726 2,359,666 1,865,383 1,836,057
B R R A Cost of sales and services (1,506,840) (1,168,703) (1,785,833) (1,346,618) (1,341,174)
(371,254) (467.977) 573,833 518,765 494,883
HAg A~ g X548 > 9% Other income, gains and losses, net 21,005 44,056 95,283 133,011 (65.442)
1 — [T R 2 R A Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - - - 3,430,078 -
bR k- gNCIE S Share of results of an associate (28,460) (25,640) 4,072) - -
SHEE (R EHE)WE (Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment
ik {1 losses on financial assets, net (16,437) (22,273) 892 (108,573) -
A2 W s 4R Impairment loss on goodwill = - - (681,986) -
I RE B (7 B BR AN 2 Impairment losses on non-financial assets
Wk 1A M 4 other than goodwill (241,000) (797,135) - (97,377) -
17 455 40 B I Marketing and promotional expenses (108,923) (87.535) (260,269) (194,000) (183,791)
B AT A B Operating, administrative and other expenses (307,103) (378.416) (451,171) (439,393) (576,138)
il A Finance costs (65,402) (128,582) (93.875) (109,344) (103,751)
B B (i 48) /i (Loss)/profit before tax (1,117,574) (1,863,502) (139,379) 2,451,181 (434,239)
S 15 B 3 Income tax expense (72,870) (91,645) (50,873) (485,075) (73,102)
R /R (Loss)/profit for the year (1,190,444) (1,955,147 (190,252) 1,966,106 (507,341)
R+-HA=+—H
At 31 December
“EROE ZEF R ZF-UE ZF-NFE ZF—-LF
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
T T oC T T T T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
& e K AR Assets and liabilities
A Total assets 7,970,106 8,692,978 11,179,838 10,993,171 11,676,824
5 AR Total liabilities (3,655,166) (3,171,793) (3,715,544) (3,301,229) (5,440,519)
7 Net assets 4,314,940 5,521,185 7,464,294 7,691,942 6,236,305
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Particulars of Major Properties

AERR _F_—F+_A=t—HWEE Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are
Y ERERE S R set out below:
A% 4 [ A
LE X $b B Al i& ikl BERE S
Percentage

of interest
attributable to

Property name Location Use Lease term the Group
M N\ 5R WM AR TS s ¥ 4 100%
N E RN 15 5 45
B — A % A —
(Fff 2 [P o AT 5 D)
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf ~ Phase I and Phase I Extension of a Tourism Hotel/Commercial/ Medium 100%
and Entertainment Complex known as Car Park

“Macau Fisherman’s Wharf” (18 ' ifa A 5H)
at Avenida da Amizade (/27 K 5 ), Macau
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Definitions

A A N - BRSCFR AT PR b > T B e e

HALT#E:

[ % 2 A R ROE A K

“2022 AGM”

[H ¥ 55
“ADR”

[ 2 40 fIf
“Articles of Association’

s

(FHZAEE]

“Audit Committee”

[ Fr 7]
“Board”

[ 15 /4 |
“Cape Verde”

EE el
“CG Code”

/Al

“Company”

AL ZF PN

“Corporate Guarantors”

[ B )=
“DICJ”

[COVID-19]
“COVID-19”

[ 5]

“Directors”

[ AT 3 =

“Executive Directors”

[ 2% SR fE R
1R 45 51 AR
“FVTPL”

[ 45 14
“Group”

224 WENERATEABRAR

iz}

202144

In this report, the following expressions shall, unless the content otherwise
requires, have the following meanings:

NGRS SVAE I AN SR R P S SN
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 16 August 2022

B HF3 55 1

average daily room rate

A R RO IR A RT Y A A

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

RAFEMTAE

the audit committee of the Company

ERE

the Board of Directors

15 A 3L A
the Republic of Cabo Verde

TS B BRS Bk 14 P S 14 4 3 3R 7 A

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

TP Y 5% A A RN R — T B T R ML B A BR A A > B AT A
Bt 2 By AR LTl

Macau Legend Development Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the issued Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

Ao E e W AR
the Company and Hong Hock

TFT R B 25 1 o )
Direcgdo de Inspecgdo e Coordenagdo de Jogos, the Gaming Inspection and Coordination
Bureau in Macau

=& U R A B R

Coronavirus Disease 2019

A F

the Directors of the Company

AN A AT E H

the Executive Directors of the Company
oy S (B R R A A 45 51 IR
Fair value through profit and loss

A A B B g A

the Company and its subsidiaries



[
“HKS"

[ 15 ]
“Hong Hock”

[ s ) o 7 o A AT

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR”

[ ¥ 5 i o e S
“HKFRSs”

[ Wb 2 15 &

“Lai Ieng Investment”

[ 48 )
“Lao PDR”

[ ki)
“Listing”

[T H
“Listing Date”

[k i B A
“Listing Rules’

1

RUSLN

“Macau”

[Pk 4+ )
“Madam Lam”
[ i A 5
“MFW”

[P 3 G B 41
“MFW Group”

REAEPEPNEEE S g

“MFW Investment”

MR M A B I
“MFW Redevelopment”

Definitions (Continued)

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

64 L B AT PR ] o — TR R P R A A S 2 R Sl AR s ] Y R A D
Hong Hock Development Company Limited, a company incorporated in Macau and a
subsidiary of the Company

o I i 4 9 I
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

A 1 B B i e
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

B B B AT BR A R > — R P FE AL 2 A ] Sl 2 AR A D I N
Lai Ieng Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in Macau and an associate
of the Company

E N R F I
The Lao People’s Democratic Republic

By B =% — = AR B T H R R B 32 B AR B
the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 5 July
2013

JB 53 7% Wi 28 it = AR L 1l B H
the date when the Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

B 22 i 5 L i R

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

o 3N B LB R PR AT B
Macau Special Administrative Region, PRC

MBI 2o 42 > A2 AR BRI R~ BT SAT S R R M S AR 2 B R R R B ek
Z Bk

Madam Lam Fong Ngo, the former vice chairman, a former Executive Director of the
Company, the mother of Mr David Chow and the grandmother of Mr Donald Chow

EN LN PNLTIEs - SR ALD PN LT
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment

TP S NS B 5 R L Y e 4

MFW Investment and its subsidiaries

AR ONEE TS g - i i Sl /A Il (1) [ 5 VA DR/ | A B /A N
it Jeg 2% ]

Macau Fisherman’s Wharf International Investment Limited, a company incorporated in
Macau and a subsidiary of the Company

TR i 05 B Y
the redevelopment of MFW
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Definitions (Continued)

[ 15 e < Al |
“Model Code”

[ F
“MOP”

['Ji] S K 55 =

“Mr David Chow”

[ & 7 B 5 A

“Mr Donald Chow”

[ 2% 9% Sk

“Mr Frederick Yip”

I3 4 2 1)

“Ms Melinda Chan”

[ 7 i % |

“New Legend”

¥ ZEE]

“Nomination Committee”

[ |
“PRC”

[ B = 72

“Prospectus”

[ % B &)

“Remuneration Committee”

[ [H] AT b A 2% 55 Wi 4t )

“REVPAR”

226 JAPYENER AIHAT R

T S B BRS Bk 10 9 s R T AT N B S AT R R 5 B B B e ST AL
the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

WP WP B

Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau

JEV SRS AR AR N RIS R R F AT E S SRR L LA Ak b
5T B R B e A A

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David, a co-chairman and a non-executive Director of the Company,
the spouse of Ms Melinda Chan, the son of Madam Lam and the father of Mr Donald
Chow

JEBSEE > ARFINHE AT ESE > BESEEE RERRR L L2 R T R
R

Mr Chow Wan Hok, Donald, a former executive Director of the Company, the son of Mr
David Chow and Ms Melinda Chan, and the grandson of Madam Lam

BESEBESE L o M R — FOR e o — R 0 A AR W ELAT R AR R GR R g 3  E
-1

Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick, the sole shareholder and sole director of New Legend and
the executive vice president and head of casino operations of the Company

BREMR L L ANFRRATESE R EEATEAS » UGRS3 -
R M 5T AR A A B R R R e A 2 B

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, an executive Director and a chief executive of the Company
and a president of MFW Investment, the spouse of Mr David Chow and the mother of Mr
Donald Chow

B R E e ANARAF - — [ 3 A e A R P R M S i A R AR R
TSR 4 T B SRR A AR Y MY A 8 R AR A AR

New Legend VIP Club Limited, a company incorporated in Macau by Mr Frederick Yip,
and consolidated as a subsidiary of the Company under the VIE Structure

ENNEIE e =R

the nomination committee of the Company

g N R I
the People’s Republic of China

ANl BB A - F - =ZFANA+LHNERER
the prospectus of the Company dated 17 June 2013

AAFAFHMER S

the remuneration committee of the Company

g W] AT HE AL B B U A

revenue per available room



[Savan Legend]

“Savan Legend”

[Savan Legend 15 4% 3} |
“Savan Legend Casino”

[Savan Legend ¥ {f 7 |
“Savan Legend Resorts

”

I Al 55 fih v |

“Service Agreement”

[t I ) £ e
“SFO”

I f e 5t 3
“Share Option Scheme”

[ 1% 453
“Share(s)”

[ 15 55 47
“SIM”

(gt 2 e J s T At ot B 22 o |
“Stock Exchange” or “SEHK”

[l 7€ 48 i = 72

“Supplemental Prospectus”

[P R 25

“The Landmark Macau”
[t ]

“US$”

[ A HE 25 T B M5 ok

“VIE Agreements”

Definitions (Continued)

Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited » — [A] it % # 5=l ol 57 09 20 &) > 0 A A
48w A G B A | > %% ¥ Savan Legend I B b

Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited, a company incorporated in the Lao PDR
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which operates Savan Legend Resorts

J% Savan Legend ¥ & #+ 4t Savan Legend 5 % 1) 15 44 35
a casino operated by Savan Legend inside Savan Legend Resorts

Savan Legend 15 5 % 16 4% %5 £ 5% i
Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex

6 AR BRI A B R BN IUA T L H SRR R ROBS R S A S ET > R
A A A D S A - R 5 4 0 S 4 0 1) R AR 4R 8t R IR

the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 and its related amendments entered into
between Hong Hock and SJM, under which the Group provides gaming services to SIM
in Legend Palace Casino, Babylon Casino and Landmark Casino

A 15 W 5715 R SR M Ak )

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

AR o T BR A 10 8 5 HEE -

the share option scheme adopted by the Company

A T A o A R T (ELO. 195 T 1Y 5 4
ordinary share(s) of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company

I 47 5 A B 3 A B 2 ) iy A P 1R I A PR )
SIM Resorts, S.A. (formerly known as Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A.)

G L 5T R AR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

RN T b Bt Sl VA & Rty VAN B DR G (D g
the supplemental prospectus of the Company dated 26 June 2013

A7 AR P A RE K TG 6 SSS 9% Y B B35 K BRI G - B K B IR A
% e LA B A5 B

the hotel, dining, conference and casino complex, and the car parks, located at Macau
Landmark Building, 555 Avenida da Amizada, Macau

Fon o KA ER G kL E R

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

75 0 T S A B I AR S W R K R R T R IR AR A D B A B R

Je 153 Do AR it L AP 1h ek S AQ B G — B RE I U A AR B A —F — 4R ALH
1 38 1K) AT ) R S SRR o A S AT R L A o R D 5 7 TR (] A R R 2

the structure established through the entering into of the exclusive management and
consultancy services agreement, the exclusive undertaking to sell agreement, the transfer
of profit and loan agreement, the share and equity pledge agreement and the power of
attorney (further details of these agreements are set out in the Company’s circular dated
9 June 2014) which enables the Group to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion
business operations in Macau through New Legend
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Definitions (Continued)

[ A HE 45 T FE 2R ) &

“VIE Structure”

[k 7t | &
4‘€7’
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75 0 T AT S i P T e R S Y SR o AN R T TR L O 00 R D R A P ] R A R
R A 2E B

the structure established through the entering into of the VIE Agreements, which enables
the Group to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion business operations in Macau
through New Legend

WioC > K Y E B

Euro, the lawful currency of the European Union
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